# The F-signature and the Frobenius-Alpha Invariant of Projective Varieties

by

Swaraj Pande

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Mathematics) in The University of Michigan 2023

Doctoral Committee:

Professor Karen Smith, Chair Professor Victoria Booth Professor Mircea Mustață Assistant Professor Austyn Simpson Professor Karl Schwede Swaraj Pande swarajsp@umich.edu ORCID iD: 0000-0003-2324-9434

© Swaraj Pande 2023 All Rights Reserved To my friends and family

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Karen Smith, for her constant guidance, support, and encouragement. In addition to all the mathematics I have learned from her, she has also taught me many immensely valuable lessons in writing papers and giving talks. Her patient and close guidance made it possible for me to learn and begin doing research, especially during the difficult years at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. I am also immensely grateful for her foresight; she always knew what would work best for me (even when I did not) and I feel very lucky to have had her constant and generous support.

Next, I would like to thank the many members of the Math Department at the University of Michigan who contributed to my academic progress. To name just a few, I would like to thank Professors David Speyer, Jack Jeffries, Bill Fulton, Andrew Snowden, Mircea Mustață, Mel Hochster, Aaron Pixton, Bhargav Bhatt, Karen Smith, Alex Perry, Daniel Smolkin and Jenny Kenkel for teaching classes and organizing seminars that I got to benefit from. I would also like to thank the commutative algebra community at the University of Michigan, especially Robert Walker, Farrah Yhee, Zhan Jiang, Monica Lewis and Devlin Mallory for creating the welcoming environment that led me to working in this field in the first place. I also thank the constant support of the math graduate and undergraduate offices, and especially Teresa Stokes and Jessica Highfield for helping me with the administrative requirements.

Over the last few years, I have also benefited from the guidance and support of Professors Harold Blum, Yuchen Liu, Karl Schwede and Kevin Tucker. I thank them for their guidance and encouragement. Likewise, I am immensely grateful to have had supportive colleagues in the commutative algebra and algebraic geometry communities; I would like to particularly thank Anna Brosowsky, Brad Dirks, Karthik Ganapathy, James Hotchkiss, Seungsu Lee, Devlin Mallory, Alapan Mukhopadhyay, Eamon Quinlan-Gallego, Sridhar Venkatesh, Nancy Wang, and Yueqiao Wu for the various mathematical conversations we shared. Parts of the work contained in my thesis were carried out during various visits to the University of Utah and the University of Illinois at Chicago. I would like to thank these departments for their hospitality and supportive environments. I would also like to thank my teachers and fellow students from the Indian Statistical Institute (Bangalore) for providing the mathematical foundation that made pursuing a PhD possible. I would like to particularly thank Professors Jishnu Biswas and Suresh Nayak for their constant encouragement during my PhD years.

I thank the community of graduate students at the University of Michigan, in the math department and outside, for the friendly and caring environment that made my PhD journey enjoyable. I particularly thank Bernardo Bianco Prado, Anna Brosowsky, Shelby Cox, Karthik Ganapathy, Andy Gordon, Sameer Kailasa, Sayantan Khan, Paul Mammen, Michael Mueller, Malavika Mukundan, Urshita Pal, Sanal Shivaprasad, Kashvi Srivastava, Danny Stoll, Sridhar Venkatesh and Nancy Wang for their friendship. I can not overstate how much your friendship and support has changed my life. This journey would not have been possible without you. I also thank all my other friends back in India and here in the US for their friendship. Finally, I thank my family for their unwavering support.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER I: Introduction	1
I.1: Motivation	1
I.2: <i>F</i> -regularity and the <i>F</i> -signature	3
I.2.1: Global <i>F</i> -regularity	3
I.2.2: The <i>F</i> -signature:	4
I.3: Variation on the ample cone	5
I.4: The Frobenius-Alpha Invariant	7
I.4.1: Connections to singularities in characteristic zero	8
I.4.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant:	8
CHAPTER II: Frobenius splittings, $F$ -regularity, and the $F$ -signature of	
Projective Varieties	12
II.1: Section Rings and Modules	12
II.2: The <i>F</i> -signature	15
II.2.1: The $F$ -signature of $\mathbb{N}$ -graded rings	16
II.3: <i>F</i> -regularity:	17
CHAPTER III: The F-signature Function on the Ample Cone	<b>22</b>
III.1: Definition of the <i>F</i> -signature Function	22
III.2: Continuity of the <i>F</i> -signature Function	25
III.2.1: Informal sketch of the proof of Theorem III.2.2:	26

III.2.2: Proof of Theorem III.2.2	27
III.3: Extending the <i>F</i> -signature Function to the Nef Cone	44
III.4: Local Upper Bounds for the <i>F</i> -signature Function	47
CHAPTER IV: The Frobenius-Alpha Invariant	51
IV.1: Frobenius Splittings on Cones	51
IV.1.1: Affine and Projective cones	51
IV.1.2: Cones over $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors	52
IV.1.3: <i>F</i> -signature of cones over projective varieties	53
IV.1.4: Duality and the trace map	55
IV.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of Section Rings	58
IV.2.1: Definitions	59
IV.2.2: Finite-degree approximations	62
IV.2.3: Positivity and comparison to the <i>F</i> -signature	64
IV.2.4: Behaviour under certain ring extensions	66
IV.3: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of Globally <i>F</i> -regular Fano Varieties	68
IV.3.1: $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano varieties and the main theorems	68
IV.3.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of toric Fano varieties	75
IV.4: Examples	77
IV.4.1: Quadric hypersurfaces	77
IV.4.2: Comparison to the complex $\alpha$ -invariant	78
CHAPTER V: Semicontinuity Properties of the Frobenius-Alpha Invariant .	80
V.1: Weak Semicontinuity of the $\alpha_F$ -invariant	80
V.2: Semicontinuity for a Family of Q-Fano Varieties	89
BIBLIOGRAPHY	96

### ABSTRACT

This thesis concerns two invariants of projective varieties in positive characteristic, namely, the *F*-signature and a new invariant called the Frobenius-alpha invariant. For a projective variety *X* and an ample divisor *L* on *X*, both invariants measure asymptotic properties of Frobenius splittings of  $|mL|_{m\geq 1}$ , i.e., the linear systems defined by multiples of *L*. In the first part of the thesis, we present joint work with Seungsu Lee, where we prove that for a fixed projective variety *X*, the *F*-signature of ample divisors on *X* extends to a continuous function on the ample cone of *X*. Moreover, we show that this function has a continuous extension to the non-zero part of the Nef cone of *X*. In the second part of this thesis, we define and study the Frobenius-alpha invariant in analogy with Tian's alpha-invariant from complex algebraic geometry. In particular, we show that the Frobenius-alpha invariant of Fano varieties is at most 1/2 and prove upper and lower bounds for the *F*-signature in terms of the Frobenius-Alpha invariant. Finally, we study the behaviour of the Frobenius-alpha invariant in geometric families, and prove that this invariant is lower semicontinuous in a family of globally *F*-regular Q-Fano varieties.

## CHAPTER I Introduction

### I.1: Motivation

The topic of this thesis is the study of *singularities* of algebraic varieties. A singularity is a point on an algebraic variety V near which V cannot be well-approximated by a vector space (the tangent space). A point that is not a singularity is called a smooth point. This difference between smooth points and singular points leads to deep differences in the behaviour of smooth varieties (ones with no singularities) and singular varieties (ones with one or more singular points).

Our focus will be on singularities in positive characteristics. It turns out that many traditional techniques used in the study of complex singularities are not suitable while working in the positive characteristic setting. Indeed, key results like resolution of singularities and vanishing theorems are either unknown or are known to fail. However, many different techniques, mostly involving the Frobenius map, have been developed that act as a substitute. We now briefly introduce some of these ideas.

**The Frobenius Map:** Let k be a field of prime characteristic p. Consider an affine algebraic variety V over k, i.e., V = Spec(R) where R is a finitely generated algebra over k. The *Frobenius map* of R is the natural self-map

$$F: R \to R$$

defined by sending

$$r \mapsto r^p$$
.

This is a ring homomorphism thanks to the identity  $(r + s)^p = r^p + s^p$  which holds true in every ring of characteristic p, but of course, has no analogue over the real or complex numbers. Note that since F is a ring homomorphism, we get a new R-module structure on the target copy of R defined by restriction of scalars along F. More explicitly, denote the target copy of R by  $F_*R$  and for any  $r \in R$ , let  $F_*r$  be the corresponding element in  $F_*R$ . Then  $F_*R$  is a new R-module where an element  $r \in R$  acts on an element  $F_*s$  by the rule

$$rF_*s = F_*(r^p s).$$

Similarly, we can define the module  $F_*^e R$  for any  $e \ge 1$  by restricting scalars along the  $e^{\text{th}}$ iterate of F. Then, the key idea in this thesis is that the sequence of R-modules  $(F_*^e R)_{e\ge 1}$ encodes the singularity properties of R in various ways. For example, the following theorem of Kunz provides a characterization of regular (the algebraic version of smooth) points:

**Theorem I.1.1.** [Kun69] Assume that R is reduced. Then, R is regular if and only if  $F_*^e R$  is a flat R-module for some (equivalently, any)  $e \ge 1$ .

Therefore, the singularities of R are quantified by the non-flatness of  $F_*^e R$ . This idea is made precise via the notion of *strong* F-regularity, a central topic of this thesis:

**Definition I.1.2.** Let R be a Noetherian local domain of positive characteristic p > 0. Then, R is said to be strongly F-regular if for every non-zero element c of R, there exists an  $e \gg 0$  such that the map

 $R \to F^e_{\star}R$ 

mapping

$$1 \mapsto F^e_*c$$

splits as a map of R-modules.

Strongly F-regular singularities were introduced in the work of Hochster and Huneke in the celebrated tight closure theory [HH89]. Such singularities satisfy many desirable properties; for instance, they are normal, Cohen-Macaulay and have pseudo-rational singularities in the sense of Lipman and Tessier (see [Smi97a]). Though Kunz's theorem implies that regular rings are strongly F-regular, there are many strongly F-regular rings that fail to be regular. Thus, strongly F-regular singularities form a large class of well-behaved, yet non-regular class of singularities and have occupied a very important role in positive characteristic singularity theory.

Singularities are also closely linked to the global geometry of projective varieties. For instance, one way to produce singularities is to take a closed subvariety V of  $\mathbb{P}^n$  and consider the *cone over* V. The singularity of the vertex of the cone encodes the global geometry of V. For example, the cone over V is smooth if and only if V is a linear subspace of  $\mathbb{P}^n$ . Thus, studying the singularities of cones over projective varieties leads to insights into their geometry. **Overview:** In this thesis, we will be interested in a singularity invariant called the F-signature in the context of cones over projective varieties. The F-signature, that we will introduce in Section I.2, captures asymptotic properties of the Frobenius map in strongly F-regular local rings. In Section I.3, we will describe joint work with Seungsu Lee, that establishes results about how the F-signature of the cone over a projective variety V varies as we change the embedding of V into various projective spaces. The proofs of these results are contained in Chapter III of the thesis. In Section I.4, we introduce a new invariant of the singularity of a cone called the *Frobenius-alpha* invariant. This invariant turns out to be closely related to the F-signature and helps us estimate the F-signature of a projective variety. The detailed results and proofs regarding the Frobenius-alpha invariant are contained in Chapter IV and Chapter V of the thesis.

### I.2: F-regularity and the F-signature

In this section, we introduce the two central topics of this thesis: global F-regularity, and the F-signature. Throughout, we fix a perfect field k of characteristic p > 0.

### I.2.1: Global *F*-regularity

Globally F-regular varieties were introduced in [Smi00] as the positive characteristic analogs of log-Fano type varieties and the global versions of strongly F-regular singularities.

**Definition I.2.1.** [SS10, Definition 3.2] Let X be a normal variety over k and  $\Delta \ge 0$  be an effective Q-divisor. The pair  $(X, \Delta)$  is said to be *globally F*-regular (resp. locally *F*-regular) if for any effective Weil divisor D on X, there exists an integer  $e \gg 0$ , such that, the natural map

$$\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil + D)$$

splits (resp. splits at every stalk) as a map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules. A normal variety X is said to globally (resp. locally) F-regular if the pair (X, 0) is globally (resp. locally) F-regular.

It was proved in [SS10] that globally *F*-regular varieties are of log Fano type, i.e., if *X* is globally *F*-regular, then there is a Q-divisor  $\Delta \geq 0$  such that  $(X, \Delta)$  has klt singularities and  $-K_X - \Delta$  is ample. However, not all log Fano type varieties (or even Fano varieties) are globally *F*-regular; indeed, globally *F*-regular varieties enjoy additional properties such as satisfying a *Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing* theorem [SS10] that is known to fail in general even for smooth Fano varieties in positive characteristics [Tot19]:

**Theorem I.2.2** ([SS10], Theorem 6.8). Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a projective, globally *F*-regular pair over k. Suppose L is a Cartier divisor such that  $L - K_X - \Delta$  is big and nef. Then,

 $H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-L)) = 0$  for all  $i < \dim(X)$ .

Thus, globally F-regular varieties are log Fano varieties with additional favorable properties. They have found various applications, for instance, to the three dimensional minimal model program in positive characteristic [HX15] and in the study of Fano type complex varieties [GOST15]. For other investigations regarding globally F-regular varieties, see [GLP<sup>+</sup>15], [GT19] and [Kaw21].

#### I.2.2: The *F*-signature:

Building on the idea from Theorem I.1.1 that we may measure the non-flatness of the modules  $F_*^e R$  to quantify singularities of R, we now turn to an asymptotic invariant of these modules. Let R be a local domain essentially of finite type over k.

**Definition I.2.3** (*F*-signature). For any  $e \ge 1$ , let  $a_e(R)$  denote the free rank of  $F_*^e R$ . In other words,  $a_e(R)$  is the maximum integer *a* such that we have an *R*-module decomposition

$$F^e_* R \cong R^{\oplus a} \oplus N$$

for some R-module N. Then the F-signature of R is defined to be the limit:

$$\mathfrak{s}(R) := \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{a_e(R)}{p^{ed}}$$

where d is an integer such that  $F_*R$  has generic rank  $p^d$  over R (in other words,  $p^d$  is the degree of the field extension  $\operatorname{Frac}(R) \subset \operatorname{Frac}(R)^{1/p}$ ).

This invariant was first considered implicitly by Smith and Van den Bergh in [SVdB97], and defined formally by Huneke and Leuschke [HL02]. The fact that the limit in the definition exists was proved only later by Tucker [Tuc12]. Note that since R is local, a finitely generated module over R is flat if and only if it is free. Thus, the F-signature is an asymptotic measurement of the flatness of  $F_*^e R$ . Indeed, Huneke and Leuschke proved the following asymptotic version of Kunz's theorem (Theorem I.1.1): R is regular if and only  $\mathfrak{I}(R) = 1$ .

The *F*-signature is most interesting in the case of strongly *F*-regular singularities (Definition I.1.2); the positivity of the *F*-signature of a local *F*-finite domain *R* corresponds exactly to *R* being strongly *F*-regular [AL03]. Furthermore, the *F*-signature has been fruitfully applied to gain insights into the structure of strongly *F*-regular local rings as seen in the following theorem due to Carvajal-Rojas, Schwede and Tucker that bounds the size of the local étale fundamental group:

**Theorem I.2.4.** [CRST18] Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m}, k)$  be an *F*-finite strongly *F*-regular local ring of characteristic p > 0 and dimension  $\geq 2$ . Assume that *R* is strictly henselian. Then, we have

$$|\pi_1^{\acute{e}t}(Spec^{\circ}(R))| \le \frac{1}{\mathfrak{s}(R)}$$

where  $Spec^{\circ}(R)$  denotes  $Spec(R) \setminus \mathfrak{m}$ , and  $\mathfrak{s}(R)$  denotes the F-signature of R. In particular, the size of the above fundamental group is finite.

Similar theorems for complex klt singularities have been established by completely different techniques; see [Xu14], [GKP16], [Bra21] and [XZ21]. Other applications of the *F*signature include bounding the torsion subgroup of the divisor class group; see [Mar22], [CR17] and [Pol22].

### I.3: Variation on the ample cone

In this section, we summarize the results contained in Chapter III of the thesis. These results are part of joint work with Seungsu Lee. Chapter III is dedicated to studying how the Fsignature of a projective variety X varies with the embedding of X into various projective spaces. This is made precise in terms of section rings and the F-signature function on the ample cone. Throughout this section, we fix an algebraically closed field k of characteristic p > 0.

Let X be a projective variety over k and  $\mathcal{L}$  be an ample line bundle over X. Then, we can construct a graded ring, the section ring  $S(X, \mathcal{L})$  of X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ , defined by

$$S(X,\mathcal{L}) := \bigoplus_{j \ge 0} H^0(X,\mathcal{L}^j)$$

with multiplication given by the tensor product of global sections. We call  $Y = \text{Spec}(S(X, \mathcal{L}))$  the cone over X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ .

It was shown in [Smi00] that a projective variety X is globally F-regular (Definition I.2.1) if and only if the section ring  $S(X, \mathcal{L})$  is strongly F-regular for some (equivalently, every) ample line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$ . Since the F-signature is positive for all strongly F-regular rings, it is natural to ask:

Question I.3.1. Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety. How does the F-signature of the section ring  $S(X, \mathcal{L})$  vary with  $\mathcal{L}$ ?

In Chapter III, we consider the following function:

**Definition I.3.2.** The *F*-signature function  $\mathcal{I}_X$  is the assignment:

$$\mathcal{L} \mapsto \mathfrak{s}(S(X,\mathcal{L})) = F$$
-signature of  $S(X,\mathcal{L})$ 

where  $\mathcal{L}$  is any ample line bundle over X.

Note that this function is non-zero for every ample line bundle  $\mathcal{L}$  since  $S(X, \mathcal{L})$  is strongly *F*-regular. Building on the work in [VK12] and [CR17], our first theorem allows us to extend the *F*-signature function to the *rational ample cone* of X as follows:

**Theorem I.3.3.** (Theorem III.1.3) Fix a positive dimensional globally F-regular projective variety X over k. Then, the F-signature function  $s_X$  (Definition I.3.2) naturally extends to a unique, well-defined, real-valued function

$$\mathfrak{s}_X : Amp_{\mathbb{O}}(X) \to \mathbb{R}$$

on the set of rational classes in the ample cone of X satisfying the identity:

$$\mathfrak{s}_X(\lambda L) = \frac{1}{\lambda}\mathfrak{s}_X(L)$$
 for all ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors  $L$  and all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_{>0}$ 

Recall that the rational ample cone of a projective variety is the set of numerical classes of ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors on X. Now that we have a well-defined function on the rational ample cone, the next theorem describes the continuity properties of the F-signature function.

**Theorem I.3.4.** Fix any globally F-regular projective variety X over k of positive dimension. Then, the F-signature function of X satisfies the following properties:

- 1. (Theorem III.2.1) The function  $s_X$  is continuous on the rational ample cone of X, with respect to the usual topology on the Néron-Severi space.
- 2. (Corollary III.2.3) The function  $s_X$  extends continuously to all real classes in the ample cone of X.

Theorem I.3.3 and Theorem I.3.4 parallel the theory of the *F*-signature function on the ample cone of a globally *F*-regular variety with the volume function on the big cone. This perspective was first considered in [VK12], where Theorem I.3.4 was proved in the special case when X is a toric variety. Recall that on a projective variety X, to any Cartier divisor D on X, we can associate a non-negative real number called the *volume of* D, measuring the growth of the global sections of multiples of D. A foundational result in the theory of

volumes is that the volume of a big divisor D depends only on its numerical equivalence class. Moreover, it extends suitably to all  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors and varies continuously as D varies on the Néron-Severi space of X. See [Laz04, Section 2.2] and [LM09] for the details. The study of volumes of divisors has been important in birational geometry; for example, see [Laz04, Section 2.2], [LM09], [Bou02], [ELM+05], [HM06], [Tak06b], and [KÖ6].

The ample cone is an open cone in the Néron-Severi space of a projective variety X, and its closure is represented by the set of nef divisors on X. Hence, it is natural to ask if the F-signature function  $s_X$  from Theorem I.3.4 has a natural extension to the nef cone. We show that this is indeed true:

**Theorem I.3.5** (Theorem III.3.1). Suppose X is a globally F-regular projective variety. Then the F-signature function  $s_X$  extends continuously to all non-zero classes of the Nef cone of X. Moreover, if L is a nef Cartier divisor which is not big, then  $s_X(L) = 0$ .

The proofs of Theorem I.3.3 and Theorem I.3.4 consist of several steps: First, we need to verify that the *F*-signature function is well-defined on the rational ample cone of *X*. The main result here is that on globally *F*-regular projective varieties, numerical equivalence, and Q-linear equivalence coincide (Theorem III.1.4). This is reminiscent of the same fact for log-Fano type varieties over the complex numbers. Next, we analyze the Frobenius splittings of linear systems |mL| for multiples of an ample divisor *L*. We also develop some techniques to compare the Frobenius splittings of the linear systems |mL| and |m(L + H)|, where *H* is some effective divisor. Along the way, we prove some uniform (with respect to the ample divisors) upper bounds on the *F*-signature function for a fixed globally *F*-regular variety *X*. For more details, we refer to Section III.2. We further utilize these ideas to extend the *F*-signature function to all non-zero nef divisors in Section III.3. Lastly, in Section III.4 we also prove a local effective upper bound for the *F*-signature function.

### I.4: The Frobenius-Alpha Invariant

The second part of this thesis is dedicated to the study of another invariant of cones over projective varieties, called the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant (the "Frobenius-alpha" invariant), and its connections to the F-signature (Definition I.2.3). The  $\alpha_F$ -invariant is motivated by a connection between singularities in characteristic zero with the F-singularities in positive characteristic that we first recall .

#### I.4.1: Connections to singularities in characteristic zero

Strongly *F*-regular singularities (introduced in Definition I.1.2) are the positive characteristic analogs of *Kawamata log terminal (klt)* singularities, an important class of singularities that arise in the minimal model program. Klt singularities are defined using a resolution of singularities over the complex numbers (which is known to exist by the celebrated theorem of Hironaka [Hir64]), and thanks to the Kodaira and Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing theorems, they are normal, Cohen-Macaulay, and rational singularities. Though defined by completely different methods, klt singularities are related to strongly *F*-regular singularities in a precise way by the following remarkable theorem established in the works of Smith, Hara, Mehta and Srinivas:

**Theorem I.4.1** ([Smi97a], [Har98], [MS97]). Let R be a finitely generated  $\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra and assume that R is a Gorenstein (i.e., the canonical module  $\omega_R$  is free) domain. Then, the ring  $R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}$  has klt singularities if and only if  $R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  has strongly F-regular singularities for all  $p \gg 0$ .

Note that for a Gorenstein domain R, having klt (and similarly, strongly F-regular when R has characteristic p > 0) singularities is equivalent to having rational (and respectively, F-rational) singularities. The correspondence between rational and F-rational singularities was established in [Smi97a], [Har98], [MS97]. For the correspondence between more general klt and F-regular singularities, see [HW02] and [Tak06a]. Theorem I.4.1 has a global version that relates *Fano varieties* (varieties with ample anti-canonical bundle) and globally F-regular varieties.

**Theorem I.4.2.** [Smi00] Let X be a Fano variety defined over  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Then,  $X_{\mathbb{C}} = X \times_{\mathbb{Z}} Spec(\mathbb{C})$  is a klt Fano variety (i.e.,  $X_{\mathbb{C}}$  has klt singularities) if and only if  $X_p = X \times_{\mathbb{Z}} Spec(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})$  is globally F-regular for all  $p \gg 0$ .

#### I.4.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant:

The  $\alpha$ -invariant of a complex Fano variety X was introduced by Tian in [Tia87] to provide a sufficient criterion for K-stability of X, a condition that guarantees the existence of a Kähler-Einstein metric on X. Though initially defined analytically, Demailly later reinterpreted the  $\alpha$ -invariant in terms of klt singularities [CtS08] as follows:

**Definition I.4.3.** Let X be a smooth Fano variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Then,

$$\alpha(X) := \sup \{ t \ge 0 \mid (X, t\Delta) \text{ is klt } \forall \text{ effective } \mathbb{Q} \text{-divisor } \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_X \}$$

Understanding the  $\alpha$ -invariant, and K-stability more generally, has led to many fundamental advances in our understanding of complex Fano varieties; see [OS12], [Bir21], [Xu21]. Our focus will be to study a positive characteristic analog of the  $\alpha$ -invariant. Fix k to be a perfect field of positive characteristic p > 0. Following Theorem I.4.1 and Theorem I.4.2, we may replace the klt singularities with global *F*-regularity (Definition I.2.1) in Definition I.4.3 to obtain a positive characteristic analogue of Tian's  $\alpha$ -invariant, which we call the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant as follows:

**Definition I.4.4.** Let X be a smooth, globally F-regular Fano variety over a perfect field of positive characteristic. Then, we define the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of X as

 $\alpha_F(X) := \sup\{t \ge 0 \mid (X, t\Delta) \text{ is globally } F \text{-regular } \forall \text{ effective } \mathbb{Q} \text{-divisors } \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_X \}.$ 

Since we intend for the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant to capture global properties of divisors on X, we use global F-regularity instead of just local strong F-regularity (Definition II.3.2). This is justified by noting that simply replacing globally F-regular by klt in characterisitic zero, we obtain the minimum value between the usual  $\alpha$ -invariant of X and 1 (see Remark IV.3.11). Thus, at least for Fano varieties with  $\alpha(X) \leq 1$ , the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant is a "Frobenius-analog" of Tian's  $\alpha$ -invariant.

Our first theorem proves some surprising properties of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant in contrast to the complex version, and establishes connections to the *F*-signature of  $(X, -K_X)$  (see Definition I.2.3 and Definition I.3.2):

**Theorem I.4.5.** Let X be a globally F-regular Fano variety over a perfect field of positive characteristic. Then,

- 1. The  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of X (denoted by  $\alpha_F(X)$ ) is at most 1/2 (Theorem IV.3.5).
- 2. Assume X is geometrically connected over the (perfect) base field. We have  $\alpha_F(X) = 1/2$  if and only if the F-signature of X (with respect to  $-K_X$ ) equals  $\frac{\operatorname{vol}(-K_X)}{2^d(d+1)!}$ , where d is the dimension of X (Corollary IV.3.8).
- 3. More generally (and still assuming that X is geometrically connected), the F-signature of X is at most  $\frac{\operatorname{vol}(-K_X)}{2^d(d+1)!}$  (Corollary IV.3.8).
- 4. In case X is a toric Fano variety corresponding to a fan  $\mathfrak{F}$ , then  $\alpha_F(X)$  is the same as the complex  $\alpha$ -invariant of  $X_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathfrak{F})$ , the complex toric Fano variety corresponding to  $\mathfrak{F}$  (Theorem IV.3.12).

Part (1) of Theorem I.4.5 is surprising since many complex Fano varieties have  $\alpha$ -invariants greater than 1/2 (and less than 1). Combined with Part (4), this recovers, and provides a positive characteristic proof of the well-known fact that the  $\alpha$ -invariant of toric Fano varieties is at most 1/2 (see [LZ22, Corollary 3.6]).

Note that the *F*-signature has attracted attention as a candidate for the positive characteristic analog of the *normalized volume* of a Kawamata log-terminal (klt) singularity, extending the established analogy between strongly *F*-regular and klt singularities; see [LLX20], [Tay19], [MPST19]. The normalized volume has been successfully used in the stability theory of complex klt singularities and the moduli theory of Fano varieties; see the recent survey [Zhu23] for the details.

As in the case of the complex  $\alpha$ -invariant, we may consider the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant much more generally for arbitrary polarizations of projective varieties. In Section IV.2, we develop the theory of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant in this more general setting. From this perspective, the  $\alpha_F$ invariant is an invariant of a section ring of a projective varieties that shares many properties and relations with the *F*-signature. In this direction, we prove:

**Theorem I.4.6.** Let S denote a section ring of a globally F-regular projective variety (with respect to some ample line bundle) over a perfect field k. Then,

1. (Theorem IV.2.8): The number  $\alpha_F(S)$  can be calculated as the following limit:

$$\alpha_F(S) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{m_e(S)}{p^e}$$

where  $m_e(S)$  denotes that maximum integer m such that for each non-zero homogeneous element f of degree m, the map  $S \to F^e_*S$  sending 1 to  $F^e_*f$  splits.

- 2. Since S is strongly F-regular, we have  $\alpha_F(S)$  is positive (Theorem IV.2.10).
- 3. Base-change (Corollary IV.2.16): Assume that  $S_0 = k$  and K is any perfect field extension of k. Then,

$$\alpha_F(S) = \alpha_F(S \otimes_k K).$$

Our third set of results concern the semicontinuity properties of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant, analogue to the results of [BL22] about the complex version. In this direction, we prove:

**Theorem I.4.7** (Theorem V.2.1). Let  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y$  be family of globally *F*-regular Fano varieties such that  $-K_{\mathfrak{X}|Y}$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier and *f*-ample. Assume that *Y* is regular. Then, the map from  $Y \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  given by

$$y \mapsto \alpha_F(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}})$$

is lower semicontinuous, where  $\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}$  is the perfectified-fiber over  $y \in Y$  (see Notation V.1.1).

We also prove a weaker version of Theorem I.4.7 for any polarized family of globally F-regular varieties. This is analogus to the corresponding result for the F-signature proved in [CRST21] and relies on uniform convergence for the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant (Theorem V.1.4) in a family, which may be of independent interest.

Theorem I.4.5 and Theorem I.4.6 are proved in Chapter IV of this thesis. Chapter V is dedicated to the proof of Theorem I.4.7 and related results.

### CHAPTER II

## Frobenius splittings, *F*-regularity, and the *F*-signature of Projective Varieties

In this chapter, we present some background and prove preliminary results about Frobenius splittings, F-regularity and the F-signature in the case of section rings of projective varieties. First, we review the construction of section rings of projective varieties in Section II.1. Next, we discuss the F-signature of section rings in Section II.2. Finally, we review the notion of F-regularity and global F-regularity of projective varieties in Section II.3.

Notation II.0.1. Throughout this thesis, all rings are assumed to be Noetherian and commutative with a unit. Unless specified otherwise, k will denote a perfect field of characteristic p. A variety over k is an integral (in particular, connected), separated scheme of finite type over k. For a point x on a scheme X, the residue field  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}/\mathfrak{m}_x$  will be denoted by  $\kappa(x)$ (where  $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$  is the local ring at x and  $\mathfrak{m}_x$  is the maximal ideal of the local ring).

Notation II.0.2 (Divisors and Pairs). A prime Weil-divisor on a scheme X is a reduced and irreducible subscheme of X of codimension one. An integral Weil-divisor is a formal Z-linear combination of prime Weil-divisors. A Q-divisor is a formal Q-linear combination of prime Weil-divisors. By a pair  $(X, \Delta)$ , we mean that X is a Noetherian, normal scheme and  $\Delta$  is an effective Q-divisor over X.

### **II.1:** Section Rings and Modules

**Definition II.1.1.** Let A be a Noetherian ring and X be a projective scheme over A. Given an ample invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{L}$  on X and  $\mathcal{F}$  a coherent sheaf on X, the  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded ring S defined by

$$S = S(X, \mathcal{L}) := \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} H^0(X, \mathcal{L}^n)$$

is called the *section ring* of X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ . The affine scheme Spec(S) is called the (affine) *cone over* X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ . The *section module* of  $\mathcal{F}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  is a

 $\mathbb{Z}$ -graded S-module M defined by

$$M = M(X, \mathcal{L}) := \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(X, \mathcal{F} \otimes \mathcal{L}^n).$$

Similarly, the sheaf corresponding to M on  $\operatorname{Spec}(S)$  is called the *cone over*  $\mathcal{F}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ .

Let S be a Noetherian, N-graded domain, and T denote the set of positive degree homogeneous elements of S. For a finitely generated, torsion-free, Z-graded module M over S, let M' denote the localization  $M' = T^{-1}M$ . Note that M' is naturally a Z-graded module over  $T^{-1}S$ . Since M is torsion-free, we can think of M naturally as a subset of M'. In this setting, we define the *saturation* of M to be the Z-graded module

$$M^{\text{sat}} = \{ m \in M' \, | \, \mathfrak{p}^n m \in M \quad \text{for some } n > 0 \}$$

where  $\mathfrak{p}$  is the irrelevant ideal  $\mathfrak{p} = \bigoplus_{j>0} S_j$ . We say M is saturated if  $M = M^{\text{sat}}$ .

**Lemma II.1.2.** Let A be a Noetherian domain, X be an integral, projective scheme over A and  $\mathcal{L}$  an ample invertible sheaf over X.

- The section ring S of X with respect to L is a finitely generated algebra over A and hence, is Noetherian. If X is normal, and A = k, then the section ring is also characterized as the unique normal N-graded ring S such that Proj(S) is isomorphic to X and the corresponding O<sub>X</sub>(1) is isomorphic to L.
- 2. The section module of any torsion-free coherent sheaf over X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  is finitely generated over S. It is also characterized as the unique saturated, torsion-free,  $\mathbb{Z}$ -graded S-module M (with respect to the irrelevant ideal  $I = \bigoplus_{j>0} S_j$ ) such that the associated coherent sheaf  $\tilde{M}$  on X is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{F}$ .
- 3. For two torsion-free coherent sheaves F and G, we have a natural isomorphism:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_S^{gr}(M(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{L}), M(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{L}))$$

where  $\operatorname{Hom}_{S}^{gr}(,)$  denotes the set of grading preserving S-module maps between two graded S-modules.

*Proof.* See [Sta, Tag 0BXF].

In the next lemma, we record some useful principles concerning direct summands of sheaves on a proper variety.

**Lemma II.1.3.** On a proper variety X over k, let  $\mathcal{L}$ ,  $\mathcal{M}$  be invertible sheaves, and  $\mathcal{F}$ ,  $\mathcal{G}$  be coherent sheaves over X. Then,

- 1. If  $\mathcal{L}$  is not a direct summand of  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{G}$ , then  $\mathcal{L}$  is also not a summand of  $\mathfrak{F} \oplus \mathfrak{G}$ .
- 2. If  $\mathfrak{F} \cong \mathcal{L}^{\oplus n} \oplus \mathfrak{G}$  and  $\mathcal{L}$  is not a summand of  $\mathfrak{G}$ , then, n is the maximum number of  $\mathcal{L}$  summands of  $\mathfrak{F}$  (in any decomposition).
- 3. Assume  $\mathcal{L} \cong \mathcal{M}$ , and both  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{M}$  are summands of  $\mathfrak{F}$ , then  $\mathcal{L} \oplus \mathcal{M}$  is a summand of  $\mathfrak{F}$ .

Proof. Note that giving an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summand (i.e., a summand isomorphic to  $\mathcal{O}_X$ ) of a coherent sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  is equivalent to giving a non-zero global section  $s \in H^0(X, \mathcal{F})$  and a map  $\varphi \in$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}_X)$  such that  $\varphi(s) \neq 0$ . This is because since  $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  is a field, for any nonzero element  $u \in \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)^{\times}$ , multiplication by  $u^{-1}$  is an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -module automorphism of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ . Thus, given s and  $\varphi$  as above with  $\varphi(s) \neq 0$ , we may assume that  $\varphi(s) = 1$  by postmultiplying by  $\varphi(s)^{-1}$ . Then,  $\varphi$  defines a splitting of the map  $\mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{F}$  defined by  $1 \mapsto s$ . Moreover, we may then write  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{O}_X \oplus \ker(\varphi)$ , with the copy of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  corresponding to the  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -submodule of  $\mathcal{F}$  generated by s.

1. By twisting by  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}$ , we may assume that  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_X$ . An  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summand of  $\mathcal{F} \oplus \mathcal{G}$  is given by a global section

$$s = (s_1, s_2) \in H^0(X, \mathfrak{F} \oplus \mathfrak{G}) = H^0(X, \mathfrak{F}) \oplus H^0(X, \mathfrak{G})$$

and a map

$$\varphi = (\varphi_1, \varphi_2) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F} \oplus \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_X) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{O}_X) \oplus \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{O}_X)$$

such that  $\varphi(s) \neq 0$ . However,  $\varphi(s) = \varphi_1(s_1) + \varphi_2(s_2)$ . So, if  $\varphi(s) \neq 0$ , then  $\varphi_i(s_i) \neq 0$  for some i = 1, 2, giving an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summand of either  $\mathcal{F}$  or  $\mathcal{G}$ , which is a contradiction.

2. Again, twisting by  $\mathcal{L}^{-1}$ , we may reduce to the case when  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_X$ . Suppose that there is another decomposition  $\mathcal{F} \cong \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus(n+m)} \oplus \mathcal{G}'$  for some m > 0. Let  $\varphi : \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus(n+m)} \bigoplus \mathcal{G}' \to \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus n} \bigoplus \mathcal{G}$  be an isomorphism. Now, consider the map  $\psi : H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus(n+m)}) \to H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus n})$ induced by the inclusion of  $\mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus(n+m)}$  into  $\mathcal{F}$ , the isomorphism  $\varphi$  and the projection onto  $\mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus n}$ . Since m is positive, there exists a non-zero section  $s \in \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus(n+m)}$  such that  $\psi(s) = 0$ .

Now write  $\varphi(s,0) = (0,g)$  for some  $g \in H^0(X, \mathcal{G})$ . Note that (s,0) gives an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summand of  $\mathcal{F}$ . Hence, g must be an  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summand of  $\mathcal{G}$ , which is a contradiction,

since  $\mathcal{G}$  was assumed to have no  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summands.

3. Since  $\mathcal{L}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{F}$ , there is some  $\mathcal{G}$  such that  $\mathcal{F} \cong \mathcal{L} \oplus \mathcal{G}$ . Now, by part (a), if  $\mathcal{M}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{L} \oplus \mathcal{G}$ , then  $\mathcal{M}$  is direct summand of either  $\mathcal{L}$  or  $\mathcal{G}$ . However, since  $\mathcal{M} \ncong \mathcal{L}$ ,  $\mathcal{M}$  must be a direct summand of  $\mathcal{G}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{L} \oplus \mathcal{M}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{F}$ .

### II.2: The *F*-signature

Let R be any ring of prime characteristic p. Then for any  $e \ge 1$ , let  $F^e : R \to R$  sending  $r \mapsto r^{p^e}$  be the  $e^{\text{th}}$ -iterate of the *Frobenius morphism*. Since R has characteristic p,  $F^e$  defines a ring homomorphism, allowing us to define a new R-modules for each  $e \ge 1$  obtained via restriction of scalars along  $F^e$ . We denote this new R-module by  $F_*^e R$  and its elements by  $F_*^e r$  (where r is an element of R). Concretely,  $F_*^e R$  is the same as R as an abelian group, but the R-module action is given by:

$$r \cdot F^e_* s := F^e_*(r^{p^e}s) \text{ for } r \in R \text{ and } F^e_* s \in F^e_* R.$$

Now let  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  denote a normal local domain and X denote the normal scheme Spec(R). Throughout, we will also assume that R is the localization of a finitely generated k-algebra at a maximal ideal, which also makes it F-finite (i.e.,  $F_*^e R$  is a finitely generated R-module for any  $e \geq 1$ ). Let  $\Delta$  be an effective Q-divisor on  $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ . Then, note that since  $\Delta$  is effective, for any  $e \geq 1$ , we have a natural inclusion  $R \subset R(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil))$  of reflexive R-modules. Here,  $R(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil))$  denotes the R-module corresponding to the reflexive sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil))$ . Thus, applying  $\operatorname{Hom}_R(-, R)$  to the natural inclusion  $F_*^e R \subset F_*^e(R(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil)))$ , we get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{R}\left(F_{*}^{e}R(\lceil (p^{e}-1)\Delta\rceil),R\right)\subset\operatorname{Hom}_{R}(F_{*}^{e}R,R).$$

Thus, given any element  $\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_R(F^e_*R(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil), R))$ , it can be naturally viewed as a map from  $\varphi: F^e_*R \to R$ .

**Definition II.2.1** (Splitting Ideals). For any  $e \ge 1$ , we define the subset  $I_e^{\Delta} \subseteq R$  as

 $I_e^{\Delta} = \left\{ x \in R \mid \varphi(F_*^e x) \in \mathfrak{m} \text{ for every map } \varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_R\left(F_*^e R(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta\rceil), R\right) \right\}.$ 

We observe that  $I_e^{\Delta}$  is an ideal of finite colength in R and we call

$$a_e^{\Delta} = \ell_R(R/I_e^{\Delta})$$

the  $\Delta$ -free rank of  $F_*^e R$ , where  $\ell_R$  denotes the length as an *R*-module.

**Definition II.2.2.** [BST11, Theorem 3.11, Proposition 3.5] Let  $(R, \Delta)$  be a pair as above, and  $a_e^{\Delta}(R)$  denote the  $\Delta$ -free rank of  $F_*^e R$  (Definition II.2.1). Then the *F*-signature of  $(R, \Delta)$ is defined to be the limit:

$$\mathfrak{s}(R,\Delta) := \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{a_e^{\Delta}}{p^{ed}}$$

where d is the Krull dimension of R. This limit exists by [BST11].

**Remark II.2.3.** For a local domain R obtained as the localization of a finitely generated k-algebra, the degree of the field extension  $\operatorname{Frac}(R) \subset \operatorname{Frac}(R)^{1/p}$  is equal to  $p^d$ , where d is the transcendence degree of  $\operatorname{Frac}(R)$  over k. Thus, if R was the localization of a finitely generated k-algebra at a maximal ideal, we d is also the Krull dimension of R.

**Remark II.2.4.** The *F*-signature of a local ring  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  as above is the *F*-signature  $\mathfrak{s}(R, 0)$ . By [Tuc12, Proposition 4.5], the definition of the free-rank and the *F*-signature of *R* in Definition II.2.2 match the one given in Definition I.2.3.

#### II.2.1: The *F*-signature of $\mathbb{N}$ -graded rings.

Though the definition of the *F*-signature is given for a local ring  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$ , we may also work with N-graded rings  $(S, \mathfrak{m}, k)$  i.e. *S* is N-graded with  $S_0 = k$  and  $\mathfrak{m} = S_{>0}$ . We next relate the local and graded situations.

**Definition II.2.5** (Graded free rank). Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m}, k)$  be an N-graded ring, finitely generated over k, with  $S_0 = k$  and M a finitely generated Z-graded module over S. Then we can decompose M as a graded S-module as:

$$M \cong P \oplus N$$

where P is a graded free S-module (i.e. a direct sum of S(j), the shifted rank 1 free modules, for various  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) and N is a graded module with no graded free summands. Then the rank of P is independent of the chosen decomposition and we define it to be the graded free rank of M over S (denoted by  $a_{gr}(M)$ ).

**Lemma II.2.6.** Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m}, k)$  and M be as above. Then the free rank of  $M_{\mathfrak{m}}$  over the local ring  $S_{\mathfrak{m}}$  is the same as the graded free rank of M.

*Proof.* See [DSPY22, Proposition 5.7].

Now, we describe the F-signature of  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded rings, relating it to the (local) F-signature at the vertex. For similar discussions relating the local and global situations, see [Smi00, Section 3], [Smi97b, Section 4], and [VK12, Section 2.2].

Let S be an N-graded ring. Then  $F^e_*S$  is also naturally an  $\frac{1}{p^e}$ N-graded S-module by taking

$$(F^e_*S)_{\frac{i}{n^e}} = F^e_*S_i.$$

This gives rise to the  $\mathbb{N}$ -grading on  $F^e_*S$  given by

$$(F^e_*S)_n = \bigoplus_{0 \le i \le p^e - 1} (F^e_*S)_{\frac{i+np^e}{p^e}}.$$

Thus,  $F^e_*S$  decomposes as

$$F^e_*S = \bigoplus_{0 \le i \le p^e - 1} \bigoplus_{j \ge 0} F^e_*S_{i+jp^e}$$

as an  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded *S*-module.

**Definition II.2.7** (*F*-signature of N-graded rings). Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m}, k)$  be an N-graded, finitely generated *k*-algebra, with  $S_0 = k$ . Then, we define the *F*-signature of *S* to be the limit:

$$\lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{a_{e, \text{gr}}(S)}{p^{ed}}$$

where  $a_{e,gr}(S)$  is the graded free rank of  $F_*^e S$  and d denotes the Krull dimension of S. We note that by II.2.6, the *F*-signature of S coincides with the *F*-signature of  $S_m$ , the localization of S at the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$ .

### **II.3**: *F*-regularity:

**Definition II.3.1** (Sharp *F*-splitting). [SS10, Definition 3.1] Let *X* be a normal variety over *k* and  $\Delta \geq 0$  be an effective Q-divisor. The pair  $(X, \Delta)$  is said to be globally sharply *F*-split (resp. locally sharply *F*-split) if there exists an integer  $e \gg 0$ , such that, the natural map

$$\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil)$$

splits (resp. splits locally) as a map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules. A normal variety X is said to globally *F*-split if the pair (X, 0) is globally sharply *F*-split.

**Definition II.3.2** (*F*-regularity). [SS10, Definition 3.1] Let X be a normal variety over k and  $\Delta \geq 0$  be an effective Q-divisor. The pair  $(X, \Delta)$  is said to be globally *F*-regular (resp.

locally strongly *F*-regular) if for any effective Weil divisor *D* on *X*, there exists an integer  $e \gg 0$ , such that, the natural map

$$\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil + D)$$

splits (resp. splits locally) as a map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules. A normal variety X is said to globally *F*-regular if the pair (X, 0) is globally *F*-regular.

**Remark II.3.3.** When X = Spec(R) is an affine variety and  $\Delta$  is an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor, the pair  $(X, \Delta)$  being globally *F*-regular (resp. globally sharply *F*-split) is equivalent to the pair  $(R, \Delta)$  being locally strongly *F*-regular (resp. locally sharply *F*-split) [SS10].

**Remark II.3.4.** A local ring R is strongly F-regular if and only if its F-signature  $\mathfrak{s}(R)$  is positive [AL03]. More generally, a pair  $(R, \Delta)$  (where R is normal, local) is strongly F-regular if and only if the F-signature  $\mathfrak{s}(R, \Delta)$  (Definition II.2.2) is positive [BST11, Theorem 3.18].

**Theorem II.3.5.** [Smi00, Theorem 3.10] Let X be a projective variety over k. Then, X is globally F-regular if and only if the section ring S(X, L) (II.1.1) with respect to some (equivalently, every) ample invertible sheaf L is strongly F-regular.

**Remark II.3.6.** (Locally) Strongly *F*-regular varieties are normal and Cohen-Macaulay. Similarly, globally *F*-regular varieties enjoy many of nice properties such as:

- As proved in [SS10, Theorem 4.3], they are *log-Fano type*. More precisely, there exists an effective divisor  $\Delta \geq 0$  such that the pair  $(X, \Delta)$  is globally *F*-regular and  $-K_X \Delta$  is ample.
- A version of the Kawamata-Viehweg vanishing theorem holds on all globally *F*-regular varieties [SS10, Theorem 6.8].

**Theorem II.3.7** ([Smi00], Corollary 4.3). Let X be a projective, globally F-regular variety over k. Suppose L is a nef invertible sheaf over X. Then,

$$H^i(X,L) = 0 \quad for \ all \ i > 0.$$

We need a slight variation of Theorem II.3.7 for  $\mathbb{Q}$ -ample divisors that we prove here for completeness.

**Proposition II.3.8.** Let X be a globally F-split normal variety and L be a Q-ample Weil divisor i.e., L is an integral Weil divisor such that rL is an ample Cartier divisor for some integer r > 0. Then,

$$H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X(L)) = 0 \quad for \ i > 0.$$

*Proof.* Let r be an integer such that rL is Cartier. Write  $r = p^{e_0}s$  such that s is coprime to p. Pick an e > 0 such that s divides  $p^e - 1$ . Then, since  $p^{e_0}(p^{ne} - 1)$  is a multiple of r for all n > 0, using Serre vanishing theorem, we have (II.3.1)

$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(p^{ne+e_{0}}L)) = H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(p^{e_{0}}L + (p^{ne} - 1)p^{e_{0}}L) = 0 \text{ for all } i > 0 \text{ and } n \gg 0.$$

Since the map

$$\mathcal{O}_X \to F^{ne+e_0}_*\mathcal{O}_X$$

is split, twisting by  $\mathcal{O}_X(L)$  and reflexifying, we get that

$$\mathcal{O}_X(L) \to F^{ne+e_0}_* \mathcal{O}_X(p^{ne+e_0}L)$$

is split as well. Now the Proposition follows from the vanishing in (II.3.1).  $\Box$ 

The next Proposition is a technical result that helps us to restrict Q-Cartier divisors to normal, locally complete intersection subvarieties. This is very close to [PS12, Corollary 3.3], but we will need it in the form stated below.

**Proposition II.3.9.** Let X = Spec(R), where  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  is an *F*-finite, strongly *F*-regular, local ring and *D* be an integral Weil-divisor on *X* such that *rD* is Cartier for some integer *r*. Then, for each  $m \ge 0$ ,

- 1. There exists an  $e \gg 0$  such that the module  $R(mD) = H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(mD))$  is isomorphic to an R-module summand of  $F^e_*R$ . In particular, R(mD) is a Cohen-Macaulay module over R.
- 2. Suppose that  $x_1, \ldots, x_t$  is a regular sequence on R such that the ring  $R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R$ is normal. Then, the sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \otimes_R \mathcal{O}_Y$  is reflexive on  $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R)$ . Furthermore, if we assume that the support of D does not contain the subscheme Y, then natural map

(II.3.2) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X(mD) \otimes_R \mathcal{O}_Y \to \mathcal{O}_Y(mD_Y)$$

is an isomorphism, where  $D_Y$  denotes the restriction of D to Y (see the description in the proof below).

*Proof.* By adding a principal divisor if necessary (which leaves the module R(mD) isomorphic), we assume that D is effective.

1. Since R is strongly F-regular, there exists an  $e \gg 0$  such that the map  $\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(sD))$  splits for each  $0 \leq s \leq r$ . Once we have such an e, choose  $s \leq r$  such that  $p^e + s$  is divisible by r. Thus, we may assume that the map (got by twisting by D and reflexifying):

$$\mathcal{O}_X(D) \to F^e_* \big( \mathcal{O}_X((p^e + s)D) \big)$$

is split. Since r divides  $p^e + s$ ,  $\mathcal{O}_X((p^e + s)D)$  is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{O}_X$  since R is local and rD is Cartier. Therefore, taking global sections, we have that the map

(II.3.3) 
$$R(mD) \to F^e_*R$$

is split. Note that the *e* obtained is independent of *m*. The Cohen-Macaulayness of R(mD) follows because  $F_*^e R$  is a Cohen-Macaulay module over *R*, since *R* itself is Cohen-Macaulay.

2. Firstly, we may assume m = 1 since the discussion holds for an arbitrary Weil divisor and is compatible with addition of Weil-divisors. Now, since Y is a normal, complete intersection subscheme of X, we may "restrict" the rank one reflexive sheaf  $\mathcal{F} := \mathcal{O}_X(D)$ on X to a reflexive sheaf  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  on Y as follows: Let U be the regular locus of Y. Then there is an open subset  $V \subset X_{\text{reg}}$  (where  $X_{\text{reg}}$  denotes the regular locus of X) such that  $V \cap Y = U$ . This is possible because Y is a complete intersection in X. Therefore, we may restrict  $\mathcal{F}$  to V and then to an invertible sheaf on U, since  $\mathcal{F}|_V$  is invertible. Define  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  to be

$$\mathcal{F}_Y := i_*(\mathcal{F}|_U)$$

where  $i: U \to Y$  is the inclusion. Then,  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  is a rank one reflexive sheaf on Y because Y is normal and U contains all the codimension one points of Y. Thus, we can write  $\mathcal{F}_Y$  as  $\mathcal{O}_Y(D_Y)$  for some Weil-divisor  $D_Y$  on Y. Furthermore, if  $\operatorname{Supp}(D)$  does not contain Y, then since Y is normal, hence integral, D naturally restricts to a Cartier divisor  $D_U$  on U (given by restricting the equation for D) and we may take  $D_Y$  to be the closure of  $D_U$ . It is also clear from the description of restriction that it commutes with addition of Weil-divisors (since the restriction of Cartier divisors on the regular locus commutes with addition).

Now, since  $\mathcal{F}|_U$  is the restriction of the sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$  (i.e., isomorphic to  $\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_U$ ), there is a natual map

$$\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_Y \to \mathcal{F}_Y$$

which is an isomorphism if and only if  $\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathcal{O}_Y$  is reflexive. Therefore, it is suf-

ficient to show that the module  $R(D) \otimes_R R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R$  satisfies the S<sub>2</sub> condition on  $R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R$  (since  $R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R$  is normal). But since R(mD) is Cohen-Macaulay by Part (1) (and clearly full dimensional), and  $x_1, \ldots, x_t$  is a regular sequence on R, we get that  $R(mD) \otimes R/(x_1, \ldots, x_t)R$  is Cohen-Macaulay as well. This completes the proof of the Proposition.

### CHAPTER III

### The F-signature Function on the Ample Cone

In this Chapter, we will study the variation of the F-signature of a fixed projective variety X as we vary the embeddings of X. This is formalized by defining the F-signature function on the (rational) *ample cone* of X in Section III.1. In Section III.2, we prove that the F-signature function is continuous and extends to the real ample cone. We further prove that it extends continuously to the Nef cone of X in Section III.3. Finally, in Section III.4, we prove some effective local upper bounds for the F-signature function. The contents of this Chapter are part of the joint work with Seungsu Lee [LP23].

Notation III.0.1. Throughout this chapter, k will denote an algebraically closed field of positive characteristic p.

### III.1: Definition of the *F*-signature Function

In this section, we will define an *F*-signature function on the rational ample cone of a globally *F*-regular projective variety. The *rational ample cone*, consisting of numerical equivalence classes of ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors on *X* will be denoted by  $\operatorname{Amp}(X)$ . Recall that in the Néron-Severi space  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ ,  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$  is the set of rational points of the open cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  (which consists of classes of ample  $\mathbb{R}$ -divisors on *X*). Hence,  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$  has a natural topology, inherited from any norm on  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . We refer to [Laz04, Chapter 1] for the details.

**Definition III.1.1.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety over k (Definition II.3.2). Suppose that  $\dim(X) > 0$ . The F-signature function

$$\mathfrak{Z}_X : \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X) \to \mathbb{R}$$

on the rational ample cone of X, is defined as follows:

1. If the class  $[L] \in \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$  is defined by an integral Cartier divisor L, then we define  $\mathfrak{s}_X([L])$  to be the *F*-signature (Definition II.2.2) of the section ring S(X, L) (Defini-

tion II.1.1) of L:

$$\mathfrak{s}_X([L]) := \mathfrak{s}(S(X,L)).$$

2. If the class [L] is defined by a rational multiple of an integral Cartier divisor i.e.  $L = \frac{a}{b}D$ where D is an integral Cartier divisor on X, then we define:

$$\mathfrak{s}_X([L]) := \frac{b}{a} \mathfrak{s}_X([D]) = \frac{b}{a} \mathfrak{s}(S(X, D)).$$

The rest of this section is devoted to checking that the function  $\mathfrak{s}$  is indeed well-defined.

**Remark III.1.2.** If dim(X) = 0, we define the *F*-signature function as  $\beta_X(L) = 1$  for any ample divisor on *X*. Indeed, *X* is just a point and the only divisor on *X* is 0.

**Theorem III.1.3.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety over k with  $\dim(X)$  positive. Then, Definition III.1.1 gives a well-defined F-signature function  $s_X$  on the rational ample cone of X, satisfying the identity:

$$\mathfrak{s}_X\left(\frac{a}{b}L\right) = \frac{b}{a}\mathfrak{s}_X(L)$$

for any two non-zero natural numbers a and b and any ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L.

*Proof.* To prove the theorem, we need to check that the function  $\beta_X$  as defined in Definition III.1.1 is well-defined. There are two issues:

- 1. The first arising from the choice of a Q-divisor representing a numerical equivalence class (Theorem III.1.4).
- 2. Having chosen a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L representing a numerical class, there is still ambiguity in choosing a representation of L as a rational multiple of an integral Cartier divisor (Theorem III.1.6).

We address the first ambiguity by proving that on a globally F-regular variety, numerical equivalence and linear equivalence are the same conditions. This is an analog of the same result for *log-Fano* varieties over the complex numbers, a well-known consequence of the *Kawamata-Viehweg* vanishing theorem. The following theorem may be well-known to experts, but we do not know a reference.

**Theorem III.1.4.** Let X be a projective, globally F-regular variety over k. Suppose  $\mathcal{L}$  is a numerically trivial invertible sheaf on X, i.e.  $\deg(\mathcal{L}|_C) = 0$  for all curves C on X. Then,  $\mathcal{L}$  is isomorphic to the trivial invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_X$ .

*Proof.* First, we note that by [Kle66, Ch. 2, Section 2, Corollary 1], some power  $\mathcal{L}^m$  of  $\mathcal{L}$  is algebraically equivalent to  $\mathcal{O}_X$  i.e.  $\mathcal{L}^m$  deforms to  $\mathcal{O}_X$ . Since the Euler-characteristic (for sheaf-cohomology) is invariant in flat families [Har77, Ch. III, Theorem 9.9], we get that

(III.1.1) 
$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_X) = \chi(\mathcal{L}^m)$$

for some natural number m. Now, by Theorem II.3.7, since  $\mathcal{O}_X$  and  $\mathcal{L}^m$  are both nef invertible sheaves, we get that

(III.1.2) 
$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}) = H^{i}(X, \mathcal{L}^{m}) = 0 \quad \text{for all } i > 0.$$

Hence, we get

(III.1.3) 
$$1 = h^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = \chi(\mathcal{O}_X) = \chi(\mathcal{L}^m) = h^0(X, \mathcal{L}^m).$$

Hence, we have shown that  $\mathcal{L}^m$  has a non-zero global section. But, since it is also numerically trivial, it must indeed be trivial (since an effective divisor cannot be numerically trivial unless it is the zero divisor). Therefore,  $\mathcal{L}^m \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ .

Now, by [Kle66, Ch. 1, Section 1], we have that the function  $\chi(\mathcal{L}^n)$  is a polynomial function of n (as n varies over all integers). Since  $\mathcal{L}^m \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ , we must have that  $\chi(\mathcal{L}^n) = 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . But, again, since  $\mathcal{L}^n$  is nef for all  $n \ge 0$ , by Theorem II.3.7 we have

(III.1.4) 
$$h^0(X,\mathcal{L}) = \chi(\mathcal{L}) = 1.$$

Hence,  $\mathcal{L} \cong \mathcal{O}_X$  as well because  $\mathcal{L}$  is numerically trivial and has a non-zero global section.

**Remark III.1.5.** It was proved in [CR17] that torsion divisors (i.e., L such that  $nL \sim 0$  for some n) are themselves linearly equivalent to 0. Hence, the last part of the proof above follows from this fact, but we include a proof for the convenience of readers.

Next, we address the second kind of ambiguity in Definition III.1.1. For this, we note the following scaling property for F-signature of section rings under taking Veronese subrings, first observed in [VK12].

**Theorem III.1.6.** [VK12, Theorem 2.6.2] Let X be a projective variety over k with dim(X) positive and  $\mathcal{L}$  an ample invertible sheaf on X. Let  $S(\mathcal{L})$  and  $S(\mathcal{L}^n)$  denote the section rings with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{L}^n$  respectively, where n is any positive natural number. Then, we

have the following relation between their F-signatures:

(III.1.5) 
$$\mathfrak{s}(S(\mathcal{L})) = n \,\mathfrak{s}(S(\mathcal{L}^n)).$$

This concludes the proof of Theorem III.1.3.

### **III.2:** Continuity of the *F*-signature Function

In this section, we prove that the F-signature function (Definition III.1.1) varies continuously on the ample cone. Throughout, we fix a globally F-regular projective variety X over k.

**Theorem III.2.1.** The F-signature function is continuous at each rational class in the ample cone of X.

In fact, much more is true: the *F*-signature function is *locally Lipschitz* around any real class in the ample cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , with respect to any norm chosen on the Néron-Severi space. More precisely, we prove:

**Theorem III.2.2.** Fix any norm || || on the Néron-Severi space  $N^{1}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  of a projective globally F-regular variety X. Then for each real class  $D \in \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , there exist positive real numbers C(D) and r(D) (depending only on D and the norm || ||), such that for any two ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L, L' contained in the ball  $B_{r(D)}(D) := \{D' \in \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X) | ||D - D'|| < r(D)\}$ , we have

(III.2.1) 
$$|\mathfrak{s}_X(L) - \mathfrak{s}_X(L')| \le C(D) ||L - L'||.$$

We will say that the *F*-signature function  $\mathfrak{z}_X$  is locally Lipschitz at a real class *D* with Lipschitz constant C(D) if the inequality (III.2.1) is satisfied for all ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors *L*, *L'* that are sufficiently close to *D*.

As an immediate corollary of Theorem III.2.2, we obtain:

**Corollary III.2.3.** Let X be a projective variety over k with  $\dim(X)$  positive. Then, the F-signature function  $s_X$  extends to a well-defined, continuous, locally Lipschitz function on the real ample cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  of X satisfying the identity:

$$\mathfrak{z}_X(\lambda L) = \frac{1}{\lambda} \mathfrak{z}_X(L) \quad \text{for all } \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \text{ and all } L \in \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$$

*Proof.* Let  $D \in \operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  be a real ample class on X. The Lipschitz inequality (III.2.1) implies that for any sequence of ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors  $L_n$  converging to D, the sequence  $\mathfrak{s}_X(L_n)$ 

is Cauchy, hence converges to a unique real number. This gives a well-defined extension of  $\mathfrak{s}_X$  to the real ample cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , that remains locally Lipschitz. Hence,  $\mathfrak{s}$  is continuous on  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . Finally, the identity  $\mathfrak{s}_X(\lambda L) = \frac{1}{\lambda}\mathfrak{s}_X(L)$  follows by continuity, since it already holds for all rational L and  $\lambda$ .

#### III.2.1: Informal sketch of the proof of Theorem III.2.2:

The proof of Theorem III.2.2 consists of several steps. We summarize the ideas in this subsection.

- Step 1: First, in Lemma III.2.6, we prove a formula for calculating the *F*-signature of an ample Cartier divisor *L*, in terms of *Frobenius splittings* of the linear systems |mL| for  $m \gg 0$ . This gives us a tool to compare  $\delta_X(L)$  and  $\delta_X(L')$  whenever we have a non-zero map  $\mathcal{O}_X(mL) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mL')$  for  $m \gg 0$  (Lemma III.2.11).
- Step 2: Given two ample Q-divisors L and L', we first consider the case when L' L is big. Since L' - L is big, for  $m \gg 0$ , we have  $|mL' - mL| \neq \emptyset$  allowing us to compare  $\beta_X(L)$  and  $\beta_X(L')$  (Lemma III.2.11). Further, we may find a constant  $\alpha$  such that  $\alpha L - L'$  is big as well. This allows us a reverse comparison between  $\beta_X(\alpha L)$  and  $\beta_X(L')$ . (Lemma III.2.12).
- Step 3: In this step, we estimate the difference in the *F*-signatures by comparing it to the difference in volumes. Here, we encounter the key difficulty, which is that we don't know the sign of the difference between  $\beta_X(L')$  and  $\beta_X(L)$ , even if L' L is effective, which we have already assumed. This is overcome by introducing the difference between  $\beta_X(L)$  and  $\beta_X(\alpha L)$  (where  $\alpha$  is as in Step 2), along with comparisons to the volume function to estimate the difference between  $\beta_X(L)$  and  $\beta_X(L')$ . These estimates are the contents of Lemma III.2.13 and Lemma III.2.14.
- Step 4: To control the difference in the volumes (from Step 4), we need an additional ingredient: For any  $e \ge 1$ , we need effective bounds for the degrees *m* that contribute Frobenius splittings to the  $e^{\text{th}}$  free-rank for S(X, L) and S(X, L') (Theorem III.2.8).
- Step 5: The steps so far give us an inequality of the form

(III.2.2) 
$$|s_X(L) - s_X(L')| \le C(L) ||L - L'||$$

for a fixed L and all L' sufficiently close to L and for some constant C(L) depending on L (Lemma III.2.10). One result required here is the (Lipschitz) continuity of the volume function on the ample cone (Lemma III.2.16).

- Step 6: Though (III.2.2) proves continuity of  $\mathfrak{z}_X$  at a fixed  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L, it does not prove that  $\mathfrak{z}_X$  is locally Lipschitz, since the constant C(L) depends on L. So, in Proposition III.2.17 and Lemma III.2.18, we track the constant C(L) and examine the variation with L. This involves carefully choosing the scalar  $\alpha$  from Step 2.
- Step 7: As a result, we see that we may pick the constants C(L) such that  $C(L) = o(\frac{1}{\|L\|^2})$ as  $\|L\| \to \infty$ . Now, since  $\delta_X(rL) = \frac{1}{r}\delta_X(L)$  by Theorem III.1.3, we see that for a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L, we may pick  $C(L) = r^2 C(rL)$  for any  $r \gg 0$ . This shows that we may pick uniform Lipschitz constants on compact subsets of the ample cone.
- Step 8: Given two ample Q-divisors L and L', we may consider a small (and controlled) perturbation  $\lambda L'$  of L' (i.e.  $\lambda \approx 1$ ) so that  $\lambda L' - L$  is big (or even ample). Using the transformation rule as in Theorem III.1.3, we may replace L' by  $\lambda L'$  and reduce to the case when L' - L is big, concluding the proof.

### III.2.2: Proof of Theorem III.2.2

The rest of this section is dedicated to a detailed proof of Theorem III.2.2. Note that if X is 0-dimensional, then the only ample divisor on X is  $\mathcal{O}_X$  and the Theorem is trivially true. Hence, we assume for the rest of this section that dim X is positive.

**Notation III.2.4.** For any Cartier divisor D, we use the notation  $H^0(D)$  to denote the space of global sections  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D))$ .

**Definition III.2.5.** For any Cartier divisor D on X, define the k-vector subspace  $I_e(D)$  of  $H^0(D)$  as follows:

 $I_e(D) := \{ f \in H^0(D) \mid \varphi(F^e_*f) = 0 \text{ for all } \varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D), \mathcal{O}_X) \}.$ 

That is,  $I_e(D)$  is the set of global sections f of  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  such the map  $\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D)$ sending  $1 \mapsto F^e_*f$  does not split. A section  $f \in H^0(D)$  that is not contained in  $I_e(D)$  along with a map  $\varphi : F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D) \to \mathcal{O}_X$  sending  $F^e_*f$  to 1 is called an  $e^{th}$ -Frobenius splitting of the linear system |D|.

**Lemma III.2.6.** Let L be an ample Cartier divisor and S denote the section ring of X with respect to L. Then, for any  $e \ge 1$ , if  $a_e(L)$  denotes the free-rank of  $F_*^eS$  as an S-module, then  $a_e(L)$  is computed by the following formula:

(III.2.3) 
$$a_e(L) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)}.$$

Hence, the F-signature of L can be computed as

$$\mathfrak{G}_X(L) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)}}{p^{e(\dim(X)+1)}}$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{L}$  denote the invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_X(L)$ . We note that the S-module  $F_*^eS$  naturally decomposes as an N-graded module as (see the discussion preceding Definition II.2.7):

$$F^e_*S = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{p^e-1} M_{e,n}$$

where  $M_{e,n} := \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} H^0(X, \mathcal{L}^i \otimes F^e_* \mathcal{L}^n)$  is naturally an N-graded S-module. Note also that since  $H^0(X, \mathcal{L}^{n+ip^e}) = 0$  for i < 0 and  $0 \le n \le p^e - 1$ , the module  $M_{e,n}$  is the section module of the sheaf  $F^e_* \mathcal{L}^n$  with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ . We recall that by Lemma II.2.6,  $a_e(L)$  can be calculated as the graded free-rank of  $F^e_*S$  i.e.

$$a_e(L) = \max\{r \mid F^e_*S \cong \bigoplus_{t=1}^r S(-j_t) \bigoplus N \text{ as graded } S \text{-modules}$$
for some  $j_t \in \mathbb{Z}$  and some graded  $S$ -module  $N\}.$ 

Since  $F_*^e S$  is N-graded, we note that each integer  $j_t$  occurring in any decomposition of  $F_*^e S$  as above is non-negative. Sheaf theoretically, we have an equivalent description (see [Smi00, Theorem 3.10] and the proof):

(III.2.4) 
$$a_e(L) = \max\{r \mid \widetilde{F_*^eS} \cong \bigoplus_{0 \le n \le p^e - 1} F_*^e \mathcal{L}^n \cong \bigoplus_{t=1}^r \mathcal{L}^{-j_t} \bigoplus \mathcal{N}$$
as  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules for some  $j_t \in \mathbb{N}$  and some sheaf  $\mathcal{N}\}$ 

Now, for any  $0 \le n \le p^e - 1$ , and  $j \ge 0$ , the maximum number of  $\mathcal{L}^{-j}$  summands of  $F_*^e \mathcal{L}^n$  is the same as the maximum number of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summands of  $F_*^e \mathcal{L}^{n+jp^e}$ . Writing  $F_*^e \mathcal{L}^n \cong \mathcal{O}_X^{\oplus n} \oplus \mathcal{G}$ such that  $\mathcal{G}$  does not have any  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summands, we see that the set  $I_e(\mathcal{L}^n)$  can be identified with the set  $H^0(X, \mathcal{G})$ . Hence, the maximum number of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -summands of any  $F_*^e \mathcal{L}^m$  is exactly given by the dimension of  $H^0(mL)/I_e(mL)$  (see Lemma II.1.3, part (b)). Using Lemma II.1.3 again, running over all  $0 \le n \le p^e - 1$  and  $j \ge 0$ , we get the desired formula (IV.3.7) for  $a_e(L)$ .

**Remark III.2.7.** Since the free-rank of  $F_*^e S$  is bounded by its generic rank (which is exactly  $p^{e(\dim(X)+1)}$ ), the sum in equation (IV.3.7) is indeed finite. Next, we will find uniform bounds
for the number of terms in this sum.

**Theorem III.2.8.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety over k. Fix a norm || ||on the Néron-Severi space  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . There exists a constant  $C_1 := C_1(X)$  (depending only on X, and the norm || ||) such that, whenever L and H are any two effective Cartier divisors on X, we have:

1.

$$I_e(mL) = H^0(mL) \text{ for } m > \frac{C_1}{\|L\|} p^e$$
, and,

2. For all  $n > \frac{2\|H\|}{\|L\|}$ ,

$$I_e(m(nL+H)) = H^0(m(nL+H)) \text{ for all } m > \frac{C_1 p^e}{n \|L\|}$$

*Proof.* Since X is normal, we can consider the canonical (Weil) divisor on X (denoted by  $K_X$ ), by extending the canonical divisor on the non-singular locus of X. Choosing an ample divisor A such that  $A + K_X$  is effective, we may write  $A \sim -K_X + E$  for some effective (Weil) divisor E. Let [A] denote the class of A in the ample cone of X.

Let L be any effective Cartier divisor on X. By applying duality for the Frobenius map, we have,

$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathfrak{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathfrak{O}_X(mL),\mathfrak{O}_X)\cong F^e_*\mathfrak{O}_X(-(p^e-1)K_X-mL).$$

See [SS10, Section 4.1] for a detailed discussion regarding duality for the Frobenius map. Hence, we have,

(III.2.5) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(mL),\mathcal{O}_X) \cong F^e_*H^0(X,\mathcal{O}_X(-(p^e-1)K_X-mL)).$$

This shows that to prove that  $H^0(mL) = I_e(mL)$  for any given m, it suffices to show the right hand side in Equation (III.2.5) is zero.

Claim: There exists a positive constant  $C'_1$  (depending only on X, the choice of A and the norm || ||), such that for any effective divisor D with  $||D|| > C'_1$ , we have  $-K_X - D$  is not an effective divisor, i.e.,  $-K_X - D$  is not  $\mathbb{R}$ -linearly equivalent to any effective divisor.

Proof of the claim. Recall that the pseudoeffective cone (denoted by  $\overline{\text{Eff}}(X)$ ) is a closed strongly convex cone (i.e. there is no non-zero class  $\nu \in \overline{\text{Eff}}(X)$  such that  $-\nu \in \overline{\text{Eff}}(X)$ ), and contains the class of every effective divisor on X [Laz04, Definition 2.2.25]. Thus, the set

$$\kappa := \overline{\operatorname{Eff}}(X) \bigcap ([A] - \overline{\operatorname{Eff}}(X))$$

is a compact subset of Eff(X). Since the norm function achieves a maximum on  $\kappa$ , we may choose  $C'_1$  to be bigger than the norm of any class in  $\kappa$ :

$$C_1' > \max\{\|\xi\| \mid \xi \in \kappa\}.$$

Note that  $C'_1$  depends only on the choice of A and the norm || ||.

Since the class of every effective Cartier divisor on X is contained in the pseudoeffective cone of X, if D is an effective divisor with  $||D|| > C'_1$ , then D can not belong to  $\kappa$  by the definition of  $C'_1$ . Hence, we see that A - D is not effective. Since  $A = -K_X + E$  for an effective divisor E, this means that  $-K_X - D$  is not effective. This proves the claim.  $\Box$ 

Continuation of the proof of Theorem III.2.8: For any effective Cartier divisor L, if  $m > \frac{C'_1 p^e}{\|L\|}$ , we have  $\|\frac{m}{p^e-1}L\| > C'_1$ , hence, applying the claim above, we conclude that  $-K_X - \frac{m}{p^e-1}L$  is not effective. Therefore, the divisor

$$-(p^e-1)K_X-mL$$

is not effective. By (III.2.5), this gives us  $H^0(mL) = I_e(mL)$  as required. This proves part (a).

For part (b), we use part (a) of the Theorem by replacing L by nL + H, which gives us that  $H^0(m(nL+H)) = I_e(m(nL+H))$  for  $m > \frac{C'_1 p^e}{\|nL+H\|}$ . Since by assumption  $\|H\| \le \frac{1}{2} \|nL\|$ , we have,  $\|nL + H\| \ge \|nL\| - \|H\| \ge \frac{1}{2} \|nL\|$ . Therefore,

$$\frac{2C_1'p^e}{n\|L\|} \ge \frac{C_1'p^e}{\|nL+H\|},$$

using which we see that  $C_1 = 2C'_1$  works for both parts (a) and (b). This completes the proof of Theorem III.2.8.

**Remark III.2.9.** For a more effective, but less uniform version of Theorem III.2.8, see Lemma III.4.2.

Next, we prove Theorem III.2.2 in the special case when the divisor L is fixed and the difference L' - L is big.

**Lemma III.2.10** (Key Lemma). Let L be an integral ample divisor on X. Then, there exists a constant C(L) (depending only on L and the norm || ||) such that for any other ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L' sufficiently close to L, and for which L' - L is big, we have:

$$|\mathfrak{z}_X(L) - \mathfrak{z}_X(L')| \le C(L) ||L - L'||.$$

Proof of Lemma III.2.10. Throughout the proof, we fix the following set-up: Fixing the ample, integral divisor L on X, we pick an arbitrary ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor L' such that L' - L is big. Then, we may write  $L' = L + \frac{1}{n}H$ , for some  $n \gg 0$  and an effective and big Cartier divisor H.

**Lemma III.2.11.** For effective divisors  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ , consider the natural inclusion:

$$\phi: F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(D_1) \subset F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(D_1 + D_2).$$

Then,

(III.2.6) 
$$\phi(I_e(D_1)) \subset I_e(D_1 + D_2).$$

Equivalently, viewing  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D_1))$  as a subset of  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D_1 + D_2))$  through the map  $\phi$ , we have:

(III.2.7) 
$$\phi(I_e(D_1)) \subset I_e(D_1 + D_2) \cap H^0(D_1) = \{x \in H^0(D_1) | \phi(x) \in I_e(D_1 + D_2)\}.$$

*Proof.* This follows from the definitions once we observe that for every map  $\varphi$  in  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D_1 + D_2), \mathcal{O}_X)$ , we get a map  $\tilde{\varphi}$  in  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D_1), \mathcal{O}_X)$  by pre-composing with the map  $\phi$ .



n	_	-	
			L
			L
			L

**Lemma III.2.12.** With L an ample Cartier divisor and H an effective big divisor on X, and any natural number n, suppose that we have a natural number b := b(n), such that nL - bH is big. Consequently, by [Laz04, Corollary 2.2.10], there is a  $C_2 \gg 0$  such that for all  $m \ge C_2$ , we have

$$H^0(m(nL - bH)) \neq 0.$$

Then, for  $m \ge C_2$  and all  $e \ge 1$ , there is a factorization of inclusions:

given by a choice of a section  $d \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(mnL - mbH))$ .

*Proof.* Given a section  $d \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(mnL - mbH))$ , let  $D_1$  be the corresponding effective divisor. Then, we have  $D_2 = mbH + D_1 \sim mbH + mnL - mbH = mnL$ . Then, we get inclusions



since  $D_1$  was effective. We get the required factorization by applying  $F_*^e$  to the above diagram and taking c to be the section corresponding to the divisor  $D_2$ .

**Lemma III.2.13.** Let  $d = \dim X$  and let  $C_1 = C_1(X)$  be the constant as obtained in Theorem III.2.8. Fix an ample Cartier divisor L and an effective Cartier divisor H on X. Let n and b := b(n) be positive integers such that  $n > \frac{2||H||}{||L||}$  and that nL - bH is big. Then, we have the following inequality:

(III.2.8)  
$$\begin{aligned} |s_X(L) - s_X(L + \frac{1}{n}H)| &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left(2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{\left((b+1)^d - b^d\right)}{b^d} + \left(\operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L)\right)\right) + 2\frac{s_X(L)}{b+1} \end{aligned}$$

Proof. First, fixing n and b, there is a  $C_2 \gg 0$  such that  $H^0(m(nL - bH)) \neq 0$  for all  $m \geq C_2$ . Using Lemma III.2.6 and Theorem III.2.8, we have the following formulas for the F-signatures:

(III.2.9) 
$$\mathfrak{z}_X(nbL) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1 p^e}{\|L\| nb}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnbL)}$$

and similarly,

(III.2.10) 
$$\mathfrak{z}_X(b(nL+H)) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1 p^e}{\|L\| nb}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))}.$$

Note that even though the formula from Lemma III.2.6 requires us to begin the sums (III.2.9) and (III.2.10) at m = 0, we may begin the sums at  $C_2$  since changing finitely many terms does not alter the limit.

According to formulas (III.2.9) and (III.2.10), to compare  $\mathfrak{s}_X(nbL)$  with  $\mathfrak{s}_X(b(nL+H))$ , we need to understand the difference

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))}.$$

We have an inclusion

(III.2.11) 
$$\frac{H^0(mbnL)}{H^0(mbnL) \cap I_e(mb(nL+H))} \hookrightarrow \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))}$$

coming from the inclusion of  $H^0(mbnL) \hookrightarrow H^0(mb(nL+H))$ .

Let  $J_e(mbnL) = H^0(mbnL) \cap I_e(mb(nL+H))$ . Then using (III.2.11), we have: (III.2.12)

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))} = \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{H^0(mnbL) + I_e(mb(nL+H))}$$

Then, using (III.2.12) and the triangle inequality, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(III.2.13)} \\ & \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))} \right| \\ & \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \left( \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{H^0(mnbL) + I_e(mb(nL+H))} \right) \right| \\ & \leq \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{H^0(mnbL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & \leq \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_2 p^e} (\min_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)} \right| \\ & + \left|$$

where in the last inequality, we use the triangle inequality again after adding and subtracting the term  $\sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{\|L\|nb}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)}.$ 

To proceed, we need to understand the difference between the spaces  $\frac{H^0(m(b+1)nL)}{I_e(m(b+1)nL)}$  and  $\frac{H^0(mbnL)}{J_e(mbnL)}$ . To this end, we prove the following:

**Lemma III.2.14.** Suppose, as in Lemma III.2.12, b is such that nL - bH is big and  $C_2$  is such that for all  $m \ge C_2$ , we have  $H^0(m(nL - bH)) \ne 0$ . Then, for  $m \ge C_2$  and all  $e \ge 1$ , choosing a non-zero global section  $d \in H^0(mnL - mbH)$  and setting  $c = d \otimes h^{mb}$ , where h is the section of  $\mathcal{O}_X(H)$  that corresponds to the rational function 1, we have the inclusions

(III.2.14)  $I_e(mnbL) \subset J_e(mnbL) \subset \{x \in H^0(mnbL) \mid cx \in I_e(mn(b+1)L)\}.$ 

Moreover, we have the following inequality (with  $C_1$  being the constant from Theorem III.2.8):

$$\begin{aligned} (\text{III.2.15}) \\ & \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{J_e(mnbL)} \right| \\ & \leq \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} 2 \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnbL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \end{aligned}$$

Before proving Lemma III.2.14, we note that putting (III.2.15) together with (III.2.13), we obtain:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mbnL)}{I_e(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{I_e(mb(nL+H))} \right| \\ & \leq \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} 2\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{H^0(mnbL)} + \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mb(nL+H))}{H^0(mnbL)} \right| \\ & + 2 \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnbL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{C_1 p^e} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we get

$$\begin{split} |\mathfrak{z}_{X}(nbL) - \mathfrak{z}_{X}(b(nL+H))| &= \\ \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \left| \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mbnL)}{I_{e}(mbnL)} - \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mb(nL+H))}{I_{e}(mb(nL+H))} \right| \\ &\leq \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \left( \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} 2 \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mn(b+1)L)}{H^{0}(mnbL)} + \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mb(nL+H))}{H^{0}(mnbL)} \right) \\ &+ 2 \left| \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mnbL)}{I_{e}(mnbL)} - \sum_{m=C_{2}}^{C_{1}p^{e}} \dim_{k} \frac{H^{0}(mn(b+1)L)}{I_{e}(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \right) \\ &\leq \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{C_{1}^{d+1}p^{e(d+1)}}{\|L\|^{d+1}n^{d+1}b^{d+1}p^{e(d+1)}(d+1)!} \left( 2n^{d}\operatorname{vol}(L) \left( (b+1)^{d} - b^{d} \right) \\ &+ b^{d}n^{d} \left( \operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L) \right) \right) + 2 \left| \mathfrak{z}_{X}(nbL) - \mathfrak{z}_{X}(n(b+1)L) \right| \\ &= \frac{C_{1}^{d+1}n^{d}b^{d}}{\|L\|^{d+1}n^{d+1}b^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \left( \frac{(b+1)^{d} - b^{d}}{b^{d}} \right) + \left( \operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L) \right) \right) \right) \end{split}$$

Finally, using the scaling property for  $s_X$  (Theorem III.1.3), we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| s_X(L) - s_X(L + \frac{1}{n}H) \right| \\ &= nb \left| s_X(nbL) - s_X(b(nL + H)) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{\left((b+1)^d - b^d\right)}{b^d} + \left(\operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L)\right) \right) \\ &+ 2nb \left| \frac{s_X(L)}{nb} - \frac{s_X(L)}{n(b+1)} \right| \\ &= \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{\left((b+1)^d - b^d\right)}{b^d} + \left(\operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L)\right) \right) + 2\frac{s_X(L)}{b+1} \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof of Lemma III.2.13, pending the proof of Lemma III.2.14, which we prove next.  $\hfill \square$ 

Notation III.2.15. Recall that L and H are fixed integral Cartier divisors, with L ample

and H effective and  $n \ge 1$  is any natural number. For any natural number  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we define:

$$I_e(k) := I_e(kL),$$
$$J_e(kn) := H^0(knL) \cap I_e(k(nL+H)),$$

where we view  $H^0(knL)$  as a subspace of  $H^0(k(nL+H))$  via the inclusion map  $\mathcal{O}_X(nkL) \subset \mathcal{O}_X(knL+kH)$ .

Proof of Lemma III.2.14. The first inclusion in (III.2.14) follows from Lemma III.2.11 by taking  $D_1 = mnbL$  and  $D_2 = mnbH$ . The second inclusion follows from Lemma III.2.12 and the second part of Lemma III.2.11, by taking  $D_1 = mb(nL + H)$  and  $D_2$  to be the effective divisor corresponding to  $d \in H^0(mnL - mbH)$ . Hence, we get

$$\begin{split} & \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{J_e(mnb)} \right| \\ & = \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{I_e(mn(b+1))}{cJ_e(mnb)} \right| \quad (\text{rearranging terms}) \\ & \leq \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{I_e(mn(b+1))}{cJ_e(mnb)} \quad (\text{triangle inequality}) \\ & \leq \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{I_e(mn(b+1))}{cJ_e(mnb)} \quad (\text{since } cI_e(mnb) \subset cJ_e(mnb) \text{ by (III.2.14)}) \\ & + \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cI_e(mnb)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{|L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cI_e(mnb)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{|L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cI_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \right| \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1)L)} \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} (\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1))} \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} (\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1))} \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} (\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1))} \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} (\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} \\ & = \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{||L||=k}} (\operatorname{Co$$

$$\leq \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{\|L\|nb}} 2\dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{cH^0(mnbL)} + \left| \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{\|L\|nb}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mnbL)}{I_e(mnb)} - \sum_{m=C_2}^{\frac{C_1p^e}{\|L\|nb}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mn(b+1)L)}{I_e(mn(b+1))} \right|$$

where in the second-last step, we rearrange the terms of the sum, and in the last step use the triangle inequality again. This completes the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

To complete the proof of Lemma III.2.10, we need the following lemma about the Lipschitz continuity of the volume function. We record a quick proof for ample classes that works for any algebraically closed field, and in any characteristic:

**Lemma III.2.16.** [Laz04, Theorem 2.2.44] Let X be a projective variety of dimension d over k. Fix a norm || || on the real Néron-Severi space. Then, there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that for any two real ample classes  $\xi$  and  $\xi'$ , we have:

$$|\operatorname{vol}(\xi) - \operatorname{vol}(\xi')| \le C \max(||\xi||, ||\xi'||)^{d-1} ||\xi - \xi'||.$$

*Proof.* Since the volume function coincides with the intersection form on the real Nef cone, it is given by a polynomial P of degree d once we choose a basis for  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . Hence, there exists a constant C (depending only on X), such that

$$||P'(x_1,\ldots,x_{\rho})|| \le C ||(x_1,\ldots,x_{\rho})||^{d-1}$$

for any vector  $(x_1, \ldots, x_{\rho}) \in \operatorname{Nef}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . With this observation, the Lemma follows from an application of the mean-value theorem.

**Completion of the proof of Lemma III.2.10:** Recall that L is a fixed ample divisor on X (in particular, L is big). Suppose L' is an ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor such that L' - L is big. Further assume that  $||L' - L|| < \frac{||L||}{2}$ . Then, we may write  $L' = L + \frac{1}{n}H$  for a suitable effective Cartier divisor H and some natural number  $n \ge 1$ .

We would like to apply Lemma III.2.13 to this choice of L, H and n. For this, we need to choose a natural number b such that nL - bH is big. We note that we may choose b in the following way: Since L is big, by openness of the big cone of X, there exists a constant  $C_4 > 0$  (depending only on L) such that any  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor D satisfying  $||L - D|| \leq C_4$  is also big. Since we need  $L - \frac{b}{n}H$  to be big, it is sufficient that  $||\frac{b}{n}H|| \leq C_4$ . So we may choose  $b(n) = \lfloor \frac{nC_4}{||H||} \rfloor$  so that  $b(n) \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Now, applying Lemma III.2.13 to this choice of n and b, we get:

(III.2.16)  
$$\begin{aligned} |\mathfrak{z}_X(L) - \mathfrak{z}_X(L + \frac{1}{n}H)| &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left(2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{\left((b+1)^d - b^d\right)}{b^d} + \left(\operatorname{vol}(L + \frac{1}{n}H) - \operatorname{vol}(L)\right)\right) + 2\frac{\mathfrak{z}_X(L)}{b+1} \end{aligned}$$

Further, we have

$$\frac{(b+1)^d - b^d}{b^d} \le \frac{2^d}{b}$$

and by Lemma III.2.16, there is a positive constant  $C_3$ , depending only on X and the norm  $\| \|$ , such that for any two ample classes  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in N^1_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$ ,

$$|\operatorname{vol}(\xi_1) - \operatorname{vol}(\xi_2)| \le C_3 \left( \max(||\xi_1||, ||\xi_2||) \right)^{d-1} ||\xi_1 - \xi_2||$$

Putting these together, along with (III.2.16), and using that  $\|\frac{1}{n}H\| = \|L - L'\|$ , we get

(III.2.17)  
$$\begin{aligned} |\mathfrak{z}_X(L) - \mathfrak{z}_X(L')| &\leq \quad \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{2^d}{b} + C_3 \|L'\|^{d-1} \|L' - L\| \right) + \frac{2}{b} \mathfrak{z}_X(L) \end{aligned}$$

Next, using the fact b was chosen to be  $b(n) = \lfloor \frac{nC_4}{\|H\|} \rfloor$ , we have  $b \ge \frac{nC_4}{2\|H\|}$ , using which we get

(III.2.18)  
$$\begin{aligned} |s_X(L) - s_X(L')| &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L^{d+1}\|(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{C_4} \|L - L'\| + C_3 \|L'\|^{d-1} \|L - L'\| \right) + \frac{4}{C_4} s_X(L) \|L - L'\| \end{aligned}$$

Lastly, since  $||L - L'|| < \frac{||L||}{2}$  we have ||L'|| < 2||L||. Hence, we have

(III.2.19)  
$$\begin{aligned} |s_X(L) - s_X(L')| &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( 2\operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{C_4} \|L - L'\| + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|L\|^{d-1} \|L - L'\| \right) + \frac{4}{C_4} s_X(L) \|L - L'\| \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we see that for any ample, integral divisor L, we have

$$|\mathfrak{s}_X(L) - \mathfrak{s}_X(L')| \le C(L) ||L - L'||$$

for all ample Q-divisors L' such that L' - L is big and  $||L - L'|| < \frac{||L||}{2}$  where C(L) is given by

$$C(L) = \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( \operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{C_4} + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|L\|^{d-1} \right) + \frac{4}{C_4} \mathfrak{s}_X(L).$$

This completes the proof of the Key Lemma III.2.10.

The proof of the Key Lemma III.2.10 actually shows a stronger and more explicit statement that will be useful to us. We record it in the following Proposition.

**Proposition III.2.17.** For any ample, integral divisor L, we have

$$|\mathfrak{s}_X(L) - \mathfrak{s}_X(L')| \le C(L) ||L - L'||$$

for all ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L' such that L' - L is big and  $||L - L'|| < \frac{||L||}{2}$ , where C(L) may be chosen to be of the form

$$C(L) = \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|L\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( \operatorname{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{C_4} + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|L\|^{d-1} \right) + \frac{4}{C_4} \mathfrak{s}_X(L).$$

Here,  $C_1 := C_1(X)$  is the constant (depending only on X) obtained in Theorem III.2.8,  $C_3$ depends only on X, and  $C_4 := C_4(L)$  is any constant (depending on L) with the property that the closed ball  $B = \{D \in N^1_{\mathbb{Q}}(X) \mid ||D - L|| \leq C_4\}$  is contained in the big cone of X.

Next, we examine how the constant C(L) in Proposition III.2.17 varies with L.

**Lemma III.2.18.** Let X be projective variety and  $\mathfrak{C}$  be a closed cone contained in the big cone of X. Then, there exists a constant  $\tilde{C}_4$  (depending only on  $\mathfrak{C}$ ) such that for any non-zero class  $D \in \mathfrak{C}$ , the closed ball

$$B(D) = \{ \xi \in \mathcal{N}^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X) \mid ||\xi - D|| < C_4 ||D|| \}$$

is contained in  $\operatorname{Big}(X)$ .

*Proof.* Consider the set

$$\kappa := \{ D' \in \mathcal{C} \, | \, \|D'\| = 1 \}.$$

Since  $\mathcal{C}$  is a closed cone,  $\kappa$  is a compact subset of  $\mathcal{C}$ . Moreover, since  $\mathcal{C}$  is contained in the big cone of X and because  $\operatorname{Big}(X)$  is an open subset of  $\operatorname{N}^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , there exists a positive real

number  $\tilde{C}_4 > 0$  such that the ball  $B_{\tilde{C}_4}(D) = \{\xi \mid ||D - \xi|| \le \tilde{C}_4\}$  is contained in the big cone for all  $D \in \kappa$ . Now the lemma follows by considering  $\frac{1}{\|D\|}D \in \kappa$  whenever D is a non-zero class in  $\mathcal{C}$ .

**Lemma III.2.19.** Given any two norms  $\| \|_1$  and  $\| \|_2$  on the vector space  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , we have positive constants  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$  such that for any vector  $\nu \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

$$\mu_1 \|\nu\|_1 \le \|\nu\|_2 \le \mu_2 \|\nu\|_1$$

*Proof.* See [Fol99, Section 5.1, Ex. 6].

**Lemma III.2.20.** Let  $e_1, \ldots, e_{\rho}$  be a basis for the Néron-Severi space of X, where each  $e_i$  corresponds to a big divisor. Let C denote the closed cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's and || || denote the sup-norm with respect to the basis  $\{e_i\}$ . For any L in C, let  $\lambda_i(L)$  denote the  $i^{th}$ -coordinate of L with respect to the basis  $\{e_i\}$ . Suppose we have two positive numbers  $0 < A_1 < A_2$  and a compact subset  $\kappa$  of C defined by

$$\kappa = \{\xi \in \mathcal{C} \mid A_1 \le \|\xi\| \le A_2\}.$$

In this situation, for every D in the interior of  $\kappa$ , there exists a positive real number r(D) such that the following three conditions are satisfied:

- 1.  $r(D) < \frac{A_1}{2}$ .
- 2. The closed ball

$$B_{r(D)} := \{ D' \mid ||D' - D|| \le r(D) \}$$

is contained in the interior of  $\kappa$ .

3. For any two  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L and L' in  $B_{r(D)}$ , setting  $\lambda = \max_i \{\frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')}\}$ , we have

$$A_1 < \lambda \|L'\| < A_2$$

and

$$\|\lambda L' - L\| < \frac{A_1}{2}.$$

*Proof.* First, pick any positive number  $r < \frac{A_1}{4}$  such that  $B_r$ , the closed ball of radius r around D is contained in  $\kappa$  (this is possible since D is contained in the interior of  $\kappa$ ). Now, there exists a positive number  $\varepsilon$  such that for any L in  $B_{r/2}$ , both  $(1 - \varepsilon)L$  and  $(1 + \varepsilon)L$  are

contained in  $B_r$ . Finally pick 0 < r(D) < r/2 so small that for each *i*, we have

$$\left|1 - \frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')}\right| < \varepsilon$$

for all L, L' in  $B_{r(D)}$ . This is possible due to the local uniform continuity of the function  $\lambda_i(L)$  as L varies. By construction, for any  $L, L' \in B_{r(D)}$ , we have

$$1 - \varepsilon < \lambda = \max_{i} \left\{ \frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')} \right\} < 1 + \varepsilon.$$

This ensures that  $\lambda L'$  is in  $B_r$  and since  $r < \frac{A_1}{4}$ , also that

$$|\lambda L' - L|| \le ||\lambda L' - D|| + ||D - L|| < \frac{3r}{2} < \frac{A_1}{2}.$$

г				
L				
L				
-	-	-	-	

Finally, we can now prove Theorem III.2.2.

**Completion of the proof of Theorem III.2.2:** Fix a real class D in the ample cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ . Then, to prove that  $s_X$  is locally Lipschitz around D, by Lemma III.2.19, we may a pick a suitable norm depending on D. Since the ample cone  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  is an open subset of  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , given D in  $\operatorname{Amp}_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , we may pick a basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_\rho$  for  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  such that each  $e_i$  is the class of an ample invertible sheaf and such that D in contained in the interior of the cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's (equivalently,  $D = \sum a_i e_i$  with each  $a_i > 0$ ). Let  $\mathfrak{C} = \{a_i e_i | a_i \ge 0\}$  denote the closed cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's and || || denote the sup-norm with respect to the basis  $\{e_i\}$ .

Pick two positive real numbers  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  such that  $0 < A_1 < ||D|| < A_2$ . Let  $\kappa = \{D' \in \mathcal{C} \mid A_1 \leq ||D'|| \leq A_2\}$ . We will first consider the case of any two Q-divisors L and L' in  $\kappa$  such that L' - L is big and  $||L' - L|| < \frac{||L||}{2}$ . Choose an integer  $r \gg 0$  such that rL is integral. Then, we may apply Proposition III.2.17 to rL and rL', to get

(III.2.20) 
$$|\mathfrak{z}_X(rL) - \mathfrak{z}_X(rL')| \le C(rL) ||rL - rL'||$$

where

(III.2.21) 
$$C(rL) = \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|rL\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \left( \operatorname{vol}(rL) \frac{2^{d+1}}{C_4(rL)} + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|rL\|^{d-1} \right) + \frac{4}{C_4(rL)} \mathfrak{o}_X(rL).$$

Now, applying Lemma III.2.18 to the cone  $\mathfrak{C}$ , we may pick  $C_4(rL)$  with the property that

$$C_4(rL) \ge \tilde{C}_4 \|rL\|$$

for some constant  $\tilde{C}_4$  (depending only on the basis  $\{e_i\}$ ) and for all r and all  $L \in \mathcal{C}$ . Using this in (III.2.21), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \text{(III.2.22)} \\ C(rL) &\leq \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{\|rL\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \Big( \text{vol}(rL) \frac{2^{d+1}}{\tilde{C}_4 \|rL\|} + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|rL\|^{d-1} \Big) + \frac{4}{\tilde{C}_4 \|rL\|} s_X(rL) \\ &= \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{(d+1)! \|L\|^{d+1} r^{d+1}} \Big( r^d \text{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{r\tilde{C}_4 \|L\|} + 2^{d-1}C_3 r^{d-1} \|L\|^{d-1} \Big) + \frac{4}{r^2 \tilde{C}_4 \|L\|} s_X(L) \\ &= \frac{1}{r^2} \left( \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{(d+1)! \|L\|^{d+1}} \Big( \text{vol}(L) \frac{2^{d+1}}{\tilde{C}_4 \|L\|} + 2^{d-1}C_3 \|L\|^{d-1} \Big) + \frac{4}{\tilde{C}_4 \|L\|} s_X(L) \right) \end{aligned}$$

Now, using the fact that  $\operatorname{vol}(L)$  is a continuous function of L [LM09], we may find a constant  $A_3$  (depending only on the compact set  $\kappa$ ) such that  $\operatorname{vol}(L) \leq A_3$  for all L in  $\kappa$ . Using this together with the bounds  $A_1 \leq ||L|| \leq A_2$  in (III.2.22), we get

$$C(rL) \leq \frac{1}{r^2} \left( \frac{C_1^{d+1}}{(d+1)! \|A_1\|^{d+1}} \left( A_3 \frac{2^{d+1}}{\tilde{C}_4 A_1} + 2^{d-1} C_3 A_2^{d-1} \right) + \frac{4}{\tilde{C}_4 A_1} \right).$$

So setting

$$C'(D) = \left(\frac{C_1^{d+1}}{(d+1)! \|A_1\|^{d+1}} \left(A_3 \frac{2^{d+1}}{\tilde{C}_4 A_1} + 2^{d-1} C_3 A_2^{d-1}\right) + \frac{4}{\tilde{C}_4 A_1}\right),$$

and using it in (III.2.20), we have

$$|s_X(rL) - s_X(rL')| \le \frac{1}{r^2}C'(D)||rL - rL'||$$

Using the scaling property of  $\mathcal{I}_X$  for  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors (Theorem III.1.3), this in turn implies,

(III.2.23) 
$$|\mathfrak{s}_X(L) - \mathfrak{s}_X(L')| \le C'(D) ||L - L'||$$

for any two Q-divisors L, L' in  $\kappa$  such that L' - L is big and  $||L - L'|| \leq \frac{||L||}{2}$ . Note that C'(D) only depends on the set  $\kappa$  and hence only on D.

To complete the proof of Theorem III.2.2, we need to remove the assumption that L' - L

is big from inequality (III.2.23). For any L in  $\mathcal{C}$ , let  $\lambda_i(L)$  denote the  $i^{\text{th}}$ -coordinate of L with respect to the basis  $\{e_i\}$  (for  $1 \leq i \leq \rho$ ). Now, since D is contained in the interior of  $\kappa$ , by Lemma III.2.20 there exists a positive r(D) satisfying the following three conditions:

1. 
$$r(D) < \frac{A_1}{2}$$
.

2. The closed ball

$$B_{r(D)} := \{ D' \mid ||D' - D|| \le r(D) \}$$

is contained in the interior of  $\kappa$ .

3. For any two Q-divisors L and L' in  $B_{r(D)}$ , setting  $\lambda = \max_i \{\frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')}\}$ , we have

$$A_1 < \lambda \|L'\| < A_2$$

and

$$\|\lambda L' - L\| < \frac{A_1}{2}$$

Fix such an r(D). For any two Q-divisors L and L' in  $B_{r(D)}$  such that L' is not a multiple of L, setting  $\lambda = \max_i \{\frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')}\}$ , then  $\lambda L' - L$  is ample (hence, big). Indeed, recall that  $e_i$ 's are an ample basis for  $N_i^{(1)}X$ ) and the *j*-th coordinate of  $\lambda L' - L$  is

$$\lambda\lambda_j(L') - \lambda_j(L) = \lambda_j(L')\left(\lambda - \frac{\lambda_j(L)}{\lambda_j(L')}\right) \ge 0$$

The right hand side is non-negative since  $\lambda$  is the maximum of  $\lambda_i(L)/\lambda_i(L')$ . Now, if  $\lambda = \lambda_j(L)/\lambda_j(L')$  for all j, then L' is a multiple of L. Therefore, if L' is not a multiple of L, one of the coefficients of  $\lambda L' - L$  is strictly positive, which implies  $\lambda L' - L$  is ample.

Furthermore,  $\lambda L' \in \kappa$  and  $\|\lambda L' - L\| < \frac{\|L\|}{2}$  (these are ensured by condition (c) on r(D)). Hence, using (III.2.23) we have

$$|\mathfrak{z}_X(\lambda L') - \mathfrak{z}_X(L)| \le C'(D) \|\lambda L' - L\|$$

for any two ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L and L' contained in  $B_{r(D)}$ .

Pick a positive constant  $A_4$  (depending only on D and r(D)) such that we  $\lambda_i(L) \ge A_4$  for any L in  $B_{r(D)}$  and all i. This is possible because  $\kappa$ , hence the closed ball  $B_{r(D)}$  is contained in the interior of the cone  $\mathcal{C}$ . Since for some i, we have  $\lambda = \frac{\lambda_i(L)}{\lambda_i(L')}$ , we have

$$|\lambda - 1| \le \frac{|\lambda_i - \lambda'_i|}{\lambda'_i} \le \frac{\|L - L'\|}{A_4}.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\left|\frac{1}{\lambda} - 1\right| \le \frac{\|L - L'\|}{A_4}$$

To conclude the argument, we note that

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathfrak{z}_X(L) - \mathfrak{z}_X(L')| &\leq |\mathfrak{z}_X(L) - \mathfrak{z}_X(\lambda L')| + |\mathfrak{z}_X(\lambda L') - \mathfrak{z}_X(L')| \\ &\leq C'(D) \|L - \lambda L'\| + |\frac{1}{\lambda} - 1|\mathfrak{z}_X(L') \\ &\leq C'(D) \|L - L'\| + C'(D)|1 - \lambda| \|L'\| + |\frac{1}{\lambda} - 1|\mathfrak{z}_X(L') \\ &\leq C'(D) \|L - L'\| + C'(D) \frac{A_2}{A_4} \|L - L'\| + \frac{1}{A_4} \|L - L'\|. \end{aligned}$$

Lastly, if L' were a multiple of L, then only the last term in the above inequality suffices. Thus, we see that for our choice of r(D), choosing  $C(D) = C'(D) + C'(D)\frac{A_2}{A_4} + \frac{1}{A_4}$  works for the inequality (III.2.1), hence proving Theorem III.2.2.  $\Box$ 

# III.3: Extending the *F*-signature Function to the Nef Cone.

In this section, we will prove that the F-signature function, originally defined in Section 3 only on the ample cone (Definition II.2.2) extends continuously to the non-zero classes in the nef cone.

**Theorem III.3.1.** Suppose that X is a globally F-regular projective variety of dimension d. Then the F-signature function  $s_X$  extends continuously to all non-zero classes of the Nef cone Nef<sub>R</sub>(X). Moreover, if D is a nef Cartier divisor which is not big, then  $s_X(D) = 0$ .

We prove Theorem III.3.1 in two parts, depending on whether or not L is big. First, we have the following comparison of the F-signature function with the volume function:

**Lemma III.3.2.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety of dimension d. Fix a norm || || on the Néron-Severi space of X. Let  $C_1$  be a constant such that for any non-zero effective divisor L, we have (see Definition III.2.5 for the notation),

$$I_e(mL) = H^0(mL) \text{ for all } m > \frac{C_1}{\|L\|} p^e.$$

The existence of such a constant is guaranteed by Theorem III.2.8. Then, for any ample Cartier divisor D on X, we have

(III.3.1) 
$$s_X(D) \le \frac{C_1^{d+1} \operatorname{vol}(D)}{\|D\|^{d+1} (d+1)!}.$$

Note that the right-hand side has the same order of decay as the *F*-signature function, decaying in the order of  $1/\|D\|$  as the norm of divisor  $\|D\| \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* Using Lemma III.2.6 to calculate the F-signature  $\mathcal{I}_X(D)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} s_X(D) &= \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mD)}{I_e(mD)} \\ &= \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \sum_{m=0}^{\frac{C_1 p^e}{\|D\|}} \dim_k \frac{H^0(mD)}{I_e(mD)} \\ &\leq \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \sum_{m=0}^{\frac{C_1 p^e}{\|D\|}} \dim_k H^0(mD) \\ &\leq \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{1}{p^{e(d+1)}} \frac{\operatorname{vol}(D)}{(d+1)!} \left(\frac{C_1 p^e}{\|D\|}\right)^{d+1} \quad \text{(using the Hilbert-polynomial of } D) \\ &= \frac{C_1^{d+1} \operatorname{vol}(D)}{\|D\|^{d+1}(d+1)!} \end{split}$$

Proof of Theorem III.3.1. First suppose that D is a non-zero nef divisor that is not big. Then, for any sequence  $\{L_t\}_t$  of ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors approaching D, choose a positive integer  $r_t$  for each  $t \geq 1$  such that  $r_t L_t$  is integral Cartier. Then, we see that using Lemma III.3.2,

$$\mathfrak{s}_X(L_t) = r_t \,\mathfrak{s}_X(r_t L_t) \le \frac{C_1^{d+1} \mathrm{vol}(r_t L_t)}{\|r_t L_t\|^{d+1} (d+1)!} = \frac{C_1^{d+1} \mathrm{vol}(L_t)}{\|L_t\|^{d+1} (d+1)!}$$

Since  $||D|| \neq 0$ , we have that  $||L_t||$  approaches a non-zero number (namely, ||D||) and  $\operatorname{vol}(L_t)$  approaches 0 as  $t \to \infty$  (since D is not big), this shows that  $\mathfrak{z}_X(L_t) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . As the sequence  $\{L_t\}$  chosen was arbitrary, this shows that the F-signature function  $\mathfrak{z}_X$  extends continuously by zero to all non-zero nef divisors L that are not big.

Now suppose that D is a big and nef divisor. Following the proof of Theorem III.2.2, to prove that  $\mathfrak{z}_X$  is locally Lipschitz for ample divisors around D, by Lemma III.2.19, we may a pick a suitable norm depending on D. Since the big cone  $\operatorname{Big}(X)$  is an open subset of  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ , given D in  $\operatorname{Big}(X)$ , we may pick a basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_\rho$  for  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  such that each  $e_i$  is the class of a big invertible sheaf and such that D in contained in the interior of the cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's (equivalently,  $D = \sum a_i e_i$  with each  $a_i > 0$ ). Let  $\mathbb{C} = \{a_i e_i | a_i \ge 0\}$ denote the closed cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's and  $\| \|$  denote the sup-norm with respect to the basis  $\{e_i\}$ . Then, arguing verbatim as in the final step of the proof of Theorem III.2.2 and applying the argument to all ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L, L' contained in  $\mathcal{C}$ , we get positive numbers r(D) and C(D) such that

$$|\mathfrak{s}_X(L) - \mathfrak{s}_X(L')| \le C(D) ||L - L'||$$

for any two ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L and L' contained in a ball of radius r(D) around D. This proves that  $\mathfrak{s}_X$  is uniformly continuous in a neighbourhood of D, which gives us a unique continuous extension of  $\mathfrak{s}_X$  to D.

The *F*-signature function of the blow-up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  at a point provides an instructive example of the behavior of the function on the boundary. For a formula for general Hirzebruch surfaces, see [HS17].

**Example III.3.3.** Let  $X = Bl_x(\mathbb{P}^2)$  be the blow-up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  at x = [0:0:1]. Let H denote the pull-back of a line in  $\mathbb{P}^2$  passing through x and E be the exceptional divisor for the blow-up. Then H and E form a basis for the Néron-Severi space and the nef cone of X is given by the divisors aH - bE such that  $0 \le b \le a$ . For L = aH - bE, we can compute the F-signature of L using the formula described in [VK12], and it is given by

$$\phi_X(L) = \begin{cases} \frac{a-b}{ab}, & \text{if } b \le a \le \frac{3}{2}b \\ \frac{2b-a}{2a(a-b)} + \frac{(3b-a)(2a-3b)}{6b(a-b)^2} + \frac{(2a-3b)^2}{2a(a-b)^2}, & \text{if } \frac{3}{2}b \le a \le 2b \\ \frac{1}{a} - \frac{b^3 + (a-2b)^3}{6ab(a-b)^2} & \text{if } 2b \le a \le 3b \\ \frac{1}{a} - \frac{b^2 + (a-2b)^2 + (a-3b)(a-2b) + (a-3b)^2}{6a(a-b)^2} & \text{if } 3b \le a \end{cases}$$



Figure III.1: The *F*-signature function of the blow up of  $\mathbb{P}^2$  at a point.

Note that along the line a = b, which corresponds to a nef but not big boundary face, the *F*-signature extends to the zero function (as proved in Theorem III.3.1). On the other hand, along b = 0, which is the big and nef boundary face, letting  $b \to 0$  yields  $\delta_X(L) = \frac{1}{a} - \frac{a^2 + a^2 + a^2}{6a^2} = \frac{1}{2a}$ . It turns out that this corresponds to the *F*-signature of the cone over the pair ( $\mathbb{P}^2, \mathfrak{m}_x$ ) with respect to the divisor aL on  $\mathbb{P}^2$  (see [BST11, Theorem 4.20] for the definition of the *F*-signature of pairs).

**Remark III.3.4.** Theorem III.3.1 gives us a unique extension of the F-signature function to the non-zero classes in the nef cone of X. Further, we also know that for nef divisors that are not big, the extension is 0. Thus, it is natural to ask what the extension to a big and nef divisor is. In forthcoming work, we explore this question and provide some answers in terms of F-signature of pairs, as indicated by Example III.3.3.

In particular, we can ask if the extension of the F-signature function to all big and nef divisors is positive. Motivated by this (and Lemma III.3.2), we raise the following question on lower bounds for the F-signature function:

**Question III.3.5.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety and || || be a fixed norm on  $N^1(X)$ . Then, does there exist a constant C > 0 (depending only on X) such that, we have

$$\mathfrak{z}_X(L) \ge \frac{C \mathrm{vol}(L)}{\|L\|^{d+1}}$$

for all ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors L?

# III.4: Local Upper Bounds for the F-signature Function

In this section, we prove effective local upper bounds for the F-signature function (Definition II.2.2).

**Theorem III.4.1.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety. Let  $d = \dim X$  be positive. Fix a basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_{\rho}$  for the Néron-Severi space  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  such that each  $e_i$  corresponds to the class of an ample and globally generated invertible sheaf. Let C denote the simplicial cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's, that is,  $\mathbb{C} = \{\sum a_i e_i | a_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\}$ . Let || || denote the sup-norm on  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  with respect to the  $e_i$ 's. Then, for any non-zero class L in C, we have

(III.4.1) 
$$s_X(L) \le \frac{(d^2 + 2d)^{d+1} \operatorname{vol}(L)}{\lfloor \|L\| \rfloor^{d+1} (d+1)!}$$

**Lemma III.4.2.** Suppose L is a globally generated ample divisor and H any nef divisor on X. Then, for all  $e \ge 1$ , we have:

1.

$$I_e(mL) = H^0(mL) \text{ for } m > (d^2 + d)p^e$$

2.

$$I_e(m(nL+H)) = H^0(m(nL+H)) \text{ for all } m > \frac{(d^2+2d)p^e}{n}$$

*Proof.* Let S be the section ring of X with respect to L. And for any  $j \ge 0$ , let  $M^j$  be the S-module  $\bigoplus_{t>0} \mathcal{O}_X(jH + tL)$ .

1. First, we claim that S is generated as a graded ring by homogeneous elements of degree at most d. This follows from Mumford's Theorem [Laz04, Theorem 1.8.5], if we show that the trivial bundle  $\mathcal{O}_X$  is d-regular with respect to L. Since X is globally F-regular and L is ample, by Theorem II.3.7, we have that

$$H^i(X, \mathcal{O}_X((d-i)L)) = 0$$
 for all  $i > 0$ .

This implies that  $\mathcal{O}_X$  is *d*-regular with respect to *L* and hence that *S* is generated by elements of degree at most *d*.

Since the section ring S is generated by elements of degree  $\leq d$ , the homogeneous maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m} = S_{>0}$  is generated in degrees  $\leq d$ . By [HS06, Proposition 8.3.8], there exist elements  $x_0, \ldots, x_d$  (not necessarily homogeneous), such that all terms of each  $x_i$  have degree at most d, and the integral closure  $(x_0, \ldots, x_d)$  is equal to the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Now, by using the Briançon-Skoda theorem in the strongly F-regular ring S [HH90, Theorem 5.4], we have

$$\mathfrak{m}^{(d+1)p^e} = \overline{(x_0^{p^e}, \dots, x_d^{p^e})^{d+1}} \subseteq (x_0^{p^e}, \dots, x_d^{p^e}).$$

Therefore, if  $m \ge d(d+1)p^e$ , for any element  $x \in S_m = H^0(mL)$ , by the pigeon-hole principle, we have  $x \in \mathfrak{m}^{(d+1)p^e}$ , and consequently,  $x \in (x_0^{p^e}, \ldots, x_d^{p^e})$ . Hence, the map  $\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(mL)$  sending  $1 \mapsto F^e_*x$  cannot split.

2. Similarly as in part (a), we claim that for any  $j \ge 0$ ,  $M^j$  is generated over S by elements of degree at most d. For this, again by Mumford's theorem, it is enough to show that  $\mathcal{O}_X(jH)$  is d-regular with respect to L. Since H is nef, by Theorem II.3.7 we again have:

$$H^{i}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}(jH + (d-i)L)) = 0 \quad \text{for all } i > 0.$$

Suppose  $f \in H^0(m(nL+H) \setminus I_e(m(nL+H))$  and  $m > \frac{(d^2+2d)p^e}{n}$ , then we may write  $f = \sum r_i f_i$  for  $r_i \in S$  and  $f_i \in M^m$  with degree of  $f_i$  at most d. Then the degree of each  $r_i$  is at least  $(d^2+d)p^e$ . Now, since by assumption, the map  $\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(m(nL+H))$  sending 1 to  $F^e_*f$  splits, we must have that for some  $i, r_i \in H^0(kL) \setminus I_e(kL)$  for a

suitable  $k > (d^2 + d)p^e$ , contradicting part (a) of the lemma. Hence, we must have  $I_e(m(nL + H)) = H^0(m(nL + H))$  for all  $m > \frac{(d^2 + 2d)p^e}{n}$ . This completes the proof of the lemma.

**Lemma III.4.3.** Fix a basis  $e_1, \ldots, e_{\rho}$  of  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  such that each  $e_i$  corresponds to the class of an ample and globally generated invertible sheaf. Let  $\mathbb{C}$  denote the simplicial cone generated by the  $e_i$ 's, that is,  $\mathbb{C} = \{\sum a_i e_i | a_i \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\}$ . Let || || denote the sup-norm on  $N^1_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$  with respect to the  $e_i$ 's. Then, for any invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{L}$  such that its class L in the Néron-Severi space satisfies  $L \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $||L|| \geq d$  (where d is the dimension of X), we have

- (a)  $\mathcal{L}$  is ample and globally generated.
- (b) Further,

$$I_e(mL) = H^0(mL) \text{ for all } m > \frac{(d^2 + 2d)p^e}{\lfloor \|L\| \rfloor}$$

Proof. 1. Ampleness of  $\mathcal{L}$  follows from the assumption that L lies in  $\mathcal{C}$  and L is non-zero since  $||L|| \neq 0$ . It remains to show global generation of  $\mathcal{L}$ . For this, we note that since  $||L|| \geq d$ , there is some i such that we may decompose the divisor L as  $L = dL_i + H$  where H is some nef Cartier divisor and  $L_i$  is a Cartier divisor corresponding to the class  $e_i$ . This follows from the assumption that  $e_i$ 's are integral, ample and globally generated and the fact that the sup-norm is achieved by some coordinate of L. Hence, applying Theorem II.3.7, we have

$$H^p(X, \mathcal{O}_X(L-p\,L_i)) = 0 \quad \text{for all } p > 0.$$

Therefore,  $\mathcal{L}$  is 0-regular with respect to the globally generated ample divisor  $L_i$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{L}$  is globally generated itself.

2. Since  $||L|| \ge d$ , for some  $0 \le i \le \rho$ , we may write  $L = \lfloor ||L|| \rfloor e_i + H$  for some integral and nef class H. Now, applying Part (b) of Lemma III.4.2, we get

$$I_e(mL) = H^0(mL)$$
 for all  $m > \frac{(d^2 + 2d)p^e}{\lfloor \|L\| \rfloor}$ .

Proof of Theorem III.4.1: By Theorem III.2.2, the *F*-signature function is continuous, hence we may prove Theorem III.4.1 only when *L* is an ample  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor. Further, since both sides of (III.4.1) scale inverse-linearly, we may assume that *L* is a Cartier divisor and  $||L|| \ge d$ . Then, applying Part (b) of Lemma III.4.3, the Theorem follows from Lemma III.3.2 by using  $\frac{d^2+2d}{\lfloor \|L\| \rfloor}$  instead of  $\frac{C_1}{\|L\|}$ .

# CHAPTER IV The Frobenius-Alpha Invariant

In analogy with Tian's  $\alpha$ -invariant in complex geometry, we define the "Frobenius-alpha" invariant (denoted by  $\alpha_F$ ) for any pair (X, L) where X is a globally F-regular projective variety (Definition II.3.2) and L is an ample Cartier divisor on X (Section IV.2). In Section IV.3, we will specialize to the case of Fano varieties polarized by their anti-canonical divisors. Finally, in Section IV.4, we discuss some examples of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant and highlight interesting behaviour in the process of reduction modulo p of a complex Fano variety. We begin with some preliminaries on the geometric aspects of cones over projective varieties and Frobenius splittings on the cones. These results allow us to apply global geometric techniques to the study of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant and the F-signature of section rings. Throughout this chapter, unless specified otherwise, k will denote a perfect field of characteristic p > 0.

# **IV.1:** Frobenius Splittings on Cones

## **IV.1.1:** Affine and Projective cones

Given an integral, projective scheme X over a noetherian domain A, and an ample invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{L}$  over X, let S be the corresponding section ring. Assume that  $S_0 = A$ . Let  $\overline{X}$  be the projective A-scheme defined as

$$\overline{X} = \operatorname{Proj}(S[z])$$

where S[z] is the N-graded ring obtained by adjoining a new variable z to S in degree 1. Then,  $\overline{X}$  is called the *projective cone over* X with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ . Denoting by  $\mathfrak{m}$  the homogeneous irrelevant ideal  $\bigoplus_{j>0} S_j$  of S, we have a map of graded A-algebras

$$S[z] \to (S/\mathfrak{m})[z] \cong A[z]$$

that induces the "zero-section" map

$$\sigma: \operatorname{Spec}(A) \to \overline{X}$$

over A. We call this map the "zero-section of the cone  $\overline{X}$ ". We also have natural maps of graded rings

$$S \subset S[z] \to S[z]/(z) \cong S$$

which, via the construction in [Har77, II, Exercise 2.14 (b)] induce maps

$$i_{\infty}: X \hookrightarrow \overline{X}$$

called the "section at infinity" and

$$\pi: \overline{X} \setminus \sigma(\operatorname{Spec}(A)) \to X$$

where  $\sigma$  is the zero-section described above. It follows from the Proj construction that  $\pi$  is an  $\mathbb{A}^1$ -bundle over X. The affine cone  $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(S)$  is isomorphic to  $\overline{X} \setminus i_{\infty}(X)$ , and the zero section  $\sigma$  actually maps into Y. Thus,  $\pi$  restricts to a map  $Y \setminus \sigma(\operatorname{Spec}(A)) \to X$  that is a  $\operatorname{Spec}(A[t, t^{-1}])$ -bundle over X. See [HS04, Section 2] and [Kol13, Section 3.1] for details.

#### IV.1.2: Cones over $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors

We follow the description of the cone over a Q-divisor as in [SS10, Section 5], where it is explained for a projective variety over a field. Essentially the same description holds in the following more general relative setting: Let A be a normal domain of finite type over k, and X be an integral, normal, projective scheme over A. Assume that X is flat over Aand of positive relative dimension. Fix an ample invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{L}$  over X and S be the corresponding section ring. Assume further that  $S_0 = A$ . Note that this guarantees that the codimension of the zero section  $\sigma$  is at least two in Y = Spec(S). Thus, it follows that S is normal as well. In this situation, given any integral Weil-divisor  $D = \sum a_i D_i$  (for distinct prime Weil divisors  $D_i$ ) on X, we can construct the corresponding Weil divisor  $\tilde{D}$  on Y, the "cone over D", in three equivalent ways:

- 1. Let  $\tilde{D}_i$  be the prime Weil divisor on Y corresponding to the height one prime  $\mathfrak{p}_i \subset S$  corresponding to  $D_i$ . Then  $\tilde{D} = \sum a_i \tilde{D}_i$ .
- 2. Let  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  be the reflexive sheaf on X corresponding to D. Then,  $\tilde{D}$  is the divisor corresponding to the reflexive S-module defined by

$$M := M(D, \mathcal{L}) = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(D) \otimes \mathcal{L}^j).$$

Note that the fact that M is reflexive can be seen by applying Part (3) of Lemma II.1.2

to each twist of the graded module M.

3. Let  $\pi : Y \setminus \sigma(\operatorname{Spec}(A)) \to X$  be the  $A[t, t^{-1}]$ -bundle map defined in the previous paragraph. Then, we may define  $\tilde{D}$  to be the pull back of D to Y. More precisely, near the generic point of a component of D, if D is given by an equation f, then is  $\tilde{D}$ is defined by  $\pi^* f$ . We then take closures to obtain a Weil-divisor on Y. This defines a unique divisor on Y since  $\pi$  is flat and  $\operatorname{codim}_Y(\sigma(\operatorname{Spec}(A)))$  is at least 2.

Given a principal divisor D on X defined by the rational function f, the cone over D can be seen to be the principal divisor defined by f again. The construction of the cone clearly preserves addition of divisors. This implies that cone construction extends to  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisors and preserves the linear equivalence of Weil-divisors. Furthermore, by taking closures, this construction also extends to the projective cone  $\overline{X}$  described in the previous paragraph. Finally, using the third description of the cone, we see that the cone over the canonical (Weil-)divisor  $K_X$  is the canonical divisor of  $K_Y$  (recall that Y is also normal).

## IV.1.3: F-signature of cones over projective varieties.

In this subsection, we collect some results about the F-signature of cones over projective varieties (and pairs) using global splittings on X, extending the discussion from the previous subsection. Note that some of the results stated here are proved in later chapters, but they are collected here since they are used repeatedly.

We begin with a useful lemma that relates global Frobenius splitting of a divisor to splitting "on the cone". This is a slight generalization to the relative setting of [Smi00, Theorem 3.10], where it is proved over a field.

**Lemma IV.1.1.** Let A be a regular ring of finite type over k and X be an integral, normal projective scheme over A (with  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = A$ ). Assume that X is flat over A and of positive relative dimension. Fix an ample invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{L}$  and S be the corresponding section ring. Fix an effective Weil divisor D over X and  $\tilde{D}$  be the cone over D with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$ . Then, for any  $e \geq 1$ , the natural map

$$\mathcal{O}_X \to F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(D))$$

splits as a map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules if and only if the map on the cones

$$S \to F^e_*(S(\tilde{D}))$$

splits as a map of S-modules.

*Proof.* Using the second description of the cone over a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor in Section IV.1.2, and Part (3) of Lemma II.1.2, the proof is exactly the same as that in [SS10, Proposition 5.3].

Returning to working over a perfect field k, we next recall a formula to compute the F-signature of the section ring of a projective variety proved in Chapter III. Fix a normal projective variety X over k and  $\Delta$  be an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor over X.

**Definition IV.1.2.** For any Weil-divisor D on X and  $e \ge 1$ , define the k-vector subspace  $I_e^{\Delta}(D)$  of  $H^0(X, D)$  as follows:

$$I_e^{\Delta}(D) := \{ f \in H^0(X, D) \mid \varphi(F_*^e f) = 0 \text{ for all } \varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F_*^e \mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil + D), \mathcal{O}_X) \}.$$

**Remark IV.1.3.** Note that the subspace  $I_e^{\Delta}(D)$  only depends on the sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_X(D)$  and not on the specific divisor D in its linear equivalence class.

**Remark IV.1.4.** Let L be an ample divisor on X. Then, it follows from Lemma IV.1.1 that  $I_e^{\Delta}(mL)$  is the degree m component of the  $\Delta$ -splitting ideal of the section ring of S with respect to L (Definition II.2.1).

**Lemma IV.1.5.** (Lemma III.2.6) Let L be an ample Cartier divisor on X and S denote the section ring of X with respect to L. Let  $\Delta_S$  denote the cone over  $\Delta$  with respect to L (Section IV.1.2). Then, for any  $e \geq 1$ , if  $a_e^{\Delta}(L)$  denotes the  $\Delta_S$ -free-rank of  $F_*^eS$  (Definition II.2.1), then  $a_e^{\Delta}(L)$  is computed by the following formula:

(IV.1.1) 
$$a_e^{\Delta}(L) = \frac{1}{[k':k]} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(X, mL)}{I_e^{\Delta}(mL)}$$

where k' denotes the field  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ . Hence, the F-signature of  $(X, \Delta)$  with respect to L can be computed as

$$\mathfrak{z}_{(X,\Delta)}(L) := \mathfrak{z}(S(X,L),\Delta_S) = \frac{1}{[k':k]} \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(X,mL)}{I_e^{\Delta}(mL)}}{p^{e(\dim(X)+1)}}$$

*Proof.* Using Lemma IV.1.1, we have that

$$I_e^{\Delta_S} = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} I_e^{\Delta}(mL).$$

See Definition II.2.1 for the definition of  $I_e^{\Delta_s}$ . Therefore, we have

$$\ell_S(S/I_e^{\Delta_S}) = \sum_{m \ge 0} \dim_{k'} \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e^{\Delta}(mL)} = \frac{1}{[k':k]} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(X,mL)}{I_e^{\Delta}(mL)}$$

where  $\ell_S$  denotes the length as an S-module. This completes the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

## IV.1.4: Duality and the trace map

It will be convenient to think of the subspaces  $I_e^{\Delta}$  (Definition IV.1.2) using a pairing arising out of duality for the Frobenius map. Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a projective pair and D be any Weil divisor on X. We continue to work over any perfect field k of characteristic p > 0. But in this subsection, we assume that  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$ .

Recall that by applying duality to the Frobenius map, we get an isomorphism of reflexive sheaves:

(IV.1.2) 
$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathfrak{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathfrak{O}_X(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil+D),\mathfrak{O}_X)\cong F^e_*\mathfrak{O}_X(-(p^e-1)K_X-\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil-D).$$

See [SS10, Section 4.1] for a detailed discussion regarding duality for the Frobenius map. Furthermore, when D = 0, this gives an isomorphism

(IV.1.3) 
$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil,\mathcal{O}_X)) \cong F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(-(p^e-1)K_X-\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil).$$

Composing this isomorphism (over the global sections) with the evaluation at  $F_*^e 1$  map, we obtain the trace map:

(IV.1.4) 
$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\Delta}^{e}: H^{0}\left(X, F_{*}^{e}\left(\mathcal{O}_{X}((1-p^{e})K_{X}-\lceil (p^{e}-1)\Delta\rceil)\right)\right) \to k = H^{0}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X}).$$

**Lemma IV.1.6.** The kernel of the trace map  $Tr^e_{\Delta}$  in Equation (IV.1.4) is exactly the subspace  $F^e_*I^{\Delta}_e((1-p^e)K_X - \lceil (p^e-1)\Delta \rceil)$  (Definition IV.1.2).

*Proof.* A section  $f \in H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X - \lceil (p^e-1)\Delta \rceil))$  is contained in the corresponding  $I_e^{\Delta}$ -subspace if and only if for every

$$\varphi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X)), \mathcal{O}_X) \cong H^0(X, F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X) \cong F^e_*k,$$

we have  $\varphi(F_*^e f) = 0$ . But,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F_*^e(\mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X)), \mathcal{O}_X)$  is a one dimensional k-vector space, and is generated by the trace map  $\operatorname{Tr}^e$  (where  $\Delta = 0$ ). Now, the map  $\operatorname{Tr}_{\Delta}^e$  is just the restriction of the trace map  $\operatorname{Tr}^e$  to the subspace  $H^0(X, F_*^e(\mathcal{O}_X((1-p^e)K_X - \lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil))))$ . Thus, the lemma follows.

**Lemma IV.1.7.** Let  $(X, \Delta)$  be a normal projective pair, and D be any Weil divisor on X. Then, denoting  $D_1 = (1 - p^e)K_X - \lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil - D$  and  $D_2 = (1 - p^e)K_X - \lceil (p^e - 1)\Delta \rceil$  for any  $e \ge 1$ , we have a non-degenerate pairing

$$\frac{H^0(D)}{I_e^{\Delta}(D)} \times \frac{H^0(D_1)}{I_e^{\Delta}(D_1)} \to \frac{H^0(D_2)}{I_e^{\Delta}(D_2)}$$

obtained from multiplication (and reflexifying) global sections. In particular,

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(D)}{I_e^{\Delta}(D)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0(D_1)}{I_e^{\Delta}(D_1)}$$

*Proof.* Using Equation (IV.1.2), the natural multiplication map

$$H^0(D) \times H^0(D_1) \to H^0(D_2)$$

can be identified with the evaluation map

$$H^{0}\left(F^{e}_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(D))\right) \times \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}\left(F^{e}_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(\lceil (p^{e}-1)\Delta\rceil+D)), \mathcal{O}_{X}\right) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{X}}(F^{e}_{*}\mathcal{O}_{X}(\lceil (p^{e}-1)\Delta\rceil), \mathcal{O}_{X}))$$

where we identify  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil+D), \mathcal{O}_X)$  and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil), \mathcal{O}_X)$ as subspaces of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(D), \mathcal{O}_X)$  and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X, \mathcal{O}_X)$  respectively, both via the natural inclusion  $\mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X(\lceil (p^e-1)\Delta\rceil)$ . Therefore, a section  $f \in H^0(D)$  is contained in  $I^{\Delta}_e(D)$  if and only if for all sections  $g \in H^0(D_1)$ , the multiplication fg is contained in  $I^{\Delta}_e(D_2)$ . By symmetry, a section  $g \in H^0(D_1)$  is contained in  $I^{\Delta}_e(D_1)$  if and only if for all sections  $f \in H^0(D), gf \in I^{\Delta}_e(D_2)$ . This proves there is a well defined, and non-degenerate pairing as needed.

Finally, we note that since by Lemma IV.1.6,  $I_e^{\Delta}(D_2)$  is the kernel of the trace map (Equation (IV.1.4)), the vector space  $H^0(D_2)/I_e^{\Delta}(D_2)$  is either one-dimensional over k, or equal to 0. In either case, the equality of dimensions follows.

The next Proposition allows us to perturb by any divisor while computing the F-signature of a section ring.

**Proposition IV.1.8.** Let X be a normal projective variety over k and L an ample divisor on X. Assume  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$ . Fix a Weil divisor D on X. Then, there exists a constant C > 0 (depending only on D and L) such that

$$\left|\dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{I_e(mL+D)}\right| \le Cp^{e(\dim(X)-1)}$$

for all m > 0 and e > 0.

Proof. First we prove the case when D is effective: For any  $m \ge 1$ , by using the natural map  $\mathcal{O}_X(mL) \to \mathcal{O}_X(mL+D)$ , we will view  $H^0(mL)$  as a subspace of  $H^0(mL+D)$ . Let  $J_e(mL)$  denote the subspace  $H^0(mL) \cap I_e(mL+D)$ . By Lemma III.2.11, we see that  $I_e(mL) \subset J_e(mL)$ . Moreover, by Equation (III.2.12) in the proof of Lemma III.2.13, we have

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{I_e(mL+D)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{J_e(mL)} + \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{H^0(mL) + I_e(mL+D)}$$

Using this and the triangle inequality, we obtain that

(IV.1.5) 
$$\left| \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{I_e(mL+D)} \right| \le \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{H^0(mL)} + \dim_k \frac{J_e(mL)}{I_e(mL)}$$

for all m, e > 0. Next, to compute the second term in the above inequality, fix an e > 0and set  $\Delta_e = \frac{1}{p^e - 1}D$ . Then, we observe that the subspace  $J_e(mL)$  is exactly the same as  $I_e^{\Delta_e}(mL)$  (Definition IV.1.2). Moreover, we also similarly have

(IV.1.6) 
$$I_e^{\Delta_e}((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D) = H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D) \cap I_e((1-p^e)K_X - mL).$$

Thus, by Lemma IV.1.7, we have

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}{I_e((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}$$

and similarly,

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{J_e(mL)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)}{I_e^{\Delta_e}((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)}$$

By Equation (IV.1.6), we see the natural map from  $H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)$  to  $H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL)$  restricts to an *injective* map

$$\frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)}{I_e^{\Delta_e}((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)} \hookrightarrow \frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}{I_e((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}.$$

By considering the cokernel of this map, we get that

(IV.1.7)  
$$\dim_k \frac{J_e(mL)}{I_e(mL)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{J_e(mL)} \le \dim_k \frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)}.$$

Pick an  $M \gg 0$  such that mL admits a global section that doesn't vanish along D for all  $m \ge M$  (this is possible since L is ample). Using the standard exact sequences to restrict to D, we see that

(IV.1.8) 
$$\dim_k \frac{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL)}{H^0((1-p^e)K_X - mL - D)} \le \frac{\operatorname{vol}(-K_X|_D)}{(d-1)!} p^{e(d-1)} + o(p^{e(d-2)})$$

and

(IV.1.9) 
$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{H^0(mL)} \le \frac{\operatorname{vol}(L|_D)}{(d-1)!} m^{d-1} + o(m^{d-2})$$

Finally, by Theorem III.2.8, we may pick a constant  $C_2 > 0$  such that  $H^0(mL) = I_e(mL)$ and  $H^0(mL + D) = I_e(mL + D)$  for  $m > C_2 p^e$ . Therefore, to prove the Proposition, it is enough to consider the case when  $m \leq C_2 p^e$ . In this case, the Proposition now follows by putting together inequalities in IV.1.5, IV.1.7, IV.1.8 and IV.1.9. This completes the proof of the Proposition when D is effective.

More generally, we first pick an  $r \gg 0$  such that rL and D + rL are both effective. Then, for any  $e \ge 1$  and m > r, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{I_e(mL+D)} \right| &\leq \left| \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL)}{I_e(mL)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0((m-r)L)}{I_e((m-r)L)} \right| \\ &+ \left| \dim_k \frac{H^0((m-r)L)}{I_e((m-r)L)} - \dim_k \frac{H^0(mL+D)}{I_e(mL+D)} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Now, we may apply the previous case of the Proposition (since both D + rL and rL are effective) to each of the two terms in the above inequality. Since r was independent of e, this completes the proof of the Proposition .

# IV.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of Section Rings.

Throughout this section, by a section ring S, we mean that S is the section ring S(X, L) of some projective variety  $X \cong \operatorname{Proj}(S)$  with respect to some ample line bundle  $L \cong \mathcal{O}_X(1)$ on X (see Definition II.1.1 for the definitions).

#### IV.2.1: Definitions

**Definition IV.2.1.** Let  $(R, \mathfrak{m})$  be an *F*-finite normal local ring. Assume that *R* is strongly *F*-regular. Then, we define the *F*-pure threshold of an effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $D \ge 0$  to be:

$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(R,D) := \sup\{\lambda \,|\, (R,\lambda D) \text{ is sharply } F \text{-split} \}.$$

Moreover, by [SS10, Lemma 4.9], it follows that the *F*-pure threshold of (R, D) is equivalently characterized as the supremum of the set {  $\lambda \mid (R, \lambda D)$  is strongly *F*-regular}.

If D is the principal divisor corresponding to a function  $f \in R$ , we write f instead of D in the notation for the F-pure threshold.

**Definition IV.2.2.** Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m})$  be a strongly *F*-regular section ring of a projective variety *X*. Then, we define

$$\alpha_F(S) = \inf\{ \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \operatorname{deg}(f) \mid 0 \neq f \in S \text{ homogeneous element} \}.$$

If S is the section ring of a projective variety X with respect to an ample divisor L, we may also use  $\alpha_F(X, L)$  to denote  $\alpha_F(S)$ .

We have the following equivalent ways of characterizing the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a section ring.

**Lemma IV.2.3.** Let X be a globally F-regular projective variety and L be an ample Cartier divisor on X. Let S = S(X, L) be the section ring of X with respect to L. Then,  $\alpha_F(S)$ from Definition IV.2.2 is equal to the supremum of any of the following sets:

- 1. The set of  $\lambda \geq 0$  such that the pair  $(S, \frac{\lambda}{n}D)$  is sharply F-split for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and every effective divisor  $D \sim nL$ .
- 2. The set of  $\lambda \geq 0$  such that the pair  $(S, \frac{\lambda}{n}D)$  is strongly *F*-regular for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and every effective divisor  $D \sim nL$ .
- 3. The set of  $\lambda \geq 0$  such that the pair  $(X, \frac{\lambda}{n}D)$  is globally sharply F-split for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and every effective divisor  $D \sim nL$ .
- 4. The set of  $\lambda \ge 0$  such that the pair  $(X, \frac{\lambda}{n}D)$  is globally *F*-regular for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and every effective divisor  $D \sim nL$ .
- 5. The set of  $\lambda \geq 0$  such that the pair  $(X, \lambda D)$  is globally F-regular for every effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $D \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L$ .

Proof. Statements (1) and (2) follow immediately from the definition of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant and the definition of the *F*-pure threshold (Definition IV.2.1). Statements (3) and (4) follow from (1) and (2) by using Lemma IV.1.1. Part (5) is just a reformulation of (4) since every effective  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $D \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} L$  is of the form  $\frac{1}{n}nD$  for some effective Cartier divisor  $nD \sim nL$ .  $\Box$ 

Next, we explain a more precise connection between the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant and Frobenius splittings in S.

**Proposition IV.2.4.** Let S be a strongly F-regular section ring and  $\alpha'(S)$  denote the supremum of the following set:

$$\mathscr{A}(S) := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0} \mid \text{ for any integers } e \geq 1 \text{ and } m \leq \lambda(p^e - 1), \text{ we have } I_e(m) = 0\}.$$

Then,  $\alpha'(S) = \alpha_F(S)$ . Moreover,  $\alpha_F(S)$  belongs to the set  $\mathscr{A}(S)$ .

**Remark IV.2.5.** Note that in the above Proposition, it is unclear if the set  $\mathscr{A}(S)$  contains any non-zero element. This is equivalent to the positivity of  $\alpha_F(S)$  and will be addressed in Theorem IV.2.10.

The proof of the Proposition IV.2.4 is based on the following lemma which is a slight generalization of a result of Hernández:

**Lemma IV.2.6.** Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m})$  be an *F*-finite, *F*-regular local ring. Fix an effective Weil-divisor D on X = Spec(S). Then, for any fixed  $e_0 > 0$ , let  $\psi_{e_0}$  denote the natural map

$$\psi_{e_0}: \mathfrak{O}_X \to F^{e_0}_*(\mathfrak{O}_X(D)).$$

Then, the following are equivalent:

- 1. The map  $\psi_{e_0}$  splits as a map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$  modules.
- 2. The pair  $(X, \frac{1}{p^{e_0}-1}D)$  is sharply F-split (Definition II.3.1).
- 3. The F-pure threshold of (X, D) is at least  $\frac{1}{p^{e_0}-1}$  (Definition IV.2.1).

*Proof.* It follows immediately from the definitions that (1) implies (2), and (2) implies (3). Hence, it remains to show that (3) implies (1).

Following [Her12, Theorem 4.9], if  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(X, D) \geq \frac{1}{p^{e_0}-1}$ , we must must have that the pair  $(X, \frac{1}{p^{e_0}}D)$  is sharply *F*-split. Thus, there is an e > 0 such that the natural map

(IV.2.1) 
$$\psi_e(D) : \mathfrak{O}_X \to F^e_*(\mathfrak{O}_X(\lceil \frac{p^e - 1}{p^{e_0}} \rceil D)$$

splits. Since the same holds for  $\psi_{ne}(D)$  for any natural number  $n \ge 1$  (see [Sch08, Proposition 3.3] for the proof), we get the map:

$$\psi_{ee_0}(D): \mathfrak{O}_X \to F^{ee_0}_*(\mathfrak{O}_X(\lceil \frac{p^{ee_0}-1}{p^{e_0}}\rceil D)) = F^{ee_0}_*(\mathfrak{O}_X(p^{(e-1)e_0}D))$$

splits. Note that  $\psi_{e_0}$  as defined in Equation (IV.2.1) matches with the map considered in the statement of the Lemma.

Let  $U \subset X$  denote the regular locus of X. Since  $\phi_{e_0}$  is a map between reflexive sheaves, to show that it splits, it sufficient to show that its restriction of U splits. Over U, we may construct the map  $\psi_{ee_0}$  as follows: First consider the map

$$\phi_{(e-1)e_0} : \mathcal{O}_U(D) \to F^{(e-1)e_0}_* \mathcal{O}_U(p^{(e-1)e_0}D)$$

obtained by twisting the  $(e-1)e_0^{\text{th}}$ -iterate of the Frobenius map by the invertible sheaf  $\mathcal{O}_U(D)$ . If f denotes the local equation of D, then  $\phi_{(e-1)e_0}$  is defined by sending

$$f \mapsto F_*^{(e-1)e_0} f^{p^{(e-1)e_0}}.$$

Then, after restricting to U, we have that

$$\psi_{ee_0} = F_*^{e_0} \phi_{(e-1)e_0} \circ (\psi_{e_0}|_U)$$

where the right hand side is the composition

$$F_*^{e_0}\phi_{(e-1)e_0} \circ (\psi_{e_0}|_U) : \mathcal{O}_U \to F_*^{e_0}\mathcal{O}_U(D) \to F_*^{ee_0}(\mathcal{O}_X(p^{(e-1)e_0}D)).$$

Therefore, if  $\psi_{ee_0}$  splits then so does  $\psi_{e_0}$ . This proves that part (3) implies part (1), completing the proof of the lemma.

Proof of Proposition IV.2.4. Set  $\alpha = \alpha_F(S)$ , and  $\alpha' = \alpha'(S)$  (which is defined in the satement of the Proposition). First we will prove that  $\alpha \leq \alpha'$ . This is clear if  $\alpha = 0$ , so we assume that  $\alpha$  is positive. For any non-zero element  $f \in S_m$ , by definition of  $\alpha$ , we must have  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \geq \frac{\alpha}{m}$ . So, if  $m \leq \alpha(p^e - 1)$ , we have

$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \ge \frac{\alpha}{m} \ge \frac{\alpha}{\alpha(p^e - 1)} = \frac{1}{p^e - 1}.$$

Thus, by Lemma IV.2.6, the map  $R \to F_*^e R$  sending 1 to  $F_*^e f$  splits. Since f was an arbitrary non-zero element of degree m, this shows that  $I_e(m) = 0$  whenever  $m \leq p^e - 1$ . Therefore,

 $\alpha$  belongs to the set  $\mathscr{A}(S)$ , which proves that  $\alpha \geq \alpha'$ .

Next we prove that  $\alpha \geq \alpha'$ . Fix any  $\lambda < \alpha'$ . Then, whenever  $m \leq \lambda(p^e - 1)$  and  $f \in S_m$ is any non-zero element, we know that f is not contained in  $I_e(m)$ . By Lemma IV.2.6, we have  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \geq \frac{1}{p^e - 1}$ . In other words, if e is the smallest integer such that  $m \leq \lambda(p^e - 1)$ , (equivalently,  $e = \lceil \log_p(\frac{m}{\lambda}) \rceil$ ), then  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \geq \frac{1}{p^e - 1}$ . Now combining this with the fact that  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f^a) = \frac{\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f)}{a}$  for any integer a to get:

(IV.2.2) 
$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S,f) \ge \sup_{a\ge 1} \frac{a}{p^{\lceil \log_p(\frac{am}{\lambda})\rceil} - 1} \ge \frac{\lambda}{m}.$$

To see the right inequality, we make the following observations: Fixing m and  $\lambda$  and for any a, write

$$\lceil \log_p(a) + \log_p(\frac{m}{\lambda}) \rceil = \log_p(a) + \log_p(\frac{m}{\lambda}) + \varepsilon(a)$$

for some non-negative real number  $\varepsilon(a)$ . Then, we have

$$\inf_{a \ge 1} \frac{p^{\log_p(a) + \log_p(\frac{m}{\lambda}) + \varepsilon(a)} - 1}{a} = \inf_{a \ge 1} \frac{m}{\lambda} p^{\varepsilon(a)} - \frac{1}{a} \le \inf_{a \ge 1} \frac{m}{\lambda} p^{\varepsilon(a)}$$

for each  $a \ge 1$ . So it is sufficient to show that

$$\inf_{a \ge 1} p^{\varepsilon(a)} = 1$$

This is true because given any real number  $\gamma$ , the infimum of the set  $\{ \lceil \gamma + \log_p(a) \rceil - \gamma - \log_p(a) \mid a \in \mathbb{N} \}$  is zero. This proves the inequality in (IV.2.2).

Since f was an arbitrary non-zero homogeneous element of degree m, it follows from Equation (IV.2.2) that  $\alpha \geq \lambda$ . Since  $\lambda$  was an arbitrary number smaller than  $\alpha'$ , we must have  $\alpha \geq \alpha'$  as well. This completes the proof that  $\alpha = \alpha'$ .

### **IV.2.2:** Finite-degree approximations

Now we will define finite-degree approximations to the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant. This establishes a limit formula for the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant that is analogus to the *F*-signature (see Definition II.2.2 and the classical definition in [Tuc12]).

**Definition IV.2.7.** Let S be an N-graded section ring over k. For each integer  $e \ge 1$ , we define

$$m_e(S) := \max\{m \ge 0 \mid I_e(m) = 0\}$$

and define

$$\alpha_e(S) := \frac{m_e(S)}{p^e}.$$

**Theorem IV.2.8.** Let S be a strongly F-regular  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded section ring over k. Then, we have

$$\lim_{e \to \infty} \alpha_e(S) = \alpha_F(S).$$

In particular, the limit exists. See Definition IV.2.2 for the definition of  $\alpha_F(S)$ .

**Lemma IV.2.9.** Let S be a strongly F-regular  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded section ring over k. For any  $e \ge 1$ , we have

$$\alpha_e(S) + \frac{1}{p^e} \ge \alpha_{e+1}(S) + \frac{1}{p^{e+1}}.$$

*Proof.* First note that since S is strongly F-regular, S is a normal domain. For any  $e \ge 1$ , let  $0 \ne f$  be an element of  $I_e(m_e + 1)$ . Then, we have that  $f^p$  is a non-zero element of  $I_{e+1}(p(m_e + 1))$  (see [Tuc12, Lemma 4.4]). This proves that

$$p(m_e+1) \ge m_{e+1}+1.$$

Dividing both sides by  $p^{e+1}$ , we obtain the required inequality.

Proof of Theorem IV.2.8. The sequence  $\{\alpha_e + \frac{1}{p^e}\}_{e \ge 1}$  is decreasing, by Lemma IV.2.9. Since it is a decreasing sequence of non-negative real numbers, the sequence converges to its infimum. Moreover, since the sequence  $\frac{1}{p^e}$  converges to zero, the sequence  $\{\alpha_e\}_{e \ge 1}$  also converges and

$$\lim_{e \to \infty} \alpha_e = \inf_{e \ge 1} \{ \alpha_e + \frac{1}{p^e} \}.$$

It remains to show that the limit is equal to  $\alpha_F(S)$ . Using the definition of  $\alpha_e$ , we have that

$$\alpha_F(S) \le \frac{p^e}{p^e - 1} (\alpha_e + \frac{1}{p^e}) = \frac{m_e + 1}{p^e - 1}$$

for each  $e \ge 1$ . This is because we know that  $\alpha_F(S)$  belongs to the set  $\mathscr{A}(S)$  from Proposition IV.2.4. Taking a limit over e, we obtain

$$\alpha_F(S) \le \lim_{e \to \infty} \alpha_e.$$

For the reverse inequality, setting  $\alpha := \lim \alpha_e$ , we note that

$$\alpha(p^e - 1) \le (\alpha_e + \frac{1}{p^e})(p^e - 1) < p^e \alpha_e + 1.$$

By the definition of  $m_e = p^e \alpha_e$ , the subspace  $I_e(m)$  is equal to zero for each  $m \leq \alpha(p^e - 1) \leq m_e$ . Thus,  $\alpha$  belongs to the set  $\mathscr{A}(S)$  defined in Proposition IV.2.4. Since  $\alpha_F(S)$  is the supremum of  $\mathscr{A}(S)$ , we get that  $\alpha_F(S) \geq \alpha$ . This completes the proof of Theorem IV.2.8.  $\Box$ 

### IV.2.3: Positivity and comparison to the *F*-signature.

Next we will show that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant is positive by comparing it to the *F*-signature (Definition II.2.2). Recall that for a section ring *S* of any globally *F*-regular projective variety, there exists a positive constant *C* such that for any e > 0 and any  $m \leq C p^e$ , we have  $I_e(m) = S_m$ . This follows from Theorem III.2.8.

**Theorem IV.2.10.** The  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a strongly F-regular section ring is positive. Moreover, setting  $\alpha = \alpha_F(S)$  and fixing a constant C as discussed above (so that for any e > 0and any  $m \leq C p^e$ , we have  $I_e(m) = S_m$ ), we have the following comparisons:

(IV.2.3) 
$$\frac{e(S)\,\alpha^{\dim(S)}}{\dim(S)!} \leq s(S) \leq \frac{e(S)}{\dim(S)!} \left(C^{\dim(S)} - (C-\alpha)^{\dim(S)}\right)$$

where e(S) denotes the Hilbert-Samuel multiplicity of S.

**Lemma IV.2.11.** Given a non-zero homogeneous element f in S of degree n, let  $\lambda > n fpt_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f)$  be a real number. Then,

(IV.2.4) 
$$\mathfrak{s}(S) \leq \frac{e(S)}{\dim(S)!} \left( C^{\dim(S)} - (C - \lambda)^{\dim(S)} \right).$$

*Proof.* Since we have assumed that  $\lambda > n \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f)$ , there exist integers  $a, e_0 > 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) < \frac{a}{p^{e_0} - 1} < \frac{\lambda}{d}.$$

Replacing f by  $f^a$ , by Lemma IV.2.6 we may assume that the map  $S \to F_*^{e_0}S$  defined by  $1 \to F_*^{e_0}f$  does not split (since  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f^a) < \frac{1}{p^{e_0}-1}$ ). We may also assume that  $n \leq \lambda (p^{e_0}-1)$ . Now, since f belongs to the ideal  $I_{e_0}$ , we have  $S_{m-n} \cdot f \subset I_{e_0}(m)$  for any  $m \geq d$  yielding the inequality

(IV.2.5) 
$$\dim_k \frac{S_m}{I_{e_0}(m)} \le \dim_k S_m - \dim_k S_{m-n}$$

for all  $m \ge n$ . Further, setting  $v_r = \frac{p^{re_0}-1}{p^{e_0}-1}$  for any integer r, we have that  $\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f^{v_r}) < \frac{1}{p^{re_0}-1}$ , and so  $f^{v_r}$  belongs to  $I_{re_0}(nv_r)$ . Therefore, we similarly have
(IV.2.6) 
$$\dim_k \frac{S_m}{I_{ne_0}(m)} \le \dim_k S_m - \dim_k S_{m-nv_r}$$

for all  $m \ge nv_r$ . Then, using the Lemma IV.1.5 we may compute the *F*-signature  $\mathfrak{I}(S)$  as follows:

$$s(S) = \frac{1}{[k':k]} \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{m=Cp^{re_0}} \dim_k \frac{S_m}{I_{re_0}(m)}}{p^{re_0 \dim(S)}}$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{[k':k]} \left( \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{m=Cp^{re_0}} \dim_k S_m}{p^{re_0 \dim(S)}} - \frac{\sum_{m=dv_r}^{m=Cp^{re_0}} \dim_k S_{m-nv_r}}{p^{re_0 \dim(S)}} \right),$$

where k' is the field  $S_0$ . Here we have used Equation (IV.2.6) and the defining property of the constant C. Finally, calculating the dimensions in the above inequality using the formula

$$\dim_k S_m = [k':k] \frac{e(S)}{(\dim S - 1)!} m^{\dim S - 1} + o(m^{\dim S - 2}),$$

we obtain

$$\mathfrak{s}(S) \le \frac{e(S)}{\dim(S)!} \left( C^{\dim(S)} - (C - \frac{n}{p^{e_0} - 1})^{\dim(S)} \right).$$

The proof of the lemma is now complete by using the fact that  $\lambda \geq \frac{n}{p^{e_0}-1}$ .

Proof of Theorem IV.2.10. We note that if  $\alpha_F(S) = 0$ , then the rightmost inequality of Equation (IV.2.3) implies that the *F*-signature  $\beta(S)$  is zero. But this is a contradiction since *S* was assumed to be strongly *F*-regular (see [AL03, Theorem 0.2]). So the positivity of  $\alpha_F(S)$  follows from Equation (IV.2.3), which we will now prove.

The rightmost inequality follows from Lemma IV.2.11 by taking a limit as  $\lambda \to \alpha_F(S)$ , since the Lemma applies to each  $\lambda$  such that  $\lambda > \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \operatorname{deg}(f)$  for some non-zero f.

To prove the leftmost inequality, we use Lemma IV.1.5 again to compute the *F*-signature of *S* and we observe that for any  $e \ge 1$ ,

(IV.2.7) 
$$\mathfrak{s}(S) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{m=Cp^e} \dim_k \frac{S_m}{I_e(m)}}{p^{e\dim(S)}} \ge \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{m=0}^{m=m_e} \dim_k S_m}{p^{e\dim(S)}}.$$

Recall that for any  $e \ge 1$ ,  $m_e$  is the largest m such that  $I_e(m) = 0$ , which justifies Equa-

tion (IV.2.7). But the right hand side is equal to

$$\lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{e(S)}{\dim(S)!} \left(\frac{m_e}{p^e}\right)^{\dim(S)}.$$

We conclude the proof by using Theorem IV.2.8, which says that  $\lim_{e\to\infty} \frac{m_e}{p^e} = \alpha_F(S)$ . This concludes the proof of Equation (IV.2.3) and thus of Theorem IV.2.10.

**Remark IV.2.12.** The positivity of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant proved in Theorem IV.2.10 can also be deduced from the main theorem of [Sat18].

#### IV.2.4: Behaviour under certain ring extensions.

In this subsection, we record some useful results on the behaviour of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant under suitably nice extensions of section rings.

**Proposition IV.2.13.** Let S and S' be two  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded section rings (of possibly different varieties) and  $S \subset S'$  be an inclusion such that for a fixed integer  $n \ge 1$  and any other m, all degree m elements of S are mapped to degree nm elements of S'. Further, assume that the inclusion  $S \subset S'$  splits as a map of S-modules. Then, we have

(IV.2.8) 
$$\alpha_F(S) \ge \frac{\alpha_F(S')}{n}.$$

Moreover, equality holds in (IV.2.8) if S is the  $n^{th}$ -Veronese subring of S'.

*Proof.* The first part follows immediately from Theorem IV.2.8 and the fact that a homogeneous element f of S splits from  $F_*^e S$  if it splits from  $F_*^e S'$ . In other words, we have

$$I_e(S_m) \subset I_e(S'_{mn})$$

for any e and m. For the statement about Veronese subrings, the key observation is that since S' is a section ring (of (X, L), say), then

$$I_e(S'_{mn}) = I_e(S_m) = I_e(X, L^{mn}).$$

Thus, the equality again follows from Theorem IV.2.8.

**Remark IV.2.14.** The *F*-signature of section rings also transforms in a similar manner to the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant above. Indeed, see Theorem III.1.6 and its generalization in [CR17, Theorem 4.8]. A simple proof of this transformation rule for section rings can also be obtained using Proposition IV.1.8.

**Proposition IV.2.15.** Let  $(S, \mathfrak{m}) \subset (S', \mathfrak{n})$  be a degree preserving map of  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded, strongly *F*-regular section rings (of possibly different varieties and over possibly different perfect fields). Assume that both *S* and *S'* are generated in degree one, *S'* is flat over *S*, and that the ring  $S'/\mathfrak{m}S'$  is regular. Then, we have

$$\alpha_F(S') = \alpha_F(S).$$

*Proof.* First note that since S and S' are generated in degree 1, the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant must be at most 1 for both of them. Next, for any  $e \ge 1$  and  $m \le p^e - 1$ , we may apply Claim 3.4 in [CRST21, Proof of Theorem 3.1] to get that

$$I_e(S,m) S' = I_e(S',m).$$

This implies that  $m_e(S) = m_e(S')$  for any  $e \ge 1$ . Now, the Proposition follows immediately by using Theorem IV.2.8.

Recall that k was assumed to be a perfect field of characteristic p > 0.

**Corollary IV.2.16.** Let S be a strongly F-regular section ring over k and K be an arbitrary perfect field extension of k. Then, the base-change  $S \otimes_k K$  is isomorphic to a product of strongly F-regular section rings  $S^i$  over finite extensions of K and for each i, we have

$$\alpha_F(S) = \alpha_F(S^i).$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we may assume that S is generated in degree one by using Proposition IV.2.13. Set  $S' = S \otimes_k K$ . Since k is perfect and  $S/\mathfrak{m}$  is a finite separable extension of k, we see that

$$S'/\mathfrak{m}S'\cong S/\mathfrak{m}\otimes_k K\cong\prod_i L_i$$

is a finite product of perfect fields  $L_i$ . Thus, if S was the section ring of X, then  $S' \cong \prod_i S^i$ where  $S^i$  is the section ring of  $X \times_{S/\mathfrak{m}} L_i$ . Note that  $S^i$  is isomorphic to  $S \otimes_{S/\mathfrak{m}} L_i$ , and hence each  $S^i$  is strongly F-regular by [CRST21, Theorem 3.6]. The corollary now follows from Proposition IV.2.15 by applying it to each inclusion  $S \subset S^i$ .

**Remark IV.2.17.** In the setting of Corollary IV.2.16, the same results also holds for the *F*-signature of *S* instead of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant by using [Yao06, Theorem 5.6] in place of Proposition IV.2.15. This allows to reduce computing both the *F*-signature and the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a section ring to the geometrically connected case, i.e., when  $S_0 = k$ .

# IV.3: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of Globally *F*-regular Fano Varieties.

In this section, we specialize the study of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant to the case of globally F-regular Fano varieties (and when the ample divisor is a multiple of  $-K_X$ ). We begin by defining what we mean by a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano variety in positive characteristic. Recall that k denotes a perfect field of characteristic p > 0.

#### IV.3.1: Q-Fano varieties and the main theorems.

**Definition IV.3.1.** A  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano variety X is a projective variety over k such that

- 1. X is *locally* strongly F-regular (Definition II.3.2).
- 2.  $K_X$  is a Q-Cartier divisor.
- 3.  $-K_X$  is ample.

Note that since X has only strongly F-regular singularities, X is automatically normal and Cohen-Macaulay. In particular, we may define the canonical Weil-divisor  $K_X$  by extending a canonical divisor from the smooth locus. In fact,  $\omega_X = \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$  is a dualizing sheaf over X. In particular, in case  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$ , we have

(IV.3.1) 
$$H^d(X,\omega_X) \cong k$$

where d is the dimension of X. Moreover, the second and third conditions in Definition IV.3.1 guarantee that there is a positive integer r such that  $rK_X$  is Cartier and  $-rK_X$  is ample. The smallest such r is called the index of  $K_X$ .

**Definition IV.3.2.** Let X be a globally F-regular Q-Fano variety over k and r be a positive integer divisible by the index of  $K_X$ . Let

$$S := S(X, -rK_X) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X))$$

denote the section ring of X with respect to  $-rK_X$ . Then, the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of X is defined to be

$$\alpha_F(X) := r \, \alpha_F(S)$$

where  $\alpha_F(S)$  denotes the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of the strongly *F*-regular ring *S*, as defined in Defintion IV.2.2. By taking the affine cone over a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano variety, we also define the global F-signature of the a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano variety.

**Definition IV.3.3** (*F*-signature of a Fano variety). Let X be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano variety over k and r denote a positive integer divisible by the index of  $K_X$ . Let

$$S := S(X, -rK_X) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X))$$

denote the section ring of X with respect to  $-rK_X$ . Then, the *F*-signature of X is defined to be

$$\mathfrak{s}(X) := r \,\mathfrak{s}(S)$$

where  $\mathfrak{s}(S)$  denotes the *F*-signature of *S*, as defined in Definition II.2.2.

**Remark IV.3.4.** Though the definitions of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant and the *F*-signature involve making a choice of a multiple of the index of  $K_X$ , both invariants are well-defined thanks to Proposition IV.2.13 (for the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant) and [VK12, Theorem 2.6.2] (for the *F*-signature).

**Theorem IV.3.5.** Let X be a globally F-regular Q-Fano variety of positive dimension. Then,  $\alpha_F(X)$  is at most 1/2.

Proof of Theorem IV.3.5: Let d denote the dimension of X, and  $r \gg 0$  be an integer divisible by the index of  $K_X$  and such that  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X)) \neq 0$  for all  $m \geq r$ . First, we claim that there is an integer n > 0 such that

$$\dim_k H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X)) < \dim_k H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-(m+n)K_X))$$

for all  $m \gg 0$ . This is clear if  $-K_X$  is a Cartier divisor (and we may take n = 1 in this case), since  $\dim_k H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mK_X))$  is a polynomial in m of degree d > 0 and a positive leading term (because  $-K_X$  is ample). More generally, by the asymptotic Riemann-Roch formula ([Laz04, Example 1.2.19]), for each  $0 \le i \le r - 1$ , there exists polynomials  $P_i$  of degree dsuch that for all  $m \gg 0$ 

$$\dim_k H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-(i+mr)K_X)) = P_i(m).$$

Moreover, setting  $V = (-rK_X)^d$ , each  $P_i$  has the form

$$P_i(m) = \frac{V}{d!}m^d + Q_i(m)$$

for polynomials  $Q_i$  of degree at most d-1. In this situation, the existence of an integer n as required is guaranteed by Lemma IV.3.6 stated and proved below.

Assume, for the sake of contradiction, that  $\alpha_F(X) > \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon$  for some small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Then, note that by Proposition IV.2.4, for all  $e \gg 0$ , we have  $I_e(-mrK_X) = 0$  for all  $m \leq \frac{p^e-1}{2r} + \frac{\varepsilon}{r}(p^e-1)$ .

Now, for  $e \gg 0$ , we can find an integer m satisfying the following properties:

- $mr < \frac{p^e 1}{2}$ ,
- $p^e 1 mr + 2r < \frac{p^e 1}{2} + \varepsilon(p^e 1)$ , and,
- $n \leq p^e 1 2mr$ .

This is equivalent to finding an integer m such that

$$\frac{p^e - 1}{2r} + 2 - \frac{\varepsilon}{r}(p^e - 1) \le m \le \frac{p^e - 1}{2r} - \frac{n}{2r},$$

which is possible since n is fixed and  $\frac{\varepsilon}{2}(p^e-1) \to \infty$  as  $e \to \infty$ . The third condition on m guarantees that

(IV.3.2) 
$$\dim_k H^0(X, -mrK_X) < \dim_k H^0(X, -(p^e - 1 - mr)K_X).$$

The second condition guarantees that there exists a non-zero effective Weil divisor  $E \ge 0$ that induces an injective map

$$\mathcal{O}_X(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(-m'rK_X)$$

for some  $m < m' \leq \frac{p^e-1}{2r} + \frac{\varepsilon}{r}(p^e-1)$ . Therefore, we know that  $I_e(-mrK_X) = I_e(-m'rK_X) = 0$ as noted above. By Lemma III.2.11, this implies that  $I_e(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X) = 0$  as well. Finally, note that Lemma IV.1.7 applied to  $D = -mrK_X$  tells us that

$$\dim_k \frac{H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X))}{I_e(-mrK_X)} = \dim_k \frac{H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X(-(p^e - 1 - mr)K_X))}{I_e(-(p^e - 1 - mr)K_X)}$$

But since both the  $I_e$ -subspaces in the above equation are zero, this is in contradiction to Equation (IV.3.2). This proves that  $\alpha_F(X)$  is at most 1/2.

The following lemma was used in the proof of Theorem IV.3.5.

**Lemma IV.3.6.** For each  $0 \le i < r$ , let  $P_i$  be a polynomial with real coefficients. Moreover, assume that all the  $P_i$ 's have the same positive degree and the same positive leading term.

In other words, for each  $0 \le i \le r-1$ , there exists a real polynomial  $Q_i$  of degree at most d-1 such that

$$P_i(m) = a_d m^d + Q_i(m)$$

for some real number  $a_d > 0$  (independent of i). Then, there is an integer  $n \gg 0$  such that for all integers  $m \gg 0$ , and all pairs  $0 \le i, j \le r - 1$ , we have

$$P_i(m) \le P_i(m+n).$$

*Proof.* Since each  $Q_i$  is a real polynomial of degree at most d-1, we may find positive constants  $C_1, C_2$  such that

$$-C_2 m^{d-1} \le Q_i(m) \le C_1 m^{d-1}$$

for each  $m \ge 0$  and each  $0 \le i \le r - 1$ . Now, it is sufficient to find a constant n such that

(IV.3.3) 
$$a_d m^d + C_1 m^{d-1} \le a_d (m+n)^d - C_2 (m+n)^{d-1}$$

for all  $m \gg 0$ . For this, expanding  $(m+n)^d$  using the binomial theorem, Equation (IV.3.3) is equivalent to

$$C_1 m^{d-1} \le a_d (dnm^{d-1} + \dots + dmn^{d-1} + n^d) - C_2 (m+n)^{d-1}.$$

First, we note that we may choose  $n \gg 0$  such that  $\frac{a_d dn}{2}$  is larger than both  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ . This implies that  $\frac{a_d dn}{2}m^{d-1} > C_1m^{d-1}$  for all  $m \ge 0$ . Furthermore, having chosen the  $n \gg 0$  as before, we have  $\frac{a_d dn}{2}m^{d-1} \ge C_2(m+n)^{d-1}$  for all  $m \gg 0$ . This proves the lemma.

For the rest of this section, we assume that  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$ , i.e., that X is geometrically connected. However, see Remark IV.2.17 for ways to extend the results to more general cases. In the case of Fano varieties, we have a stronger version of comparison of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant to the *F*-signature than the formula in Theorem IV.2.10:

**Theorem IV.3.7.** Let X be a d-dimensional globally F-regular Q-Fano variety over k. Assume that  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$  and that d is positive. Set  $\alpha = \alpha_F(X)$ . Then, we have the following inequalities relating the F-signature and the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant:

(IV.3.4) 
$$\frac{2\alpha^{d+1}\operatorname{vol}(X)}{(d+1)!} \le \mathfrak{z}(X) \le \frac{2\left(\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{d+1} - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \alpha\right)^{d+1}\right)\operatorname{vol}(X)}{(d+1)!}$$

Here,  $\operatorname{vol}(X)$  denotes the volume of the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier divisor  $-K_X$ .

**Corollary IV.3.8.** Let X be a globally F-regular Q-Fano variety of dimension d > 0. Then,

1. We have

$$\mathfrak{s}(X) \le \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{2^d(d+1)!}.$$

2. Moreover,  $\alpha_F(X)$  is equal to 1/2 if and only if the value of the F-signature  $\mathfrak{s}(X)$  is equal to

$$\frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{2^d(d+1)!}.$$

For  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano varieties, the *F*-signature has a more refined formula than Lemma IV.1.5, which we prove next.

**Proposition IV.3.9.** Let X be a globally F-regular Q-Fano variety over k. Assume  $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X) = k$  and that X is positive dimensional. Let r be an integer such that  $rK_X$  is Cartier. Then, the F-signature of X can be computed as

$$\mathfrak{z}(X) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{2r \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e - 1}{2r} \rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)}}{p^{e(\dim(X) + 1)}}.$$

**Lemma IV.3.10.** Let X be a globally F-regular Q-Fano variety. Then, for any r > 0, we have  $H^0(-mrK_X) = I_e(-mrK_X)$  whenever  $m > \frac{p^e-1}{r}$ .

*Proof.* We will prove this lemma in two different ways, since both ideas may be useful in other situations.

**Proof 1:** Let  $m > \frac{p^e - 1}{r}$ . By definition of the subspace  $I_e$  (Definition IV.1.2), it is sufficient to show that there are no non-zero maps  $\phi : F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X) \to \mathcal{O}_X$ . We have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X,\mathcal{O}_X)) \cong H^0(X,(1-p^e+mr)K_X).$$

By assumption, we have  $1 - p^e + mr > 0$ . Since  $-rK_X$  is ample, this means that  $H^0(X, (1 - p^e + mr)K_X) = 0$ . Hence, there are no non-zero maps  $\phi : F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X) \to \mathcal{O}_X$ , which proves the lemma.

**Proof 2:** Let  $m > \frac{p^e - 1}{r}$  and suppose that there is a non-zero global section  $f \in H^0(-mrK_X)$  that is not in  $I_e(-mrK_X)$ . Then, by definition of  $I_e$ , we have a map

$$\phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*\mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X),\mathcal{O}_X)$$

such that  $\phi(F^e_*f) = 1$ . Thus, we have the splitting

(IV.3.5) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X \hookrightarrow F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(-mrK_X) \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X$$

where the first map is got by sending  $1 \to F^e_* f$  and the second map is  $\phi$ . Twisting equation IV.3.5 by  $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$  and reflexifying, we obtain a splitting:

(IV.3.6) 
$$\mathcal{O}_X(K_X) \hookrightarrow F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(-(mr - p^e)K_X) \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{O}_X(K_X).$$

By assumption,  $mr - p^e$  is non-negative. Hence,  $H^d(X, F^e_* \mathcal{O}_X(-(mr - p^e)K_X)) = 0$  by Proposition II.3.8, in turn implying that  $H^d(X, \mathcal{O}_X(K_X)) = 0$  (using the splitting in equation IV.3.6). This is a contradiction, since  $\mathcal{O}_X(K_X)$  is the canonical sheaf of X. This completes the proof of Lemma IV.3.10.

Proof of Proposition IV.3.9. Let S denote the section ring of X with respect to  $-rK_X$ . Fix an e > 0 and let  $a_e$  denote the free rank of  $F_*^eS$  as an S-module (Definition II.2.1). Recall that by Lemma IV.1.5, we have

(IV.3.7) 
$$a_e = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)}$$

so that

$$\mathfrak{z}(X) = r \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{a_e}{p^{e(\dim(X)+1)}}$$

Then, Lemma IV.3.10 shows that the terms of the sum in Equation (IV.3.7) are zero for  $m > \frac{p^e-1}{r}$ . Furthermore, using Lemma IV.1.7, we have

$$\sum_{m=\lceil \frac{p^e-1}{2r}\rceil}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e-1}{r}\rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)} = \sum_{m=\lceil \frac{p^e-1}{2r}\rceil}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e-1}{r}\rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X)}{I_e(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X)}$$

Let a be an integer between 0 and r such that  $p^e - 1 \equiv a \mod r$ . Hence, we have

$$\sum_{m=\lceil \frac{p^e-1}{2r}\rceil}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e-1}{r}\rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X)}{I_e(-(p^e-1-mr)K_X)} = \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e-1}{2r}\rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-(a+mr)K_X)}{I_e(-(a+mr)K_X)}$$

Thus, we have

$$a_e = \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e - 1}{2r} \rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)} + \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e - 1}{2r} \rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-(a+mr)K_X)}{I_e(-(a+mr)K_X)}.$$

Moreover, using Proposition IV.1.8, we see that there is a constant C > 0 such that

$$\left|\frac{H^0(-(a+mr)K_X)}{I_e(-(a+mr)K_X)} - \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)}\right| < Cp^{e(\dim(X)-1)}.$$

Thus, we have that

$$\left| a_e - 2 \sum_{m=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p^e - 1}{2r} \rfloor} \dim_k \frac{H^0(-mrK_X)}{I_e(-mrK_X)} \right| < Cp^{e\dim(X)}.$$

The proof is now complete since the right hand side limits to zero when divided by  $p^{e(\dim(X)+1)}$ and as  $e \to \infty$ .

Proof of Theorem IV.3.7. The proof of this Theorem is exactly the same proof as the proof of Equation (IV.2.3) in Theorem IV.2.10 (see the proof of Lemma IV.2.11), once we replace the formula from Lemma IV.1.5 with the formula from Proposition IV.3.9 to compute the F-signature of  $S = S(X, -rK_X)$ .

Proof of Corollary IV.3.8. Part (1) follows immediately from the right-hand inequality in Theorem IV.3.7, since we know that  $\alpha_F(X) \leq \frac{1}{2}$  by Theorem IV.3.5. We also see that if  $\alpha_F(X) < \frac{1}{2}$ , we must have

$$\mathfrak{s}(X) < \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{2^d (d+1)!}.$$

Thus, Part (2) also follows from Equation (IV.3.4) once we note that when  $\alpha_F(X) = \frac{1}{2}$ , both sides of the inequality in Equation (IV.3.4) are equal to  $\frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{2^d(d+1)!}$ .

**Remark IV.3.11.** Let X be a Q-Fano variety over  $\mathbb{C}$ . This means that X is a normal variety,  $-K_X$  is Q-Cartier and ample and X has only klt singularities. Let r be such that  $-rK_X$  is Cartier, and  $S = S(X, -rK_X)$ . Then, for any effective Q-divisor  $\Delta$  on X with  $\Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -rK_X$ , we have

$$\operatorname{lct}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, \Delta_S) = \min\left\{\operatorname{lct}(X, \Delta), \frac{1}{r}\right\}$$

where lct denotes the log canonical threshold and  $\Delta_S$  denotes the cone over  $\Delta$ . This follows

from [Kol13, Lemma 3.1]. Thus, if we let

$$\tilde{\alpha}(X) = r \inf \{ \operatorname{lct}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, \Delta_S) \mid \Delta \ge 0 \text{ is a } \mathbb{Q} \text{-divisor on } X \text{ such that } \Delta \sim_{\mathbb{Q}} -K_X \},\$$

then, we have that

$$\tilde{\alpha}(X) = \min\left\{\alpha(X), 1\right\}$$

Therefore, for any Q-Fano variety with  $\alpha(X) \leq 1$ , the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant from Definition IV.3.2 is a "Frobenius analog" of the complex  $\alpha$ -invariant.

#### IV.3.2: The $\alpha_F$ -invariant of toric Fano varieties.

Let k denote an algebraically closed field of prime characteristic p > 0. Fix a lattice  $N \cong \mathbb{Z}^d$ and let M be the dual lattice (where d is some positive integer).

**Theorem IV.3.12.** Let  $X_p$  be a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano toric variety over k defined by a fan  $\mathcal{F}$  in N. Let  $X_{\mathbb{C}}$  be the corresponding complex toric variety (which is also automatically  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano). Then, we have

$$\alpha_F(X_p) = \alpha(X_{\mathbb{C}}).$$

*Proof.* Let  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  denote the primitive generators for the one dimensional cones in  $\mathcal{F}$  and write  $-K_X = \sum_i b_i v_i$  for rational numbers  $b_i$ .

First we choose an r > 0 such that  $rb_i \in \mathbb{Z}$  for each *i* and the section ring  $S(X, -rK_X)$  is generated in degree one. Let  $P \subset M$  denote the polytope associated to  $-rK_X$ , and defined by:

$$P = \{ u \in M_{\mathbb{R}} = M \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R} \, | \, \langle u, v_i \rangle \ge -b_i \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le n \}.$$

Since we are assuming that  $S(X, -rK_X)$  is generated in degree 1, the vertices of P are lattice points of M. For any  $u \in P \cap M$ , let  $D_u$  be the corresponding effective divisor in the linear system  $|-rK_X|$ . By [BJ20, Corollary 7.16], we have that

(IV.3.8) 
$$\alpha(X_{\mathbb{C}}) = \min_{u \in P \cap M} r \operatorname{lct}(X_{\mathbb{C}}, D_u)$$

where  $lct(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -)$  denotes the log canonical threshold of a divisor on  $X_{\mathbb{C}}$ . Note that since the vertices of P are lattice points, just the vertices are sufficient to compute  $\alpha(X_{\mathbb{C}})$ .

Let  $\tilde{P}$  denote the polytope  $P \times \{1\} \subset M \times \mathbb{Z}$ . Then, the section ring  $S(X, -rK_X)$  is the semigroup ring associated to the cone over  $\tilde{P}$  in  $(M \times \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ . Note that S is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein. Therefore, by [Bli04, Theorem 3], we see that for any  $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{P} \cap (M \times \mathbb{Z})$ , we have

(IV.3.9) 
$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S(X_p, -K_{X_p}), D_{\tilde{u}}) = \operatorname{lct}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -K_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}), D_{\tilde{u}}).$$

Next, note that since X is a normal toric variety, it is automatically globally F-regular. Now we prove that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of  $X_p$  can also be computed by only considering the torus invariant divisors. To see this, let  $S = S(X_p, -rK_{X_p})$  and let  $f \in S$  be a non-zero homogeneous element. Then, following the discussion in [BJ20, Section 7.4] and [Eis95, Theorem 15.17], there exists an integral weight vector  $\mu = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_{d+1})$  with  $\mu_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  such that  $in_{>\mu}(f) = in_>(f)$ . Here  $>_{\mu}$  denotes the weight monomial order with respect to  $\mu$  and > denotes the graded lexicographic monomial order on S. Then, we have a flat degeneration of f to its initial term. In other words, if  $f = \sum_u \beta_u \chi^u$  for monomials  $\chi^u \in S$ , then setting  $w = \max\{\langle \mu, u \rangle \mid \beta_u \neq 0\}$ , the element

$$\tilde{f} = t^w \sum_{u} \beta_u t^{-\langle \mu, u \rangle} \chi^u \in S[t]$$

satisfies the following properties:

- Viewing S[t] as a k[t]-algebra, the ring  $S[t]/(\tilde{f})$  is a flat k[t]-module.
- The image of  $\tilde{f}$  modulo t is equal to  $in_>(f)$ , the initial term of f with respect to the graded lex monomial order on S.
- For any point  $0 \neq \lambda \in k$ , the image  $f_{\lambda}$  of  $\tilde{f}$  in  $S[t]/(t-\lambda)$  satisfies

$$\operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f_{\lambda}) = \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f).$$

With this construction in place, we conclude the proof of the theorem with the following lemma:

**Lemma IV.3.13.** For any non-zero homogeneous element f of S, we have

$$fpt_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, f) \ge fpt_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, in_{>}(f)).$$

Assuming this lemma for a moment, we see that

$$\alpha_F(X_p) = \inf_{\tilde{u} \in \tilde{P} \cap (M \times \mathbb{Z})} \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, D_{\tilde{u}}).$$

Furthermore, by Equation (IV.3.9), we have

(IV.3.10) 
$$\alpha_F(X_p) = \inf_{\tilde{u} \in \tilde{P} \cap (M \times \mathbb{Z})} \operatorname{lct}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -rK_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}), D_{\tilde{u}}).$$

Since by Theorem IV.3.5 we have  $\alpha_F(X_p) \leq 1/2$ , we must have  $lct(S(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -rK_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}), D_{\tilde{u}}) < \frac{1}{nr}$ 

for some  $\tilde{u} = (u, n) \in \tilde{P} \cap (M \times \mathbb{Z})$ . Note that  $D_u$  corresponds to a torus-invariant divisor on  $X_{\mathbb{C}}$  linearly equivalent to  $-nrK_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}$ . Therefore, by Remark IV.3.11, we have

$$\operatorname{lct}(X_{\mathbb{C}}, D_u) = \operatorname{lct}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -rK_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}), D_{\tilde{u}})$$

for any  $\tilde{u} = (u, n)$  such that  $lct(S(X_{\mathbb{C}}, -rK_{X_{\mathbb{C}}}), D_{\tilde{u}}) < \frac{1}{nr}$ . Putting this together with Equation (IV.3.10) and Equation (IV.3.8), we get that

$$\alpha_F(X_p) = \alpha(X_{\mathbb{C}})$$

as required.

Finally, it remains to prove Lemma IV.3.13.

Proof of Lemma IV.3.13. By Lemma IV.2.6, it is sufficient to show that for all rational numbers of the form  $\frac{a}{p^e-1}$  such that

$$\frac{a}{p^e - 1} < \operatorname{fpt}_{\mathfrak{m}}(S, \operatorname{in}_{>}(f)),$$

the map  $S \to F^e_*S$  sending 1 to  $F^e_*f^a$  splits. Equivalently, for all such  $\frac{a}{p^e-1}$ , it suffices to show that  $f^a \notin I_e(S)$ . Since the pair  $(S, \operatorname{in}_>(f)^{\frac{a}{p^e-1}})$  is strongly *F*-regular, in particular it is sharply *F*-split. By Lemma IV.2.6 again, we know that  $\operatorname{in}_>(f^a) = (\operatorname{in}_>(f))^a \notin I_e(S)$ . Now, since *S* is a toric ring,  $I_e(S)$  is a monomial ideal of *S*. Therefore, if  $\operatorname{in}_>(f^a) \notin I_e(S)$ , we also have  $f^a \notin I_e(S)$  as required.  $\Box$ 

**Remark IV.3.14.** Combining Theorem IV.3.12 with Theorem IV.3.5, we recover the well-known fact that the  $\alpha$ -invariant of a toric Fano variety is at most 1/2 (see [LZ22, Corollary 3.6]).

## **IV.4:** Examples

In this section, we compute some examples of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant for non-toric varieties and highlight some interesting features.

#### **IV.4.1:** Quadric hypersurfaces

Fix any algebraically closed field k of characteristic  $p \neq 2$  and let  $Q_d \subset \mathbb{P}^{d+1}$  be the ddimensional smooth quadric hypersurface over k. Note that by the adjunction formula,  $-K_{Q_d} = dH$  where H denotes a hyperplane section.

**Example IV.4.1.** Then,  $\alpha_F(Q_d) = \frac{1}{d}$ . Equivalently, if S denotes the section ring

$$S := S(Q_d, \mathcal{O}_X(1)) \cong k[x_0, \dots, x_{d+1}]/(x_0^2 + \dots x_{d+1}^2),$$

then  $\alpha_F(S) = 1$ . This follows from a description of the structure of the sheaves  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_{Q_d}(m))$ proved in [Lan08] and [Ach12]. More precisely, for any  $e \ge 1$  and  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$ , [Ach12, Theorem 2] tells us that  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_{Q_d}(m))$  is a direct sum of  $\mathcal{O}_{Q_d}(-t)$  and  $\mathcal{S}(-t)$  for  $t \ge 0$ , where  $\mathcal{S}$  is an ACM bundle that sits in an exact sequence of the form

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{d+1}}(-2)^{\oplus a} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{d+1}}(-1)^{\oplus b} \to i_* \mathcal{S} \to 0$$

for suitable positive integers a and b. Here  $i : Q_d \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{d+1}$  is the inclusion. See [Ach12, Section 1.3] for the details. Since  $H^1(\mathbb{P}^{d+1}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{d+1}}(-2)) = 0$ , we deduce from the exact sequence above that S(-t) has no global sections for any  $t \ge 0$ . Therefore, all global sections of  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_{Q_d}(m))$  appear in the trivial summands. In other words,  $I_e(S(m)) = 0$  for any  $e \ge 1$ and any  $m \le p^e - 1$ . Moreover, since  $S_1 \ne 0$ , we know that  $m_e = p^e - 1$ . Therefore, by Theorem IV.2.8, we have

$$\alpha_F(S) = \lim_{e \to \infty} \frac{p^e - 1}{p^e} = 1.$$

**Remark IV.4.2.** This example shows that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant does not characterize regularity of section rings, since the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a polynomial ring is also equal to 1.

**Remark IV.4.3.** Another interesting feature of this example is that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of smooth quadrics is independent of the characteristic p (for  $p \neq 2$ ). This is far from true in general (as seen in the next example). Furthermore, for any d > 2, the F-signature of  $Q_d$  is known to depend on p in a rather complicated way (see [Tri23]).

#### IV.4.2: Comparison to the complex $\alpha$ -invariant

Let  $k = \mathbb{F}_p$  for some prime number  $p \ge 5$  and  $X_p \subset \mathbb{P}^3$  be the diagonal cubic surface defined by  $x^3 + y^3 + z^3 + w^3 = 0$  over k.

**Example IV.4.4.** For each  $p \ge 5$ , we have  $\alpha_F(X_p) < \frac{1}{2}$ . However,

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} \alpha_F(X_p) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

To see this, we recall the following result proved by Shideler (see [Shi, Example 4.2.2 and Section 5.1]), building on the techniques of Han and Monsky: Let  $s_p$  denote the *F*-signature

of  $X_p$ , equivalently, of the ring  $\mathbb{F}_p[x, y, z, w]/(x^3 + y^3 + z^3 + w^3)$ . Then for any  $p \ge 5$ , we have  $\beta_p < \frac{1}{8}$ . Moreover,

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} \delta_p = \frac{1}{8}.$$

Using this, our claims about the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of  $X_p$  follow from Theorem IV.3.7 and Corollary IV.3.8, once we observe that

$$\frac{\operatorname{vol}(-K_{X_p})}{2^2 \, 3!} = \frac{1}{8}.$$

**Remark IV.4.5.** The complex  $\alpha$ -invariant of the cubic surface defined by  $x^3 + y^3 + z^3 + w^3$  is equal to 2/3 (see [Che08, Theorem 1.7]). Note that by [HY03], we know that for a fixed divisor D on a variety X

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} \operatorname{fpt}(X_p, D_p) = \operatorname{lct}(X, D)$$

where  $X_p$  and  $D_p$  denote the reduction to characteristic p of X and D respectively. Example IV.4.4 points to limitations of approximating the log canonical threshold by F-pure threshold for an unbounded family of divisors on X.

# CHAPTER V Semicontinuity Properties of the Frobenius-Alpha Invariant

In this chapter, we will examine the behaviour of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant in geometric families. First we prove a weak semicontinuity result for a family of globally *F*-regular varieties polarized by an arbitrary family of ample divisors (Section V.1). This is analogous to the case of the *F*-signature which was proved in [CRST21]. Next, we prove that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant is lower semicontinuous in a family of globally *F*-regular Fano varieties (Section V.2). The analogus statement for the complex  $\alpha$ -invariant is proved in [BL22]. Throughout this chapter, *k* will denote an *algebraically closed* field of characteristic p > 0.

## V.1: Weak Semicontinuity of the $\alpha_F$ -invariant.

First, we will prove a result for a family of arbitrary globally *F*-regular varieties.

Notation V.1.1. Recall that the perfection of a field K (of positive characteristic) is the union

$$K^{\infty} := \bigcup_{e=1}^{\infty} K^{1/p^{e}}$$

of all the  $p^e$ -th roots of elements of K. For a map  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y$  of varieties over k, and a point  $y \in Y$  (not necessarily closed), we denote the *perfectified fiber* over y as

$$X_{y^{\infty}} := \mathfrak{X} \times_Y \operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(y)^{\infty}).$$

Similarly, if Y = Spec(A) and S is a finitely generated A-algebra, then for any  $y \in Y$ , we denote the perfectified fiber  $S \otimes_A \kappa(y)^{\infty}$  by  $S_{y^{\infty}}$ .

**Notation V.1.2.** By a *family of globally F-regular varieties*, we mean that

1. We have a flat and projective morphism  $f : \mathcal{X} \to Y$  where  $\mathcal{X}$  is normal and Y is smooth over k.

- 2. We assume additionally that f has connected fibers (i.e.,  $f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \mathcal{O}_Y$ ).
- 3. For each point  $y \in Y$  (not necessarily closed), the fiber  $X_{y^{\infty}}$  (Notation V.1.1) is globally *F*-regular (Definition II.3.2).

Recall that as in Definition IV.2.2, we can consider the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a pair (X, L)where X is a globally F-regular projective variety (over a perfect field) and L is an ample line bundle over X.

**Theorem V.1.3.** Let  $f : (\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L}) \to Y$  be a flat family of globally *F*-regular varieties, where  $\mathcal{L}$  is an ample line bundle over  $\mathfrak{X}$ . Let *K* denote the fraction field of *Y* and  $\alpha_{gen}$  denote the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of  $(X_{K^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}|_{X_{K^{\infty}}})$ , the perfectified generic fiber. Then, for each real number  $0 < \alpha < \alpha_{gen}$ , there exists a dense open subset  $U_{\alpha} \subset Y$  such that

$$\alpha_F(X_{y^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}|_{X_{y^{\infty}}}) > \alpha \quad \text{for every point } y \text{ in } U_{\alpha}.$$

Recall that in Theorem IV.2.8, we defined the sequence  $(\alpha_e)_{e\geq 1}$  that converges to the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant. To prove Theorem V.1.3, we need to understand the rate of convergence in Theorem IV.2.8. For this we will use "degree-lowering operators" as below.

**Theorem V.1.4.** Let X be a projective globally F-regular variety over k and L be an ample invertible sheaf over X. Suppose we have positive integers N and e such that the sheaf

$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}((F^e_*(L^m),L^N))$$

is generically globally generated for each  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$ . Then, if S denotes the section ring S(X, L), we have

$$|\alpha_F(S) - \alpha_e(S)| \le \frac{N}{p^e - 1}.$$

*Proof.* Set  $d = \dim(X)$ . First, we claim that for each  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$ , we can find an injective map of  $\mathcal{O}_X$ -modules

(V.1.1) 
$$\iota_{e,m}: F^e_*(L^m) \hookrightarrow (L^N)^{\oplus p^{ed}}.$$

To see this, let  $\eta$  denote the generic point of X and consider the following restriction map to the generic stalk:

(V.1.2) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m), L^N) \to \mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m), L^N)_{\eta} \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}}(F^e_*(L^m_{\eta}), L^N_{\eta}).$$

The assumption that  $\mathscr{H}om_{\mathfrak{O}_X}((F^e_*(L^m), L^N))$  is generically globally generated means that the image of the map in Equation (V.1.2) generates  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{O}_{X,\eta}}(F^e_*(L^m_\eta), L^N_\eta)$  as an  $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$ -module. Recall that  $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$  is just the fraction field of X. Since  $F^e_*(L^m_\eta)$  is a free  $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$ -vector space of rank  $p^{ed}$ , we can choose  $p^{ed}$  maps  $\phi_1, \ldots, \phi_{p^{ed}}$  in  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m), L^N)$  such that their images under the map in Equation (V.1.2) forms a basis of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{O}_{X,\eta}}(F^e_*(L^m_\eta), L^N_\eta)$  over  $\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}$ . Thus, defining  $\iota_{e,m}$  to be the product map

$$\iota_{e,m} := \phi_1 \times \cdots \times \phi_{p^{ed}} : F^e_*(L^m) \to (L^N)^{\oplus p^{ed}},$$

we see that  $\iota_{e,m}$  is generically an isomorphism by construction. Furthermore, since  $F^e_*(L^m)$  is a torsion-free sheaf of rank  $p^{ed}$  over  $\mathcal{O}_X$ ,  $\iota_{e,m}$  is injective since it is generically an isomorphism. This completes the proof of the claim that maps as in Equation (V.1.1) exist.

Now, fix a map  $\iota_{e,m}$  for each  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$  as in Equation (V.1.1). Then, by taking section modules with respect to L (Definition II.1.1), we get a corresponding map of graded S-modules

$$\iota_{e,m}: (F^e_*S)_{m \bmod p^e} \hookrightarrow S(N)^{\oplus p^{ed}}$$

and let

$$\iota_e: F^e_*S \hookrightarrow S(N)^{\oplus p^{e(d+1)}}$$

denote the direct sum of the  $\iota_{e,m}$ 's. Here, for any  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(F^e_*S)_{m \mod p^e}$  denotes the S-module

$$(F^e_*S)_{m \bmod p^e} := \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} F^e_*(S_{m+jp^e}),$$

and we naturally have an  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded S-module decomposition

$$F^e_*S \cong \bigoplus_{0 \le m \le p^e - 1} (F^e_*S)_{m \bmod p^e}.$$

Note that  $\iota_e$  is injective because the  $\iota_{e,m}$ 's were injective. Furthermore, the key property of  $\iota_e$  that we will use is the following: for each non-zero homogeneous element f of degree m in S,  $\iota_e(F^e_*(f))$  is a non-zero homogeneous element of degree

(V.1.3) 
$$\lfloor \frac{m}{p^e} \rfloor + N.$$

Thus, we may use this map as a "degree-lowering operator".

From Theorem IV.2.8, recall that  $\alpha_e := \alpha_e(S) = \frac{m_e}{p^e}$  where  $m_e$  is defined to be the number  $\max\{m \mid I_e(m) = 0\}$ . The condition that  $I_e(m) = 0$  means that for all non-zero elements

 $f \in S_m$ , there exists a splitting  $F^e_* S \to S$  that sends  $F^e_* f$  to 1.

Claim: For any  $\ell \ge 1$ , let  $e' = \ell e$ , and m be an integer such that  $m \le (\alpha_e - \sum_{t=1}^{\ell-1} \frac{N}{p^{te}})p^{\ell e}$ . Then  $I_{e'}(m) = 0$ .

We will prove the claim by induction on  $\ell$ . If  $\ell = 1$ , note that the sum in the claim is empty, and hence we have  $m \leq m_e = \alpha_e p^e$ . In this case,  $I_e(m) = 0$  by the definition of  $m_e$ .

Now let  $\ell > 1$  and f be any non-zero element of  $S_m$ . We need to show that  $F_*^e f$  splits from  $F_*^e S$ . To see this, note that by Equation (V.1.3),  $\iota_e(F_*^e(f))$  is a non-zero element of degree at most

$$\left\lfloor \frac{1}{p^e} \left( \alpha_e - \sum_{t=1}^{\ell-1} \frac{N}{p^{te}} \right) p^{\ell e} \right\rfloor + N = m_e \, p^{(\ell-2)e} - N \, p^{(\ell-2)e} - \dots - N + N = \left( \alpha_e - \sum_{t=1}^{\ell-2} \frac{N}{p^{te}} \right) p^{(\ell-1)e}.$$

Thus, the inductive hypothesis applies to  $\iota_e(F^e_*(f))$ , implying that  $\iota_e(F^e_*(f))$  is not contained in  $I_{e'-e}$ . Let  $\varphi: F^{e'-e}_*S \to S$  denote a splitting of  $\iota_e(F^e_*(f))$ . Then, we see that (forgetting the degrees)  $\varphi \circ F^{e'-e}_*\iota_e: F^{e'}_*S \to S$  defines a splitting of  $F^{e'}_*(f)$ , as required. This completes the proof of the claim.

To complete the proof of the Theorem, we note that the claim above implies that for any  $\ell \geq 1$ ,

$$\alpha_{\ell e} = \frac{m_{\ell e}}{p^{\ell e}} \ge \alpha_e - \sum_{t=1}^{\ell-1} \frac{N}{p^{te}}$$

Letting  $\ell \to \infty$  and using Theorem IV.2.8, we get

(V.1.4) 
$$\alpha_e(S) - \alpha_F(S) \le \frac{N}{p^e - 1}$$

Lastly, note that by Lemma IV.2.9, we already have

$$\alpha_F(S) - \alpha_e(S) \le \frac{1}{p^e},$$

which, together with Equation (V.1.4) completes the proof of the theorem.

**Lemma V.1.5.** Let X be a globally F-regular variety of dimension d and L be an ample and globally generated invertible sheaf. Suppose  $e_0 > 0$  is such that  $(1 - p^e)K_X$  is linearly equivalent to an effective Weil divisor for all  $e \ge e_0$ . Then, for all  $e \ge e_0$ , and each  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$ , the sheaf

$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathfrak{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m),L^{d+1})$$

is generically globally generated.

Proof. First, by an application of Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity, we prove the following

statement:

Claim: For all  $e \ge 1$  and all  $0 \le n \le p^e - 1$ , the sheaf  $F^e_*(L^{n+dp^e})$  is 0-regular with respect to L, and hence globally generated.

To see this, we check that

$$H^{i}(X, F^{e}_{*}(L^{n+dp^{e}}) \otimes L^{-i}) = H^{i}(X, L^{n+(d-i)p^{e}}) = 0 \text{ for all } i > 0.$$

Here, we have used the projection formula to see that  $F^e_*(L^{n+dp^e}) \otimes L^{-i} \cong F^e_*(L^{n+(d-i)p^e})$ and the cohomology vanishing follows from (Theorem II.3.7), since  $L^{n+(d-i)p^e}$  is nef for all  $i \leq d$ . Thus,  $F^e_*(L^{n+dp^e})$  is 0-regular with respect to L, and hence is globally generated (see [Laz04, Theorem 1.8.5] for the details regarding Castelnuovo-Mumford regularity).

Next, for any  $e \ge e_0$  and  $n \ge 0$ , write  $(1 - p^e)K_X \sim D_e$  where  $D_e$  is an effective Weildivisor. Note that it is always possible to find such an  $e_0$  thanks to [SS10, Theorem 4.3]. Let  $\phi_e(L^n)$  denote the map obtained by twisting the defining map for  $D_e$  by  $L^n$  and pushing forward under  $F^e$ :

$$\phi_e(L^n): F^e_*(L^n) \hookrightarrow F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(D_e) \otimes L^n).$$

Note that for any point  $x \notin \text{Supp}(D_e)$ ,  $\phi_e$  restricts to an isomorphism in an open neighbourhood around x. For any sheaf  $\mathcal{F}$ , let  $\mathcal{F}_x$  denote the stalk of  $\mathcal{F}$  at x.

Applying duality for the Frobenius map (Equation (IV.1.2)), we have (for any  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ):

$$\mathscr{H}om_{\mathfrak{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m), L^{d+1}) \cong F^e_*(\mathfrak{O}_X(D_e) \otimes L^{dp^e+p^e-m}).$$

Therefore, for any  $e \ge e_0$  and  $0 \le m \le p^e - 1$ , set  $n = dp^e + p^e - m$  and consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{0}(X, F^{e}_{*}(L^{n})) & \stackrel{H^{0}(\phi_{e}(L^{n}))}{\longrightarrow} & H^{0}(X, F^{e}_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(D_{e}) \otimes L^{n})) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & F^{e}_{*}(L^{n})_{x} & \stackrel{\phi_{e}(L^{n})_{x}}{\sim} & F^{e}_{*}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(D_{e}) \otimes L^{n})_{x} \end{array}$$

where x is any point not contained in  $\operatorname{Supp}(D_e)$ . Since the horizontal arrows are injective and the bottom horizontal arrow is an isomorphism, any set of global sections generating  $F^e_*(L^n)_x$ , viewed as global sections of  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(D_e) \otimes L^n)$ , will also generate  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(D_e) \otimes L^n)_x$ . Since by the claim above  $F^e_*(L^n)$  is globally generated, we have that  $\mathscr{H}om_{\mathcal{O}_X}(F^e_*(L^m), L^{d+1}) \cong$  $F^e_*(\mathcal{O}_X(D_e) \otimes L^n)$  is globally generated at any  $x \notin \operatorname{Supp}(D_e)$  (and hence generically globally generated). This completes the proof of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma V.1.6.** Let  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y$  be a flat family of globally F-regular varieties where Y is regular. Let  $\mathfrak{D}$  be an integral Weil-divisor such that  $\mathcal{L} = \mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(r\mathfrak{D})$  is Cartier. We also assume

that  $\mathcal{L}$  is ample.

1. Then, for any integer  $m \ge 0$ , the sheaf  $f_*(\mathcal{L}^m)$  is locally free on Y and for any point  $y \in Y$  (not necessarily closed), the natural map

$$f_*(\mathcal{L}^m) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_Y} \kappa(y) \to H^0(\mathfrak{X}_y, \mathcal{L}^m|_{\mathfrak{X}_y})$$

is an isomorphism. Moreover, for any  $y \in Y$ , there exists an affine open neighbourood  $Spec(B) = U \subset Y$  of y such that for y is defined by a regular sequence  $b_1, \ldots b_t$  and for any  $m \ge 0$ , the natural map

$$H^0(f^{-1}(U),\mathcal{L}^m)\otimes_B B/\mathfrak{p}B \to H^0(\mathfrak{X}_{B/\mathfrak{p}B},\mathcal{L}^m|_{\mathfrak{X}_{B/\mathfrak{p}B}})$$

is an isomorphism where  $\mathfrak{p}$  is the ideal  $(b_1, \ldots, b_t)$ .

- 2. Suppose, in addition that  $\mathfrak{X}$  is a locally strongly *F*-regular variety. Then, for any  $m \geq 0$ , setting  $\mathfrak{F} := \mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(m\mathfrak{D})$ , we have
  - (a)  $\mathfrak{F}$  is flat over Y.
  - (b) For any  $y \in Y$ , the restriction  $\mathfrak{F}_y := \mathfrak{F} \otimes_{\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_y}$  is reflexive.
  - (c)  $f_* \mathfrak{F}$  is locally free on Y and for any  $y \in Y$ , the natural map

$$f_*(\mathcal{F}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_Y} \kappa(y) \to H^0(\mathfrak{X}_y, \mathfrak{F}_y)$$

is an isomorphism.

(d) Assume that  $Supp(\mathcal{D})$  does not contain any fiber of f. Then,

$$f_*(\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(m\mathfrak{D})) \otimes_{\mathfrak{O}_Y} \kappa(y) \to H^0(\mathfrak{X}_y, \mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_y}(m\mathfrak{D}|_{\mathfrak{X}_y}))$$

is an isomorphism as well. Here, we restrict the Weil-divisor  $m\mathcal{D}$  to Y as explained in Proposition II.3.9.

*Proof.* Note that since  $\mathcal{L}^m$  is an invertible sheaf on  $\mathfrak{X}$ , it is flat over Y for any m.

1. Since  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(m\mathcal{L})$  is flat over Y, the claim follows from Grauert's Theorem [Har77, Chapter III, Corollary 12.9] once we note that the function

$$y \mapsto \dim_{\kappa(y)} H^0(X_y, \mathcal{L}_y)$$

is constant on Y. But we have

$$\dim_{\kappa(y)} H^0(X_y, \mathcal{L}_y^m) = \chi(\mathcal{L}_y^m) = \chi(\mathcal{L}_\eta^m) = H^0(X_\eta, \mathcal{L}_\eta^m)$$

where  $\eta$  denotes the generic point of Y. Here, we are using the higher cohomology vanishing (Theorem II.3.7) for nef invertible sheaves on the fibers (which are globally Fregular varieties by assumption), and the fact that the Euler-characteristic is constant for all fibers of a flat map [Har77, Chapter III, Theorem 9.9]. Since the restriction of  $\mathcal{L}^m$  to each fiber of f has vanishing higher cohomology, Grauert's Theorem also implies that  $R^i f_*(\mathcal{L}^m)$  is zero for any  $m \ge 0$ . Fix a  $y \in Y$  and choose an open neighbourhood  $\operatorname{Spec}(B) = U \subset Y$  of y such that  $\mathfrak{p}$  is generated by a regular sequence  $(b_1, \ldots, b_t)$  and  $B/\mathfrak{p}B$  is regular (where  $\mathfrak{p}$  is the prime ideal of B corresponding to y). Then, note that the following exact sequence of sheaves on  $f^{-1}(U)$ :

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}^m \xrightarrow{\cdot b_1} \mathcal{L}^m \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}^m \otimes_{\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{X}_{B/x_1B}} \longrightarrow 0$$

remains exact after applying  $H^0(f^{-1}(U), -)$  since  $H^1(f^{-1}(U), \mathcal{L}^m) = 0$ . This tells us that

$$H^0(f^{-1}(U),\mathcal{L}^m)\otimes_B B/b_1B \cong H^0(\mathfrak{X}_{B/x_1B},\mathcal{L}^m|_{\mathfrak{X}_{B/x_1B}})$$

Now, since  $B/x_1B$  is also regular, we may proceed inductively to complete the proof of Part (1).

- 2. Fix any  $y \in Y$  and let A be the local ring at  $y \in Y$  and R be the local ring of any point  $x \in X$  mapping to y.
  - (a) Since R is strongly F-regular by assumption, we may apply Part (1) of Proposition II.3.9 to conclude that R(mD) is isomorphic to a summand of F<sup>e</sup><sub>\*</sub>R. Since A is regular, we have F<sup>e</sup><sub>\*</sub>A is flat over A and by assumption F<sup>e</sup><sub>\*</sub>R is flat over F<sup>e</sup><sub>\*</sub>A. Thus, we see that F<sup>e</sup><sub>\*</sub>R is flat over A and consequently, R(mD) is flat over A.
  - (b) Fix a regular sequence b<sub>1</sub>,..., b<sub>t</sub> on A generating the maximal ideal (this is possible because A is regular). Because R is flat over A, b<sub>1</sub>,..., b<sub>t</sub> is also a regular sequence on R. Now, it is sufficient to show that R(mD) ⊗<sub>R</sub> R' is reflexive over R' = R/(b<sub>1</sub>,..., b<sub>t</sub>)R. But this is guaranteed by Part (2) of Proposition II.3.9 once we note that by [Mat89, Theorem 23.9], since all fibers of f are normal, R' is itself normal.
  - (c) Using the vanishing theorem for Q-Cartier ample divisors proved in Proposi-

tion II.3.8 instead, we can repeat the argument from the first part using Grauert's Theorem, since  $\mathcal{F}$  is flat over Y by part (a).

(d) This is immediate by combining Part (c) with the last part of Proposition II.3.9.

*Proof of Theorem V.1.3.* We divide the proof into several steps, since some of the steps will be used again in the next subsection.

**Step 1:** By Proposition IV.2.13, we may replace  $\mathcal{L}$  by a multiple of  $\mathcal{L}$  if necessary and assume that  $\mathcal{L}$  is globally generated on  $\mathfrak{X}$ . In that case, the restriction of  $\mathcal{L}$  to each fiber of f is also automatically globally generated.

Step 2: Putting together Lemma V.1.5 and Theorem V.1.4, we get that for each  $y \in Y$ , and each  $e \ge 1$ ,

(V.1.5) 
$$|\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) - \alpha_F(S_{y^{\infty}})| \le \frac{d+1}{p^e}.$$

Here,  $S_{y^{\infty}}$  denotes the section ring of the perfect fiber of f over y with respect to the restriction of  $\mathcal{L}$ , and d denotes the dimension of every fiber of f (which is well-defined because f is flat).

Now, given any  $\alpha < \alpha_{\text{gen}}$ , let  $\varepsilon = \alpha_{\text{gen}} - \alpha$ . Choose an  $e \gg 0$  such that  $\frac{d+1}{p^e} < \varepsilon/2$ . Then, we have

(V.1.6) 
$$\alpha_{\rm gen} - \varepsilon/2 < \alpha_e(S_{K^{\infty}}).$$

We claim that there exists a dense open set  $U_{\alpha} \subset Y$  such that

$$\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) \ge \alpha_e(S_{K^{\infty}})$$

for each  $y \in U_{\alpha}$ . Assuming the claim, Equation (V.1.5), and Equation (V.1.6) together imply that

$$\alpha_F(S_{y^{\infty}}) > \alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) - \varepsilon/2 \ge \alpha_e(S_{K^{\infty}}) - \varepsilon/2 > \alpha_{\text{gen}} - \varepsilon = \alpha$$

for every  $y \in U_{\alpha}$  as required.

Step 3: We now proceed to prove the claim used above, i.e., that there exists a dense open set  $U_{\alpha} \subset Y$  such that  $\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) \geq \alpha_e(S_{K^{\infty}})$  for every  $y \in U_{\alpha}$ . Working locally, we may assume that  $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$  and let  $S_A$  denote the section ring  $S(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L})$ . Set  $m_e = m_e(S_{K^{\infty}})$ . By Lemma V.1.6,  $H^0(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L}^m)$  if a locally free A-module for any  $m \ge 0$ . So by shrinking Y around any point if necessary, we may assume that  $H^0(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L}^m)$  is a free A-module with a basis  $\mathscr{B}_m$  for each  $0 \le m \le m_e$ . By Lemma V.1.6 again,  $\mathscr{B}_m$  restricts to a basis of  $H^0(X_y, \mathcal{L}_y)$ for any  $y \in Y$ . Let  $\mathscr{B} = \bigsqcup_{m=0}^{m_e} \mathscr{B}_m$ . Note that  $m_e \le p^e - 1$  since for any non-zero section  $f \in H^0(X_{K^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}_{K^{\infty}})$ , which exists because  $\mathcal{L}$  is assumed to be globally generated, we have  $0 \ne f^{p^e} \in I_e(p^e)$ .

Step 4: By definition of  $m_e$ , for any  $m \leq m_e$  and any non-zero  $f \in H^0(X_{K^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}_{K^{\infty}}^m)$ , the map  $S_{K^{\infty}} \to F_*^e S_{K^{\infty}}$  sending 1 to  $F_*^e f$  splits. Thus, using Lemma II.1.3 repeatedly on the set  $\mathscr{B}_m$ , we can construct a surjective map  $\psi_m : F_*^e(\mathcal{L}_{K^{\infty}}^m) \to \mathcal{O}_{X_{K^{\infty}}}^{\oplus \mathscr{B}_m}$  such that if  $f \in \mathscr{B}_m$  is a basis element, then  $\psi_m(F_*^e f) = \mathbf{1}_f$ , where  $\mathbf{1}_f$  is the standard basis element corresponding to f of  $\mathcal{O}_{X_{K^{\infty}}}^{\oplus \mathscr{B}_m}$ . Taking induced map on the section modules and putting together the maps  $\psi_m$  for all  $0 \leq m \leq m_e$ , along with the zero map for  $m_e < m \leq p^e - 1$ , we get a surjective  $S_{K^{\infty}}$ -module map

(V.1.7) 
$$\psi_{K^{\infty}}: F^e_* S_{K^{\infty}} \to S^{\oplus \mathscr{B}}_{K^{\infty}}$$

which satisfies the following property: if  $0 \neq f \in H^0(X_{K^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}_{K^{\infty}}^m)$  and  $m \leq m_e$ , then  $\psi(F_*^e f)$ is a basis element of  $S_{K^{\infty}}^{\oplus \mathscr{B}}$ . In other words,  $\psi_{K^{\infty}}$  simultaneously splits all the non-zero sections of degree at most  $m_e$  on  $X_{K^{\infty}}$ . By [CRST21, Lemma 4.8], there is an integer  $d_e > 0$ , a non-zero element  $g \in A$  such that if  $B = A[g^{-1}]$ , we have a map

$$\psi_{B^{1/p^e+d_e}}:S^{1/p^e}_{B^{1/p^e+d_e}}\to S^{\oplus\mathscr{B}}_{B^{1/p^e+d_e}}$$

which satisfies  $\psi_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}} \otimes_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}} K^{\infty} = \psi_{K^{\infty}}$ . Here,  $S_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}}^{1/p^e}$  denotes the  $e^{\text{th}}$ -relative Frobenius over the base change  $S_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}} := S_A \otimes_A B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}$ . Note also that after base-changing to  $K^{\infty}$ , we are identifying the relative and absolute Frobenius over  $K^{\infty}$ . Since every  $f \in \mathscr{B}$  is mapped to a basis element of  $S_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}}^{\oplus \mathscr{B}}$  after tensoring to  $K^{\infty}$ , we may assume that the same is true for  $\psi_{B^{1/p^{e+d_e}}}$  after inverting another element of A if necessary. Finally, for any  $y \in \text{Spec}(B)$ , base changing to  $\kappa(y)^{\infty}$ , we see that

$$\psi_{\kappa(y)^{\infty}} = \left(\psi_{B^{1/p^e+d_e}} \otimes_{B^{1/p^e+d_e}} \kappa(y)^{1/p^{e+d_e}}\right) \otimes_{\kappa(y)^{1/p^e+d_e}} \kappa(y)^{\infty}.$$

simultaneously splits each non-zero element  $0 \neq f \in H^0(X_{y^{\infty}}, \mathcal{L}_{y^{\infty}}^m)$ . Note that we are again identifying the absolute and relative Frobenius over the perfect field  $\kappa(y)^{\infty}$ . This shows that  $\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) \geq \alpha_e(S_{K^{\infty}})$ . This completes the proof of Theorem V.1.3.

# V.2: Semicontinuity for a Family of Q-Fano Varieties

In this subsection, we will prove that the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant is lower semicontinuous in a family of globally *F*-regular Q-Fano varieties:

**Theorem V.2.1.** Let  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y$  be flat family of globally F-regular  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Fano varieties such that  $-K_{\mathfrak{X}|Y}$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier and f-ample. Assume that Y is regular. Then, the map from  $Y \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$  given by

$$y \mapsto \alpha_F(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}})$$

is lower semicontinuous, where  $\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}$  is the perfectified-fiber over  $y \in Y$ .

See Definition IV.2.2 for the definition of the  $\alpha_F$ -invariant of a Q-Fano variety, and Notation V.1.2 for the meaning of a family of globally *F*-regular varieties.

**Remark V.2.2.** For related semicontinuity results for the *F*-signature and the Hilbert-Kunz multiplicity, see [Pol18], [PT18], [Smi16] and [Smi20]. Similarly, for the corresponding lower semicontinuity result for the complex  $\alpha$ -invariant, see [BL22].

Idea of the proof: Roughly, the proof of Theorem V.2.1 involves combining Theorem V.1.3 with the inversion of adjunction for strong *F*-regularity as proved in [PSZ18]. The main technical difficulty arises when *p* divides the index of  $K_{\chi|Y}$ . In this situation, we use a standard perturbation trick similar to [Pat14, Lemma 3.15] and [HX15, Lemma 2.13]. But to do this, we need to be able to restrict Q-Cartier, ample Weil-divisors in a family to the fibers of the family. So we begin by observing that this can indeed be done in our situation.

Setup and Notation: Let A be a regular k-algebra of finite type. Given a flat family  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$  of globally F-regular Fano varieties such that  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(-rK_{\mathfrak{X}|Y})$  is Cartier and ample for some integer r > 0, we can form the section ring

$$S_A := S(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L}).$$

Then, since  $\mathfrak{X}$  is normal and  $\mathcal{L}$  is ample,  $S_A$  is a normal, finitely generated,  $\mathbb{N}$ -graded algebra over A. For any A-algebra B, let  $S_B$  denote the section ring  $S(\mathfrak{X}_B, \mathcal{L}|_{\mathfrak{X}_B})$ , where  $\mathfrak{X}_B$  denotes the base change  $\mathfrak{X} \times_A \operatorname{Spec}(B)$ .

**Lemma V.2.3.** With notation as above, the construction of  $S_A$  satisfies the following properties:

1.  $S_A$  is flat over A and for any prime ideal  $\mathfrak{p} \subset A$  we have that

$$S_A \otimes_A \kappa(\mathfrak{p}) \cong S_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}$$

- 2. For each prime  $\mathfrak{p} \in Spec(A)$ , there is an affine open neighbourhood  $Spec(B) = U \subset Y$ containing  $\mathfrak{p}$  such that the restriction  $K_{\mathfrak{X}}$  to  $Spec(B/\mathfrak{p}B)$  (as explained in Proposition II.3.9) is linearly equivalent to  $K_{\mathfrak{X}_{B/\mathfrak{p}B}}$ . In particular, for any  $\mathfrak{p} \in Spec(A)$ ,  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is Cartier. Moreover,  $\mathfrak{X}$  and  $S_A$  are both  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Gorenstein.
- 3. For each  $\mathfrak{p} \in Spec(A)$ , there is an affine open neighbourhood  $Spec(B) = U \subset Y$  containing  $\mathfrak{p}$  and a regular sequence  $b_1, \ldots, b_t$  on B generating  $\mathfrak{p}$  such that  $S_B$ , and  $S_{B/(b_1,\ldots,b_i)B}$ is strongly F-regular for each  $1 \leq i \leq t$ . In particular,  $\mathfrak{X}$  and  $S_A$  are both globally Fregular.
- 4. For any Weil-divisor  $\mathcal{D}$  on  $\mathfrak{X}$  such that  $r\mathcal{D}$  is Cartier and ample for some r > 0, the section module

$$M_A(\mathcal{D}) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} H^0(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{O}_X(\mathcal{D}) \otimes \mathcal{L}^m)$$

is flat over A, and compatible with base change to fibers. In other words, for any  $\mathfrak{p} \in Spec(A)$ , the natural map

$$M_A(\mathcal{D}) \otimes \kappa(\mathfrak{p}) \to M_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{D})|_{\mathfrak{X}_{\mathfrak{p}}})$$

is an isomorphism. Moreover, if  $Supp(\mathcal{D})$  does not contain any fiber of f then the natural map

$$M_A(\mathcal{D}) \otimes \kappa(\mathfrak{p}) \to M_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}(\mathcal{D}|_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is an isomorphism as well.

*Proof.* Since all parts of the lemma can be proved locally on Y, we may shrink Y if necessary to assume that  $\omega_Y$  is a free A-module.

- 1. This is immediate from Part (1) of Lemma V.1.6.
- 2. By inverting an element  $g \in A \setminus \mathfrak{p}$ , and setting  $B = A[g^{-1}]$ , we may assume that  $\mathfrak{p}$  is generated by a regular sequence  $b_1, \ldots, b_t$  on B (this is possible since  $A_{\mathfrak{p}}$  is regular). Fix any  $1 \leq i \leq t$  and let  $B_i = B/(b_1, \ldots, b_i)B$ . By [Mat89, Theorem 23.9], since all fibers of f are normal, we in particular know that each  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  (and hence,  $S_{B_i}$ ) is normal. By shrinking U further if necessary, using Part (1) of Lemma V.1.6, we may also assume  $S_{B_i} \cong S_B \otimes_B B_i$ .

Now we will show that  $K_{\mathfrak{X}}$  restricted to  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  is linearly equivalent to the divisor  $K_{\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}}$ . Let  $V' \subset \mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  denote the smooth locus of  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$ , and  $V \subset \mathfrak{X}_{sm}$  be an open set such that  $V \cap \mathfrak{X}_{B_i} = V'$ . This is possible because  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  is a complete intersection in  $\mathfrak{X}_B$ . Then, applying the adjunction formula for the complete intersection  $V' \subset V$ , we have  $K_{V'} \sim K_V|_{V'}$ . Since  $V' \subset \mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  is the smooth locus and  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$  is normal, it contains all the codimension one points of  $\mathfrak{X}_{B_i}$ . Thus, taking closures we get that

$$-rK_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{\mathfrak{X}_{B_{i}}} = \overline{-rK_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{V'}} = \overline{-rK_{V}|_{V'}} \sim -rK_{\mathfrak{X}_{B_{i}}}$$

This proves that  $\mathcal{L}$  restricted to  $\chi_{B_i}$  is linearly equivalent to  $-rK_{\chi_{B_i}}$ . In particular  $-rK_{\chi_{B_i}}$  is Cartier. Furthermore, it follows from the discussion in [SS10, Section 5.2]) that the canonical divisor  $K_{S_{B_i}}$  is the cone over the canonical divisor  $K_{\chi_{B_i}}$  (as Weildivisor). Thus, we get that  $\mathcal{O}_{S_{B_i}}(-rK_{S_{B_i}}) \cong \mathcal{O}_{S_{B_i}}(1)$  as a graded module over  $S_{B_i}$ . Also note that for any maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m} \subset A$ , the fiber  $S_{\kappa(\mathfrak{m})}$  is strongly *F*-regular. In particular, all fibers over closed points of Spec(A) are Cohen-Macaulay, we see that  $S_A$ is Cohen-Macaulay as well. Therefore,  $S_A$  (and similarly  $S_{B_i}$ ) is Q-Gorenstein.

3. From part (2), we may assume that  $\mathfrak{p}$  is generated by a regular sequence  $a_1, \ldots, a_t$  on A and  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}_{A_i}}$  is Cartier for each  $1 \leq i \leq t$ , where  $A_i = A/(a_1, \ldots, a_i)A$ . Next, note that by assumption (and Part (1)), we have  $S_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}$  is strongly F-regular. So, there exists a non-zero element  $g \in A \setminus \mathfrak{p}$  such that  $S_{B_t}$  is strongly F-regular where  $B_t = A_t[g^{-1}]$ . Here, we are using the fact that the non-strongly F-regular locus of  $S_{B_t}$  is closed, compatible with localization and homogeneous with respect to the N-grading on  $S_{B_t}$ . Let  $B_{t-1} = A_{t-1}[g^{-1}]$ . Then, since  $-K_{S_{B_{t-1}}}$  is Q-Cartier and  $a_t$  is a non-zero divisor on  $B_{t-1}$ , by [Das15, Theorem A], we conclude that  $S_{B_{t-1}}$  is not strongly F-regular is defined by a homogeneous ideal (and is disjoint from  $\mathbb{V}(a_t)$ ), we may pick a non-zero element  $h \in A[g^{-1}] \setminus (a_1, \ldots, a_t)$  such that if we set  $B'_{t-1} = B_{t-1}[h^{-1}]$ ,  $S_{B'_{t-1}}$  is strongly F-regular. Replacing  $\mathfrak{p}$  with  $(a_1, \ldots, a_{t-1})$ , we may proceed inductively to get a localization B of A (at finitely many elements), and an open neighbourhood  $U = \operatorname{Spec}(B) \subset \operatorname{Spec}(A)$  of  $\mathfrak{p}$  such that  $S_B$  and  $S_{B/(a_1,\ldots,a_i)B}$  is strongly F-regular for each  $1 \leq i \leq t$ , as required.

Applying this to maximal ideals in A, we see that  $S_A$  is strongly F-regular. Hence,  $\mathfrak{X}$  is globally F-regular.

4. Using Part (3) above,  $\mathfrak{X}$  is in particular, locally strongly *F*-regular. Now the claim is an immediate consequence of Part (2) of Lemma V.1.6.

**Lemma V.2.4.** Let  $f : \mathfrak{X} \to Y = Spec(A)$  be as above and assume A is regular. Suppose  $\mathfrak{D}$  is a  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor on  $\mathfrak{X}$  satisfying the following two properties:

- 1. there is some e > 0 for which  $(p^e 1)\mathcal{D}$  is an integral Weil divisor linearly equivalent to  $(1 - p^e)K_{X|Y}$  as Weil divisors, and
- 2.  $Supp(\mathcal{D})$  does not contain any fiber of f.

Then, if  $y_0 \in Y$  is a point such that the pair  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y_0^{\infty}}, \lambda \mathcal{D}_{y_0^{\infty}})$  is globally *F*-regular for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Q}_{\geq 0}$ , then there is an open neighbourhood  $U \subset Y$  of  $y_0$  such that  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, \lambda \mathcal{D}_{y^{\infty}})$  is also globally *F*-regular for all  $y \in U$ .

*Proof.* The proof is divided into several steps, but the strategy is to apply [PSZ18, Corollary 4.19] carefully. See Section IV.1.2 for a detailed discussion of the process of taking cones over divisors in family.

Step 1: By shrinking Y to a neighbourhood of  $y_0$  if necessary, we may also assume that  $\omega_Y$  is isomorphic to A. Fix an r > 0 such that  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}}$  is an ample Cartier divisor, and set  $\mathcal{L} := -rK_{\mathfrak{X}}$  and  $S_A = S(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{L})$  be the corresponding section ring and  $\operatorname{Spec}(S_A)$  is the cone over  $\mathfrak{X}$ . By Lemma V.1.6, taking the cone over  $\mathfrak{X}$  commutes with base change to fibers of f. For any integral Weil divisor  $\mathcal{E}$ , let  $M_A(\mathcal{E}) = \bigoplus_{m \ge 0} H^0(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{O}_X(\mathcal{E}) \otimes \mathcal{L}^m)$  denote the corresponding section module over  $S_A$ .

Step 2: For any *e* sufficiently divisible, let  $\mathcal{D}_e = (p^e - 1)\mathcal{D}$ , which we may assume is an integral Weil-divisor. Since  $-K_{\mathfrak{X}}$  is Q-Cartier, so is  $\mathcal{D}_e$ . Therefore, by Part (4) of Lemma V.2.3, the section module  $M_A(\mathcal{D}_e)$  is compatible with base change to fibers. Thus, we may consider the cone over  $\mathcal{D}_e$  as a Weil-divisor on  $\operatorname{Spec}(S_A)$  defined by the reflexive sheaf  $M_A(\mathcal{D}_e)$ . The compatibility with base changing to fibers guarantees that taking the cone over  $\mathcal{D}_e$  commutes with restricting  $\mathcal{D}_e$  to the fibers of f.

**Step 3:** Since the pair  $(\mathfrak{X}_{\kappa(y_0)^{\infty}}, \mu \mathcal{D}_{\kappa(y_0)^{\infty}})$  is globally *F*-regular for  $\mu = \lambda$ , it remains so for all  $\mu < \lambda + \varepsilon$  for some small  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Now we set  $\mu := \frac{\ell_1}{\ell_2}$  to be a rational number such that  $\lambda \leq \mu < \lambda + \varepsilon$  for positive integers  $\ell_1$  and  $\ell_2$  with the following properties:

1.  $\ell_2 - \ell_1$  is divisible by r (the Cartier index of  $K_{\mathfrak{X}}$ ).

#### 2. $\ell_2$ is not divisible by p.

Furthermore, choose  $e_0 > 0$  such that  $\ell_2$  divides  $p^{e_0} - 1$  and  $(p^{e_0} - 1)\mathcal{D}$  and  $-(p^{e_0} - 1)K_{\mathfrak{X}}$  are both integral Weil-divisors. Such an  $e_0$  exists by our assumptions on  $\mathcal{D}$ . Lastly, set  $\Delta = \mu \mathcal{D}$ . With this notation, we note that the following properties are satisfied:

- $\Delta = \frac{\ell_1}{(p^{e_0}-1)\ell_2} (p^{e_0}-1)\mathcal{D}$ , where  $(p^{e_0}-1)\mathcal{D}$  is a Weil-divisor and p does not divide  $(p^{e_0}-1)\ell_2$ .
- $(p^{e_0}-1)^2 (K_{\mathfrak{X}}+\Delta)$  is linearly equivalent to

(V.2.1) 
$$(p^{e_0} - 1)^2 (K_{\chi} + \Delta) \sim (p^{e_0} - 1)^2 (1 - \frac{\ell_1}{\ell_2}) K_{\chi} = \frac{(p^{e_0} - 1)^2 (\ell_2 - \ell_1)}{\ell_2} K_{\chi}.$$

And since r divides  $\ell_2 - \ell_1$ , we get that  $(p^{e_0} - 1)^2 (K_{\mathfrak{X}} + \Delta)$  is an integral Cartier divisor. Also note that  $(p^{e_0} - 1)^2$  clearly divides  $(p^{e_0} - 1)\ell_2$  and is not divisible by p.

 The fibers of f are geometrically normal since the perfect fibers are globally F-regular. They are also geometrically connected by assumption. Thus, our assumption that Supp(D) does not contain any fibers of f guarantees that Supp(D) does not contain any generic point of any geometric fiber of f.

Step 4: In this context, we may use [PSZ18, Corollary 4.19] applied to the projective cone of f with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  to conclude the proof (see Section IV.1.1 for details about the projective cone construction). More precisely, consider the map

$$\overline{f}:\overline{\mathfrak{X}}:=\operatorname{Proj}(S_A[z])\to\operatorname{Spec}(A)$$

where z is just another variable adjoined to  $S_A$  in degree 1. Note that  $-rK_{\overline{\chi}}$  is Cartier on  $\overline{\chi}$  (since this is true at the zero-section by construction, and away from the zero section we know that  $\overline{\chi}$  is an  $\mathbb{A}^1$ -bundle over  $\chi$ .

The construction of the projective cone with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  is compatible with base change to fibers. In other words, for any  $y \in Y$ , the fiber  $\overline{f}_y : \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_y \to \operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(y))$  is the map

$$\overline{f}_y: \overline{\mathfrak{X}}_y = \operatorname{Proj}(S_{\kappa(y)}[z]) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(y)).$$

Let  $\overline{\Delta}$  denote the Q-divisor obtained as the closure in  $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$  of the cone over  $\Delta$ . For any r > 0 such that  $r\Delta$  is integral, the section module corresponding to  $r\overline{\Delta}$  is  $M_A(r\Delta)[z]$  by construction. Thus, by Step 2,the construction of the projective cone over  $\Delta$  is compatible

with restricting to fibers. Thus, by Equation (V.2.1) and the fact that away from the zerosection,  $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$  is an  $\mathbb{A}^1$ -bundle over  $\mathfrak{X}$ , we have that  $K_{\overline{\mathfrak{X}}} + \overline{\Delta}$  is  $\mathbb{Q}$ -Cartier with index not divisible by p.

Step 5: Finally, we observe that for any  $y \in Y$ , the local strong F-regularity of the cone

$$(\overline{\mathfrak{X}}_{\kappa(y)^{\infty}}, \overline{\Delta}_{\kappa(y)^{\infty}})$$

is equivalent to the global *F*-regularity of  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, \Delta_{y^{\infty}})$ , since both correspond to the strong *F*-regularity of the pair  $(S_A, \Delta)$ . With these observations in place, [PSZ18, Corollary 4.19] gives us an open neighbourhood  $U \subset Y$  of  $y_0$  such that  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, \Delta_{y^{\infty}})$  is globally *F*-regular for all  $y \in U$ . Since,  $\Delta = \mu \mathcal{D}$  and  $\lambda \leq \mu$ , the same is true for  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, \lambda \mathcal{D}_{y^{\infty}})$  as required.  $\Box$ 

Proof of Theorem V.2.1. Recall that to prove that the given map is lower semicontinuous, we need to show that given any point  $y_0 \in Y$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $\alpha_F(\mathfrak{X}_{y_0^{\infty}}) > \alpha$ , there exists an open neighbourhood  $U(y_0, \alpha) \subset Y$  such that  $\alpha_F(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}) > \alpha$  for all  $y \in U(y_0, \alpha)$ . The idea of the proof is similar to the proof of Theorem V.1.3, but we need a slight variation since we need an open neighbourhood of  $y_0$  instead of just any open subset of Y.

Firstly, by shrinking Y to a neighbourhood of  $y_0$ , we assume Y = Spec(A) is affine and  $\omega_Y$  is a free A-module. Next, using Proposition IV.2.13, it is sufficient to prove the lower semicontinuity of the function

$$y \mapsto \alpha_F(S(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, -rK_{\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}}))$$

for any  $r \gg 0$ . So we pick an  $r \gg 0$  such that  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}}$  is a globally generated ample divisor on  $\mathfrak{X}$ . In particular,  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}}$  is Cartier. Therefore, Part (2) of Lemma V.2.3, we have that  $-rK_{\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}}$  is a globally generated ample Cartier divisor on  $\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}$  for any  $y \in Y$ . Additionally, fix an integer t > 0 such that  $H^0(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(-mK_{\mathfrak{X}})) \neq 0$  for all  $m \geq t$ .

Let d be the relative dimension of f, let  $\alpha_0$  denote  $\alpha_F(S_{y_0^{\infty}})$ , and  $\varepsilon := \alpha_0 - \alpha$ . Recall that for any A-algebra B,  $S_B$  denotes the section ring  $S(\mathfrak{X}_B, \mathcal{L}|_{\mathfrak{X}_B})$ , where  $\mathfrak{X}_B$  denotes the base change  $\mathfrak{X} \times_A \operatorname{Spec}(B)$  and  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_X(-rK_{\mathfrak{X}})$ . By the argument in Step 2 of the proof of Theorem V.1.3 (replacing the generic point with  $y_0$ ), it is sufficient to show that there exists an  $e \gg 0$  such that  $\frac{d+1}{p^e} < \varepsilon/2$  and an open neighbourhood  $U(y_0, \alpha)$  of  $y_0$  such that

$$\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) \ge \alpha_0 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$

for all  $y \in U(y_0, \alpha)$ . To prove this, choose an  $e \gg 0$  such that  $\frac{d+1}{p^e} < \varepsilon/2$ , and

(V.2.2) 
$$\alpha_0 \left( p^e - 1 \right) > p^e \left( \alpha_0 - \varepsilon/2 \right) + t.$$

Let *n* be an integer such that  $r(p^e(\alpha_0 - \varepsilon/2) + t) < n < r \alpha_0 (p^e - 1)$  be an integer that is not divisible by *p*. By Part 2c of Lemma V.1.6, we may assume (by shrinking *Y* if necessary) that  $H^0(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{X}}(-mK_{\mathfrak{X}}))$  is a free *A*-module for each  $0 \leq m \leq n$  with a basis  $\mathscr{B}_m$ . Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be any element of  $\mathscr{B}_n$  and  $\frac{n}{p^e-1} < \lambda < r \alpha_0$  be any rational number. Since  $\mathcal{D}$  is a basis element using Part 2c of Lemma V.1.6 again, we see that  $\mathcal{D}$  does not contain any fibers of *f*, since  $\mathcal{D}$  restricts to a non-zero global section on each fiber. Then, we apply Lemma V.2.4, to the  $\mathbb{Q}$ -divisor  $\frac{1}{n}\mathcal{D}$  to get an open neighbourhood  $U = U(y_0, \alpha)$  such that for each  $y \in U$ , the pair  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}, \frac{\lambda}{n}\mathcal{D}|_{\mathfrak{X}_{y^{\infty}}})$  is globally *F*-regular. This is because since  $\lambda < r\alpha_0$ , the pair  $(\mathfrak{X}_{y_0^{\infty}}, \frac{\lambda}{n}\mathcal{D}|_{y_0^{\infty}})$ is globally *F*-regular by the definition of  $\alpha_0$ . Since  $\frac{\lambda}{n} > \frac{1}{p^e-1}$  by construction, Lemma IV.2.6 tells us that for each  $y \in Y$ , and each  $\mathcal{D}$  in  $\mathscr{B}_n$ , the map

(V.2.3) 
$$S_{y^{\infty}} \to F^e_*(S_{y^{\infty}}(\mathcal{D}_{y^{\infty}}))$$

splits. Furthermore, we may pick an integer  $m \leq n$  satisfying: r divides  $m, n - m \geq t$ , and  $m > rp^e (\alpha_0 - \varepsilon/2)$ . This is possible by our choice of n. Since  $n - m \geq t$ , we can pick a non-zero  $\mathcal{E} \in \mathscr{B}_{n-m}$  that restricts to a non-zero Weil-divisor on each fiber (by base-change). Thus, for any element  $\mathcal{D}$  in  $\mathscr{B}_m$ , since the corresponding map for  $(\mathcal{D} + \mathcal{E})_{y^{\infty}}$  splits for each  $y \in U$  by Equation (V.2.3), the corresponding map for  $\mathcal{D}_{y^{\infty}}$  also splits for each  $y \in U$ . Finally, we apply Lemma II.1.3 repeatedly to the basis  $\mathscr{B}_m$  to conclude that  $I_e(m) = 0$  for  $S_{y^{\infty}}$  for each  $y \in U$  and thus

$$\alpha_e(S_{y^{\infty}}) \ge \frac{m}{rp^e} > \alpha_0 - \varepsilon/2$$

for all  $y \in U$  as required. This completes the proof of Theorem V.2.1.

# BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Ach12] Piotr Achinger. Frobenius push-forwards on quadrics. Comm. Algebra, 40(8):2732–2748, 2012.
- [AL03] Ian M. Aberbach and Graham J. Leuschke. The *F*-signature and strong *F*-regularity. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 10(1):51–56, 2003.
- [Bir21] Caucher Birkar. Singularities of linear systems and boundedness of Fano varieties. Ann. of Math. (2), 193(2):347–405, 2021.
- [BJ20] Harold Blum and Mattias Jonsson. Thresholds, valuations, and K-stability. *Adv. Math.*, 365:107062, 57, 2020.
- [BL22] Harold Blum and Yuchen Liu. Openness of uniform K-stability in families of Q-Fano varieties. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 55(1):1–41, 2022.
- [Bli04] Manuel Blickle. Multiplier ideals and modules on toric varieties. *Math. Z.*, 248(1):113–121, 2004.
- [Bou02] Sébastien Boucksom. On the volume of a line bundle. Internat. J. Math., 13(10):1043–1063, 2002.
- [Bra21] Lukas Braun. The local fundamental group of a Kawamata log terminal singularity is finite. *Invent. Math.*, 226(3):845–896, 2021.
- [BST11] Manuel Blickle, Karl Schwede, and Kevin Tucker. *F*-signature of pairs and the asymptotic behavior of Frobenius splittings. 2011. arXiv:1107.1082.
- [Che08] Ivan Cheltsov. Log canonical thresholds of del Pezzo surfaces. *Geom. Funct.* Anal., 18(4):1118–1144, 2008.
- [CR17] Javier Carvajal-Rojas. Finite torsors over strongly F-regular singularities. 2017. arXiv:1710.06887.

- [CRST18] Javier Carvajal-Rojas, Karl Schwede, and Kevin Tucker. Fundamental groups of F-regular singularities via F-signature. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 51(4):993–1016, 2018.
- [CRST21] Javier Carvajal-Rojas, Karl Schwede, and Kevin Tucker. Bertini theorems for F-signature and Hilbert-Kunz multiplicity. Math. Z., 299(1-2):1131–1153, 2021.
- [CtS08] I. A. Chel tsov and K. A. Shramov. Log-canonical thresholds for nonsingular Fano threefolds. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk, 63(5(383)):73–180, 2008. With an appendix by J.-P. Demailly.
- [Das15] Omprokash Das. On strongly *F*-regular inversion of adjunction. *J. Algebra*, 434:207–226, 2015.
- [DSPY22] Alessandro De Stefani, Thomas Polstra, and Yongwei Yao. Global F-splitting ratio of modules. J. Algebra, 610:773–792, 2022.
- [Eis95] David Eisenbud. Commutative algebra, volume 150 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. With a view toward algebraic geometry.
- [ELM<sup>+</sup>05] L. Ein, R. Lazarsfeld, M. Mustață, M. Nakamaye, and M. Popa. Asymptotic invariants of line bundles. *Pure Appl. Math. Q.*, 1(2, Special Issue: In memory of Armand Borel. Part 1):379–403, 2005.
- [Fol99] Gerald B. Folland. Real analysis. Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York). John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, second edition, 1999. Modern techniques and their applications, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [GKP16] Daniel Greb, Stefan Kebekus, and Thomas Peternell. Étale fundamental groups of Kawamata log terminal spaces, flat sheaves, and quotients of abelian varieties. *Duke Math. J.*, 165(10):1965–2004, 2016.
- [GLP+15] Yoshinori Gongyo, Zhiyuan Li, Zsolt Patakfalvi, Karl Schwede, Hiromu Tanaka, and Runhong Zong. On rational connectedness of globally *F*-regular threefolds. *Adv. Math.*, 280:47–78, 2015.
- [GOST15] Yoshinori Gongyo, Shinnosuke Okawa, Akiyoshi Sannai, and Shunsuke Takagi. Characterization of varieties of fano type via singularities of cox rings. J. Algebraic Geom., 24(1):159–182, 2015.
- [GT19] Yoshinori Gongyo and Shunsuke Takagi. Kollár's injectivity theorem for globally F-regular varieties. Eur. J. Math., 5(3):872–880, 2019.

- [Har77] Robin Hartshorne. *Algebraic geometry*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52.
- [Har98] Nobuo Hara. A characterization of rational singularities in terms of injectivity of Frobenius maps. *Amer. J. Math.*, 120(5):981–996, 1998.
- [Her12] Daniel J. Hernández. *F*-purity of hypersurfaces. *Math. Res. Lett.*, 19(2):389–401, 2012.
- [HH89] Melvin Hochster and Craig Huneke. Tight closure and strong F-regularity. Mém. Soc. Math. France (N.S.), (38):119–133, 1989. Colloque en l'honneur de Pierre Samuel (Orsay, 1987).
- [HH90] Melvin Hochster and Craig Huneke. Tight closure, invariant theory, and the Briançon-Skoda theorem. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 3(1):31–116, 1990.
- [Hir64] Heisuke Hironaka. Resolution of singularities of an algebraic variety over a field of characteristic zero. I, II. Ann. of Math. (2) 79 (1964), 109–203; ibid. (2), 79:205–326, 1964.
- [HL02] Craig Huneke and Graham J. Leuschke. Two theorems about maximal Cohen-Macaulay modules. *Math. Ann.*, 324(2):391–404, 2002.
- [HM06] Christopher D. Hacon and James McKernan. Boundedness of pluricanonical maps of varieties of general type. *Invent. Math.*, 166(1):1–25, 2006.
- [HS04] Eero Hyry and Karen E. Smith. Core versus graded core, and global sections of line bundles. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 356(8):3143–3166 (electronic), 2004.
- [HS06] Craig Huneke and Irena Swanson. Integral closure of ideals, rings, and modules, volume 336 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006.
- [HS17] Daisuke Hirose and Tadakazu Sawada. Korff F-signatures of Hirzebruch surfaces. https://arxiv.org/abs/1701.01905, 2017.
- [HW02] Nobuo Hara and Kei-Ichi Watanabe. F-regular and F-pure rings vs. log terminal and log canonical singularities. J. Algebraic Geom., 11(2):363–392, 2002.
- [HX15] Christopher D. Hacon and Chenyang Xu. On the three dimensional minimal model program in positive characteristic. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 28(3):711–744, 2015.

- [HY03] Nobuo Hara and Ken-Ichi Yoshida. A generalization of tight closure and multiplier ideals. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 355(8):3143–3174 (electronic), 2003.
- [KÖ6] Alex Küronya. Asymptotic cohomological functions on projective varieties. Amer. J. Math., 128(6):1475–1519, 2006.
- [Kaw21] Tatsuro Kawakami. Bogomolov-Sommese type vanishing for globally *F*-regular threefolds. *Math. Z.*, 299(3-4):1821–1835, 2021.
- [Kle66] Steven L. Kleiman. Toward a numerical theory of ampleness. Ann. of Math. (2), 84:293–344, 1966.
- [Kol13] János Kollár. Singularities of the minimal model program, volume 200 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013.
  With the collaboration of Sándor Kovács.
- [Kun69] Ernst Kunz. Characterizations of regular local rings for characteristic p. Amer. J. Math., 91:772–784, 1969.
- [Lan08] Adrian Langer. D-affinity and Frobenius morphism on quadrics. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (1):Art. ID rnm 145, 26, 2008.
- [Laz04] Robert Lazarsfeld. Positivity in algebraic geometry. I, volume 48 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004. Classical setting: line bundles and linear series.
- [LLX20] Chi Li, Yuchen Liu, and Chenyang Xu. A guided tour to normalized volume. In Geometric analysis—in honor of Gang Tian's 60th birthday, volume 333 of Progr. Math., pages 167–219. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, [2020] ©2020.
- [LM09] Robert Lazarsfeld and Mircea Mustață. Convex bodies associated to linear series. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 42(5):783–835, 2009.
- [LP23] Seungsu Lee and Swaraj Pande. The F-Signature Function on the Ample Cone. International Mathematics Research Notices, page rnad174, 07 2023.
- [LZ22] Yuchen Liu and Ziquan Zhuang. On the sharpness of Tian's criterion for Kstability. *Nagoya Math. J.*, 245:41–73, 2022.

- [Mar22] I. Martin. The number of torsion divisors in a strongly *F*-regular ring is bounded by the reciprocal of *F*-signature. *Comm. Algebra*, 50(4):1595–1605, 2022.
- [Mat89] Hideyuki Matsumura. Commutative ring theory, volume 8 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1989. Translated from the Japanese by M. Reid.
- [MPST19] Linquan Ma, Thomas Polstra, Karl Schwede, and Kevin Tucker. *F*-signature under birational morphisms. *Forum Math. Sigma*, 7:Paper No. e11, 20, 2019.
- [MS97] V. B. Mehta and V. Srinivas. A characterization of rational singularities. Asian J. Math., 1(2):249–271, 1997.
- [OS12] Yuji Odaka and Yuji Sano. Alpha invariant and K-stability of Q-Fano varieties. Adv. Math., 229(5):2818–2834, 2012.
- [Pat14] Zsolt Patakfalvi. Semi-positivity in positive characteristics. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 47(5):991–1025, 2014.
- [Pol18] Thomas Polstra. Uniform bounds in F-finite rings and lower semi-continuity of the F-signature. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 370(5):3147–3169, 2018.
- [Pol22] Thomas Polstra. A theorem about maximal Cohen-Macaulay modules. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (3):2086–2094, 2022.
- [PS12] Zsolt Patakfalvi and Karl Schwede. Depth of *F*-singularities and base change of relative canonical sheaves. 2012. arXiv:1207.1910.
- [PSZ18] Zsolt Patakfalvi, Karl Schwede, and Wenliang Zhang. *F*-singularities in families. *Algebr. Geom.*, 5(3):264–327, 2018.
- [PT18] Thomas Polstra and Kevin Tucker. *F*-signature and Hilbert-Kunz multiplicity: a combined approach and comparison. *Algebra Number Theory*, 12(1):61–97, 2018.
- [Sat18] Kenta Sato. Stability of test ideals of divisors with small multiplicity. *Math. Z.*, 288(3-4):783–802, 2018.
- [Sch08] Karl Schwede. Generalized test ideals, sharp F-purity, and sharp test elements. Math. Res. Lett., 15(6):1251–1261, 2008.
- [Shi] Samuel Joseph Shideler. The f-signature of diagonal hypersurfaces. Available at http://arks.princeton.edu/ark:/88435/dsp01ns0646128.
- [Smi97a] Karen E. Smith. *F*-rational rings have rational singularities. *Amer. J. Math.*, 119(1):159–180, 1997.
- [Smi97b] Karen E. Smith. Vanishing, singularities and effective bounds via prime characteristic local algebra. In Algebraic geometry—Santa Cruz 1995, volume 62 of Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., pages 289–325. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [Smi00] Karen E. Smith. Globally F-regular varieties: applications to vanishing theorems for quotients of Fano varieties. *Michigan Math. J.*, 48:553–572, 2000. Dedicated to William Fulton on the occasion of his 60th birthday.
- [Smi16] Ilya Smirnov. Upper semi-continuity of the Hilbert-Kunz multiplicity. *Compos. Math.*, 152(3):477–488, 2016.
- [Smi20] Ilya Smirnov. On semicontinuity of multiplicities in families. *Doc. Math.*, 25:381–400, 2020.
- [SS10] Karl Schwede and Karen E. Smith. Globally *F*-regular and log Fano varieties. *Adv. Math.*, 224(3):863–894, 2010.
- [Sta] The Stacks Project Authors. *Stacks Project*. http://stacks.math.columbia.edu.
- [SVdB97] Karen E. Smith and Michel Van den Bergh. Simplicity of rings of differential operators in prime characteristic. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 75(1):32–62, 1997.
- [Tak06a] Shunsuke Takagi. Formulas for multiplier ideals on singular varieties. *Amer. J. Math.*, 128(6):1345–1362, 2006.
- [Tak06b] Shigeharu Takayama. Pluricanonical systems on algebraic varieties of general type. *Invent. Math.*, 165(3):551–587, 2006.
- [Tay19] Gregory Taylor. Inversion of adjunction for f-signature, 2019.
- [Tia87] Gang Tian. On Kähler-Einstein metrics on certain Kähler manifolds with  $C_1(M) > 0$ . Invent. Math., 89(2):225–246, 1987.
- [Tot19] Burt Totaro. The failure of Kodaira vanishing for Fano varieties, and terminal singularities that are not Cohen-Macaulay. J. Algebraic Geom., 28(4):751–771, 2019.

- [Tri23] Vijaylaxmi Trivedi. The hilbert-kunz density functions of quadric hypersurfaces, 2023.
- [Tuc12] Kevin Tucker. F-signature exists. Invent. Math., 190(3):743–765, 2012.
- [VK12] Michael R. Von Korff. The F-Signature of Toric Varieties. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2012. Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of Michigan.
- [Xu14] Chenyang Xu. Finiteness of algebraic fundamental groups. *Compos. Math.*, 150(3):409–414, 2014.
- [Xu21] Chenyang Xu. K-stability of Fano varieties: an algebro-geometric approach. EMS Surv. Math. Sci., 8(1-2):265–354, 2021.
- [XZ21] Chenyang Xu and Ziquan Zhuang. Uniqueness of the minimizer of the normalized volume function. *Camb. J. Math.*, 9(1):149–176, 2021.
- [Yao06] Yongwei Yao. Observations on the F-signature of local rings of characteristic p. J. Algebra, 299(1):198–218, 2006.
- [Zhu23] Ziquan Zhuang. Stability of klt singularities, 2023.